DOCUMENT RESUME

'ED 113 608 '	95 CE 005 362
A	Health Occupations Education. A National Invitational Conference. Determining the Future Directions for the Development of Efficient and Effective Teacher Education Programs.
INSTITUTION	California Univ., Los. Angeles. Div. of Vocational
SPONS AGENCY REPORT NO PUB DATE NOTE	Education. Office of Education (DHEW), Washington, D.C. VT-102-200 74 103p.
EDRS PRICE DESCRIPTORS	MF-\$0.76 HC-\$5.70 Plus Postage *Conference Reports; Curriculum Development; *Health Occupations Education; Inservice Teacher Education; Instructional Programs; Preservice Education; Program Development; Speeches; Teacher Education
IDENTIFIERS	Oklahoma (Oklahoma City)

ABSTRACT

The National Conference on Health Occupations Education was organized in response to a nationwide demand for dissemination of project findings and instructional materials in the field of health education. Emphasis throughout the research project and the conference was on the total instructional process. Approximately 100 participants contributed their knowledge and expertise on teacher education, examined current practices in preservice and inservice teacher training, and recommended new approaches for health occupations education teacher education programs throughout the country. Recommendations generated by the conference participants provide a basis on which guidelines for criteria relating to health occupations teacher education may be developed. (Author/VA)

-

#### U S DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH EOUCATION & WELFARE NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EOUCATION

 $\infty$ 

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REPRO-DUCED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED FROM THE PERSON OR ORGANIZATION ORIGIN-ATING IT POINTS OF VIEW OR OPINIONS STATED FOO NOT NECESSARILY REPRE-SENT OFFICIAL NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION POSITION OR POLICY

# ecupotions

health

NATIONAL INVITATIONAL CONFERENCE: Determining the Future Directions for the Development of Efficient and Effective Teacher Education Programs

(VT-102-200)

HOLIDAÝ INN WEST OKLAHOMA CITY, OKLAHOMA FEBRUARY 25 – MARCH 1, 1974

Presented by UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA DIVISION OF VOCATIONAL EDUCATION ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS PROJECT

In cooperation with U.S. OFFICE OF EDUCATION CALIFORNIA STATE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OKLAHOMA STATE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OKLAHOMA REGENTS FOR HIGHER EDUCATION OKLAHOMA STATE DEPARTMENT OF VOCATIONAL

AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION AMERICAN VOCATIONAL ASSOCIATION AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF COMMUNITY & JUNIOR COLLEGES LEAGUE FOR INNOVATION IN COMMUNITY COLLEGES

# 

# introduction

ERIC

#### INTRODUCTION

The National Conference on Health Occupations Education, conducted by the Allied Health Professions Project, Division of Vocational Education, University of California, Los Angeles, was organized in response to a nationwide demand for dissemination of project findings and instructional materials in the field of health education. This working conference was held at Oklahoma City during the week of February 25 — March 5, 1974. The information acquired by participants fulfilled the demand for an assessment of teacher education in the health occupations today, and the findings of the conference will be helpful in determining future directions for State Departments of Education and universities in developing and implementing appropriate, effective teacher training in this field.

Emphasis throughout the research project and the conference was on the total instructional process. Approximately 100 participants contributed their knowledge and expertise on teacher education, examined current practices in preservice and inservice teacher training, and recommended new approaches for Health Occupations Education teacher education programs throughout the country.

This report, therefore, represents the considered judgment of many people. Recommendations generated by the conference provide a basis upon which guidelines for criteria relating to Health Occupations Education teacher education may be developed. Dissemination of the knowledge produced by the Allied Health Professions Project will be further expanded with the distribution of this final conference report.

m. S. Sarlow ...

Melvin L. Barlow Conference Director University of California, Los Angeles





· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • •	• •	•	• • • • •	- 1 - 1
	co، <sup>کر</sup>	NFERENCE	ŚŢĄĘ	•	
Thanks and app	Ellen M. Abbot David Allen Miles H. Ander Melvin L. Barlo Donad G. Brek Lowell A. Burke Clarence Fielstry Thomas L. Free Nancy J. Goff	son w kke ett a land	Elizabeth E. K Mary Elizabet Charles L. Phi Helen K. Pow Chester S. Rz Robert M. Tô Francis B. Tut Diane E. Wat Lucile A. Wo	h Milliken Ilips onca mlinson tle son od	le la boma de la compañía de la comp
* Technical Inst	itute, and Bob G	ilkeson, audio	a-vidual direct	or, for supplyin	ng the
· · · · · ·	,	• .			•
<u>ب</u> الح	✓ . PUBLISH	ERS' REPRE	SENTATIVES	· · ·	· · ›
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	J. B.		ompany y, }r ompany ràrd on, Incorporat	ed	
		<b>Editors</b> Nancy J. Go Lorraine: Ph Charles L. Phi	illips•	, , 	
· · · · ·	j.	Art Directo Carolyn Leck Deech Transc Connie J. Free	ner riber		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
•		ý	•		• • •

<u>،</u>

٠,

ή

<u>t</u>

<u>آم</u>

# conference agenda

8

#### FEBRUARY 25, 1974 MONDAY

5:00 p.m. REGISTRATION

#### 7:00 p.m CONFERENCE OPINING

INTRODUCTION OF OFFICIALS AND HONORED GUESTS Melvin L Barlow

GOVERNOR'S WELCOMING ADDRESS

Honorable David Halls Introduced by Francis B Tuttle, State Director, Oklahoma State Department of Vocational Technical Education

Adjournment

#### FEBRUARY 26, 1974 TUESDAY

8:30 a.m. CONFERENCE SCHEDULE AND INSTRUCTIONS Melvin L Barlow

9.30 à.m.

# PROBLEM AREAS IN THE ALLIED HEALTH FIELD AND WHAT NEEDS TO BE DONE TO PROMOTE SUCCESS

Lowell A. Burkett, Executive Director ' American Vocational Association (Keynote Speaker)

11:00 a.m. Audience/Speaker Interaction

-12:00 noon .Lunch (no-host)

1:30 p.m. THE UCLA ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS PROJECT: PURPOSES, METHODS, RESULTS Thomas L. Freeland

• //

# 3:30 p.m. THE CLINICAL INSTRUCTOR TRAINING / PROGRAM

4:00 p.m. Audience/Speaker Interaction

Adjournment

### FEBRUARY 27, 1974 WEDNESDAY

# 900 a.m. CAREER MODEL DEVELOPMENT

11.00 a.m. A MODEL CURRICULUM: THE NURSING PROGRAM

11:30 a.m. Audience/Speaker Interaction

12:00 noon Lunch (no-host)

- 1:30 p.m. THE COOPERATIVE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE SOUTH DAKOTA STATEWIDE CORE CURRICULUM PROJECT AND THE UCLA ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS PROJECT
- 2:00 p.m. RESULTS AND BENEFITS OF THE TWO UCLA-
  - SQUTH, DAKOTA CORE CURRICULUM WORKSHOPS Donald -G. Brekke Thomas L. Freeland
- 4:00 p.m. Audience/Speaker Interaction

Lucile A. Wood

Adjournment

#### FEBRUARY 28, 1974 THURSDAY

- 8:30 a.m. HEALTH OCCUPATIONS TEACHER EDUCATION: /INTRODUCTION OF DISCUSSION TOPICS Melvin L. Barlow; Group Moderator
- 10:00 a.m. GROUP DISCUSSIONS PHASE I
  - Group 1 Teacher Selection Criteria Mary Elizabeth Milliken

Group 2 --- Content for the Health Occupations Education Basic Teaching Degree Robert M. Tomlinson

FEBRUARY 28, 19 THURSDAY (continued)	174	;
(continued)	Group 3 — Preparation for Leadership Roles in Health Occupations Education Elizabeth E. Kerr	-
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Group 4 — Certification Standards for Personnel in Health Occupations Education Chester S. Rzonca	•
12:00 noon	SPECIAL LUNCHEON IN HONOR OF, HELEN K. POWERS	
	MY HOPES AND FEARS FOR HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION Helen K. Powers, Consultant, Health Occupations Education U.S. Office of Education (Retired)	
2:30 p.m.	GROUP DISCUSSIONS - PHASE II	
Jo.	Group 1 Teacher Selection Criteria Mary Elizabeth Milliken	
• • •	Group 2 — Content for the Health Occupations Education Basic Teaching Degree , Robert M. Tomlinson	
• , •	Group 3 — Preparation for Leadership Roles in Health Occupations Education Elizabeth E. Kerr	
~	Group 4 — Certification Standards for Personnel in Health Occupations Education Chester S. Rzonca	
4:30 p.m.	EVALUATIVE IMPRESSIONS OF THE GROUP DISCUSSIONS BY THE "ROVING EVALUATOR" Clarence Fielstra	
	Adjournment	
•		

# MARCH 1 👍 FRIDAY 8.30 a.m./ HOW TO GET A NEW HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION , PROGRAM STARTED Ellen M. Abbott THE UCLA SECONDARY SCHOOLS PILOT AND 9:00 a.m. DEMONSTRATION PROJECT FOR AN INTRODUCTION TO ALLIED HEALTH CAREERS Diane E. Watson EVALUATION OF THE UCLA SECONDARY SCHOOLS 10.30 a.m. PILOT AND DEMONSTRATION PROJECT Clarence Fielstra Audience/Speaker Interaction 11:00 .a.m. SUMMARY AND CLOSING OF THE CONFERENCE 11:30 a.m. Melvin L. Barlow ÷ Adjournment



FRĬC

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
INTRODUCTION "	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
CONFERENCE AGENDA	
CONTENTS	•
PRESENTATIONS	•
GOVERNOR'S WELCOMING ADDRESS	
PROBLEM AREAS IN THE ALLIED HEALTH FIELD AND WHAT NEEDS TO BE DONE TO PROMOTE SUCCESS . Lowell A Burkett, M.S.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
THE UCLA ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS PROJECT: PURPOSES, METHODS, RESULTS	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
* THE CLINICAL INSTRUCTOR TRAINING PROGRAM Miles H Anderson, Ed.D.	
CAREER MODEL DEVELOPMENT AND A MODEL CURRICULUM: THE NURSING PROGRAM	23
THE COOPERATIVE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE SOU DAKOTA STATEWIDE CORE CURRICULUM PROJECT AND THE UCLA ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS PROJEC Donald G. Brekke, B S	
MY HOPES AND FEARS FOR HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION	• • • • • • • • •
HOW TO GET A NEW HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION PROGRAM STARTED Ellen M Abbaut, M:S, R.N	
THE UCLA SECONDARY SCHOOLS PILOT AND DEMONSTRATION PROJECT FOR AN INTRODUCTION TO ALLIED HEALTH CAREERS,	
	• •

14

•

**.** 

	EVALUATION OF THE UCLA SECONDARY SCHOOLS PILOT AND DEMONSTRATION PROJECT Clarence Fielstra, Ph D	59
Rξ	COMMENDATIONS	, ,
	TEACHER SELECTION CRITERIA	65
	CONTENT FOR THE HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION BASIC TEACHING DEGREE Robert M Tomlinson, Ph D	71
•`	PREPARATION FOR LEADERSHIP ROLES IN HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION	75
	CERTIFICATION STANDARDS FOR PERSONNEL IN HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION	79
́АР	PPENDIXES	
	FINAL EVALUATION OF THE HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION CONFERENCE	85
•	CONFERENCE STAFF	.87

; (

Ð.

ERIC

# presentations

# **GOVERNOR'S WELCOMING ADDRESS**

Honorable David Hall, Governor, State of Oklahoma

You are all professionals. You are the people who are going to teach us how America can deliver health care—whether national health insurance comes or not, whether the care is public or private, you are going to have to lead the way. The doctors, lawyers, Senators, Representatives, and Governors are all so busy that no one seems able to come up with answers to health care problems, so you who are taking the time as you are today are going to have to provide the answers for 1975 and beyond.

About two years ago I had a chance to go to the Soviet Union with seven other Governors. One of the main objectives of the visit was to view the health care delivery system there, I found a system that was very inadequate above the early level compared to ours. But I also saw a system that designed paramedical activities which I thought were superior 'to ours in many ways. There was not, for example, a village or an apartment complex we saw that did not have paramedical personnel assigned to take care of the daily problems-the incidentals-that doctors and more highly trained people object to so much in their daily care routine. And there was a very warm, friendly attitude among these paramedical people and those they served, which is a good lesson for us. This is an area we need to take a harder look at because there are thousands of young men and women who would be extremely good as paramedics if they knew about and were inspired to search out the vocation The need today is more critical than ever.

In Oklahoma, our Health/Science Center is now a three part activity. 1) the educational activity from the University of Oklahoma which trains doctors, 2) the University hospital which provides indigent care and a training center for doctors; and 3) Children's Memorial Hospital. That triangle is providing, we think, some of the best health care facilities in the world. Our main thrust has been aimed at educating doctors and their professional assistants in the allied health occupations.

But I don't think we have given enough attention to the paramedical personnel and I think we are going to have to give this area more of our concern. I hope perhaps in this conference some of the guidelines that you develop and some of the leadership shown by Dre Barlow and others will give us a method by which we can determine the proper direction to take.

I think it is important that our Vocational—Technical education be expanded. Vocational education is a brand new dimension for Oklahoma young people, many of whom never intended to go to college but they were ill-equipped after finishing high school to compete in a progressively industrialized society—more progressive today than it has ever been. Twenty thousand new vocational titles will go into the books by 1980. The change that goes on every year in our system is almost unbelievable.

Vo-Tech in Oklahoma is "where it's at." You can see thousands of satisfied young people becoming economically independent and that



is a tremendous incentive. (I really envy them because they are going into the labor market making twice what I made as a beginning lawyer when I left law school and went out on my own.) The 9,000 secondary students and the 1,070 adults we serve in Vo-Tech are testi-7 mony to the excellent activity that can take place. One of the most innovative programs we have is one where we have taken people of lower mentality who cannot cope with the complicated and frustrating mechanisms of our industrial society and trained them in occu-, pations from domestic help to janitorial help. They are professionals. They receive a certificate just like everyone else, and they take pride in what they do. Those people were considered a loss to society' in many cases? prior to this time.

There was a news media report in Oklahoma that said we have 400 surplus doctors in this state. Well, I want to tellyou something. I wish all those 400 would call me up because I could sure tell them where we need them. We are really about 600 doctors short in the rural areas just as you are in every one of your states.

It is amazing how the locale of a small town produces some of the strongest people in the world. How are we going to induce these peoplet move back into their rural areas? In Oklahoma, we took a step in this direction in 1971. We decided that we would urge industry to go to the rural areas and not to-come to the cities. The result is that 83 percent of the new factories in the last 36 months have been located outside of Oklahoma City and Tulsa. Thirty-seven of our counties have , gained population in the last 36 months. The reason is that the young person of today has a different dream than you and I had when we started out. I can remember my friends saying, "I want to leave" the country. I want to go to the city, and I want to get the biggest house, and the biggest car I can and tell everybody that I'm a success." The young person today says, "I want to move out of the city, I want to go to the country, and I want to enjoy, my. family and the environment." Well, if we-are going to provide that environment, and if we

are going to have a meaningful, total life situation, we are going to have to provide health care closer than 50 miles (that's what it averages in many of our rural communities for a round trip to see a doctor).

We can provide that care, and I am convinced that education is the golden problem solver of the twentieth century. Now, some of the corporations and two of the main leading daily newspapers in Oklahoma did not believe that because they never paid, state tax before I. became governor; and they have not let me forget that fact for 36 months. But, do you know what that tax money did? It helped us lead the nation in the reduction of welfare last year. We decreased welfare rolls 11.4 percent and led the 50 states in the number of recipients taken off our welfare rolls in 1973. The reason was not because we were prosecuting offenders or hiring more case workers, the reason was that we educated those welfare recipients so that they could gain the dignity they wanted. That is really the secret. I find that 98 percent of the people on welfare don't want to be there any more than we want to, support them. But we do have a duty to support the blind, disabled, deaf, elderly, and fatherless. They deserve our help and they are going to get it. '

It is up to us to inspire young people to enter careers in health occupations by letting them know the tremendous scope available and the tremendous' satisfaction derived from providing health care. One of the terrible things about working in an industrialized society is ' the intangible accomplishment factor that you get from doing just one motion in the making of a product. How can you satisfy that urge to create? But, when you provide care for sick people so that eventually their sickness is cured or their life is made better, you experience a tangible reward. An old Chinese philosopher said that, "If you would plan for 💏 e year, plant rice. If you would plan for ten years, plant trees. But if you would plan for a hundred years, educate men." That is the answer. And that is why America will continue to . lead the world as long as we all believe in education.

## PROBLEM AREAS IN THE ALLIED HEALTH. FIELD AND WHAT NEEDS TO BE DONE TO PROMOTE SUCCESS

Lowell A. Burkett, M.S.

Vocational education is my life, and I'm very proud of that fact. Vocational education is something that has proven itself for many years, and it is benefitting thousands and thousands of young people in this country. I get very upset at people who try to find new terms to describe the field. The new descriptions just cause confusion, and, besides, I think the idea that the term "Vocational Education" presents a bad image is being overplayed at this point in time.

Vocational education is here to stay. It is not something that is a passing word, it is not just a passing idea. It-was started, of course, in prehistoric days and has gradually become more and more important to the welfare of man because of its function in preparing people for employment. I recall that when I first came to Washington it was almost impossible to get anyone to talk about vocational education and about the preparation of people for work through the educational system. We would have to go out and drum up business in terms of what we did to promote vocational education. But that is not true today. There are more people interested in vocational education than ever before, everybody is concerned about it.

Vocational education is becoming more important as time goes on for the simple reason that the labor force of this country. is becoming much more technical. By 1980, according to the Department of Labor, 83 percent of the work force of the nation will be in occupations that do not require a baccalaureate degree. That means that we in the field of vocational education are going to be preparing at least 83 percent of the nation's work force! We do not expect to do it all in the public school system, there are going to be other places where this preparation will occur. But, certainly the methods of training people will come from vocational education, and that places considerable responsibility on, our shoulders.

The leadership in vocational education is emerging on practically every front. As I travel about the country and talk with people in education and in many other fields as well, I continuously hear the names of people who are having an impact on manpower needs in education. Dr. Barlow and other vocational education leaders are often mentioned. We can be proud of the leadership that we have exerted. There is a need; of course, to continue in that role and we should be working at leadership training more as time goes on.

The American Vocational Association and the organizations that preceded it have been instrumental in keeping the quotas of manpower training in the public schools. We continuously work at this job. The Association has not been insensitive to manpower needs. In 1936, the USOE started programs in practical nurse training, and then the AVA began to see the need for manpower training in that area. The AVA also worked very diligently and effectively in the passage of the Health Amendments Act of 1956. In July, 1969, the AVA added a new division of Health Occupations for the specific purpose of developing a higher degree of professionalism among the health educators in vocational education This division of the AVA, although still small, represents almost 2,000 vocational educators who are making a tremendous contribution to the total manpower efforts and to the American Vocational , Association.

Although our interest started with the practical nurse field, it then expanded to the total Allied Health Occupations which cover a vast number of jobs in the health fields. There is no question about the extensive opportunities for the development of vocational education in the Allied Health field. Indeed, there are currently programs at all levels.

We were particularly interested in a number of special projects including the Allied Health Professions Project at UCLA and the study by, the National League for Nursing which contributed solutions to the problem of an open curriculum /in nursing. The project under discussion here (the AHPP) has perhaps contributed more to the Health Occupations field of education than anything we have observed for some time. But there are two major problems connected with any project of this type. One the dissemination of the findings. This conference will be helpful in solving that problem, but the findings have to be carried to others outside of this particular group. Another problem that we have with a project of this type is getting the ideas implemented. Although the ideas are good and research has been fruitful over the years, many of the results have gone on the shelf and have not been implemented. We have had the Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC) which, for vocational education, was located at The Ohio State University and which has been very helpful to educators and researchers, but it has not been accessible to practitioners.

In preparation for this conference, 1 reviewed the past activities of the Health Occupations Division of the AVA in order to see what their concerns were. I looked at many of the reports of the policy committees and the various seminars and activities in which they were engaged to see if there was anything unique that you would be interested in. But, as I examined these activities I found they correspond to the concerns of many occupational fields. I would like to take a few moments to talk about some of these concerns and to give you some of my thoughts and interpretations of them as theyrelate nationally to the problems facing us in our, field.

One of the problems with which we are faced is the fact that vocational education occurs at all levels of education and at practically every age of a person's life. In contrast, our public school system has become very compartmentalized. There is elementary education, secondary education, post-secondary education, and then there is continuing education. But people cannot be compartmentalized nor can their experiences. The whole problem of articulation in vocational education has become overwhelming because people approach and leave vocational education at various periods in their school experiences. They want to get into ... the training program from the education program, but articulation between the two systems sometimes does not exist.

This lack of articulation has become a serious problem that is created primarily by state laws. I had a member of my staff do a study recently. He looked at five selected states in the United States to determine if there is anything in the state laws of policies that is impeding the progress of vocational education. It is interesting to note what the study revealed. There is no relationship in many of these states between what is occurring in the secondary schools and in the post-secondary schools. In some cases there are two different administrative "bodies concerned with setting policy. In the Federal Vocational Education Acts, funds are allocated to the State Board of Vocational Education, However, many states have dissipated that concept in their interpretations of the Federal law. Sometimes the State Board of Vocational Education is the



same as the State Board of Education. They will meet for a whole day on General Education problems and spend only five minutes on Vocational Education. Seldom does the State Board of Education relate to the Board of Higher Education. So you can see that the articulation between elementary, secondary, and higher education is a very serious problem as it relates to vocational education.

The Congress of the United States is going to start taking a look at the current Vocational. Education Act of 1968. I have already been notified to be prepared because there will be hearings this year and possibly the enactment of new legislation. Is am of the opinion that how well we are articulating the program at the state and local levels is going to be one of the major concerns. Congress is getting reports, from the post-secondary institutions that the State Board is not giving them the right amount of money or that they are not being treated fairly. In other states the opposite complaint is voiced-that the post-secondary program is controlling the funds and the secondary schools are not getting enough. This is a serious problem, and I think the Congress of the United States is going to take a very close look at this area. I do not know how they are going to resolve it because, after all, it is up to the states to determine how they are going to spend the money. But I think it is. something that we as a professional group are going to have to try to resolve. Much of this situation is to be resolved at the state and local level, it can't be done by Federal law.

Another of the problem areas identified and discussed by Health Occupations specialists over the years is the question of comprehensive planning. The 1968 Vocational Education Act called for state plans for vocational education. But this Act has been interpreted to meet the requirements of the law, not to plan for operational purposes. We need to get the planning straightened out to address two elements. First are the needs of the people,

specifically the kind of education they need. And second, we have to relate those needs to the manpower needs because you should not train people without providing employment or . else the training is of little value. The task of amending the Federal-Acts is a job that you are going to have to accomplish at whatever level you are functioning, eithery state or local. There is a tendency in the planning process to plan in accordance with the resources that we are going to receive so that at the end of the year we can say, "Oh, yes, we did achieve our . goal." It is almost impossible for me in my role to relate to Congress what the needs actually are because you say your needs are not greater than the resources you have available. This is a serious problem. We are going to have to look, at the needs of the people in terms of training and manpower, and this is a difficult job. It means that you are going to have to think, not in terms of what staff and facilities you have so that you can utilize those effectively, but you are going to have to say that there are this many people who need servicing and these are the manpower needs and we are going to thy to meet them.

I think there is going to be monitoring of the planning process in the new Federal legislation. We talk about giving responsibility to local and state people to implement their programs, but if the job is not done we can expect Federal regulations and Federal monitoring. The state plans are going to have to be much more comprehensive and monitored very carefully. I believe Congress is going to take a lot of that job on themselves. That is the reason Congress is not holding hearings on a specific vocational education 'act being introduced this year. Instead, they are saying, "We really want to monitor. We want to see how well you have done with what you already have been given."

Another problem that we are faced with is "Career Mobility," or the ability of people to move from one part of the country to another and continue to utilize the training and education they possess in an effective manner. Why is this becoming a serious problem? There are essentially two reasons. One is that our training has been rather specific for any given community. The second reason is that state licensing laws have been so out of order they have not really been concerned with the training of people who move from one location to another. In other words, they are trying to protect that field, that occupation, in that given state. Our licensing laws' are archaic, they are going to have to be rewritten. The public needs the protection of licensing laws, but the present laws need revision in order to provide for the mobility of people from one state to another.

We must also be concerned with the whole question of teacher preparation. This is another very serious problem with which we are faced in this country. The first thing we must do is get the right kind of people into the teaching profession in order to strengthen our educational programs across the board. In addition, those who are in the field should receive continuous in-service training. We should help them improve their techniques and encourage them to up-date their knowledge of their technical fields.

All our instructional materials need up-dating. I am delighted with what has been done in this area. Health Occupations Education is ahead of many of the vocational fields and particularly "the specialized occupations in this respect. But it is not good enough to print this new material today and not come back two or three years from now to up-date it. The UCLA project should undergo continuous pertinent revisions. We cannot afford to be outdated in our curriculum and our instructional materials. We ought to be looking down the road to what kind of occupations the young people are going to be entering tomorrow. I know we have occupational analysis that tells us what is needed at a given point in time, but we ought to be doing some research and making projections for the future. I have seen in some classrooms the teaching of technical matters that

have gone out of existence completely. We cannot justify that kind of mistake in vocational education. It is said that there is a twenty-year lag between education and reality. Vocational education should make an effort to close that gap.

A problem common to all vocational fields is the matter of teacher certification. State certification boards cause trouble in practically every state. There needs to be certification; we should not let just anybody teach. But this problem ought to be looked at realistically to determine what kind of teacher is desired and what kind of certification he needs. This is something that should be taken care of within the states because certification is a state responsibility, there is nothing that can be done with Federal regulations. But it is a process that has to be worked at constantly. Remember that you have to contend with a great deal in the Allied Health field because you are involved in occupations that effect the health and welfare of the public.

Accreditation, which can be defined as the process of a profession policing itself, now confronts the Health Occupations. No government agency is supposed to be involved in this process, it is a profession setting its own minimum standards for a good program. In general, the accrediting agencies, particularly the regional accrediting agencies, have said, "We want to look at the institution to see whether it has the qualities needed to conduct a good educational program—how many books in its library, what kind of degrees it has for teachers, and what the budget is for this institution."

I have been on accrediting teams in the public school system. We never really looked to see what was going on inside the classrooms. Some of us got pretty upset about this procedure and we called upon the National Commission of Accrediting. We went to the Office of Education and said, "You've got institutions out there condoning very poor programs of vocational technical education. Now what are you going to do about that?" And they said, "Well, we can't visit every classroom in the institutions. That is just an impossible task." I believe that any visiting team going to an institution should take a few moments to look for some of the very essential characteristics of a good program. It would not take much time to do that

As a result of pressuring them, we got a grant from the Office of Education and authorization to conduct a study of what we thought were essential characteristics for a quality program The results of that study have gone through some field testing and are currently being utilized by a number of schools for selfstudy purposes (We have some copies of that study in our office and we can make them available to anyone who is interested.) But, some of those findings still need to be verified. A lot of research probably needs to go on, but at least we are beginning to really examine the accreditation process, the quality of programs, and other essential characteristics. And that has to happen; otherwise accreditation is valueless. The public will get fed up with accreditation unless the National Commission does begin to discuss quality programs of education.

One of the things for which we are continuously being called upon is evaluation. How well are we doing? Once we set objectives for ourselves, we must determine how well we have met those objectives. One of the best evaluation techniques is merely to follow up on our education. That is, are people getting jobs? Are they performing on the job? Are they happy with their jobs? I would be satisfied with that form of evaluation. And to all these fancy evaluation techniques available, we can say, "Well, if we've got time we'll apply those." The public is looking at that, too. It is demanding some kind of an evaluation because the people are unhappy with the education program. The kind of evaluation the public is placing upon vocational education concerns how well we are preparing people

for the jobs they have to perform in the world of work. Is the money the taxpayers are spending getting its return? That is the question they are asking. The one thing that is going to save us is the fact that we can prepare people to get jobs, they stay on the job, and they are performing well on the job.

There are other problems that are similar for all fields, particularly this whole question of career ladders. How do you build a curriculum so that people can get back into the work system at various times in their lives and then return later to the reducational system for. training to take a different job? 'Vocational education has been saddled with a term that is hurting the program. In the early days we talked about vocational education as being terminal; that word cannot exist in our vocabulary. We have to think of vocational education as the development of an individual # which lets him spin off whenever he so desires or move-to the next career ladder. And I don't mean, a move for higher prestige. This is one of the things that has hurt vocational education-the fact that people have placed a value system on various jobs in our society so that it is down-grading to be a nurse's aide, for instance, instead of being an RN. A nurse's. arde, if she is happy performing her job should have just as much prestige as would an RN. We in vocational education have to be the change agents to alter public attitudes. We are a small number of people so we have to work hard at this task.

Identifying research needs and their application is another area of concern. Last week I spent a day and a half with the National Institute for Education on Resource Work examining their program in Career Education. Generally, researchers like to choose their own topics for investigation. But I contend that we practitioners in the field need to identify some really crucial issues for these researchers to get into because they are missing a lot of important needs that should be researched. They are not even paying any attention to them. They are not practitioners, in

general, and they do not have the background that practitioners have. So we should help determine what those research needs are.

The last of the areas I will speak about is the need for collaboration—working together. My job is, first, to try to get all the vocational people to work together so that we have a coordinated, planned program. Second, we have to work in education agross the board, and then with all of our professional groups. We cannot serve the people unless we all work together. At the moment we are having overwhelming problems with Federal agencies. I know of one city in the United States that has 28 Federal, state, and local programs all with the same objectives and aimed at the same clientele. Our professional groups are going to find themselves in the same predicament as they recognize their needs and try to develop programs unless they collaborate. We have a long way to go in dealing with all the issues confronting us.

# THE UCLA ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS PROJECT: PURPOSES, METHODS,' RESULTS

🔄 Thomas L. Freeland, Ph'D

The Allied Health Professions Project, a curriculum research and development project in the allied health occupations, began operations in August, 1968. It was originally funded as a four-year grant under the aegis of the University of California, Los Angeles Division of Vocational Education. The basic objective of the project was to create curricula and instructional materials for those allied health functions that can appropriately be taught in programs through the associate degree level.

The establishment of the project reflected an increasing awareness of the shortage of personnel required to meet the fast-growing demand for health care services. Regardless of the statistics cited, health administrators everywhere can attest to the severity of the manpower shortage, and to the need for large numbers of allied health personnel to extend the services of the highly trained professionals.

The growth and expansion of allied health has been precipitated by. 1) the declaration by the , 89th Congress that access to health care is a basic human right of every citizen in the United States of America; 2) rapid change and numerous technological advances which have occurred in the health industry; 3) increase in population, along with a greater number of the aged in the population; 4) availability of prepaid insurance plans to a greater percentage of the population; and 5) an increased awareness , of the general population about health andhealth-related activities. Other factors which resulted in the creation of the Allied Health \* Professions Project were the rapid proliferation of health specialties and the lack of a

functional definition and differentiation between and among many of the allied health occupations.

The Allied Health Professions Project was the result of a U.S. Office of Education grant. The grantee institution was the University of California; Los Angeles. At the time of the award in 1968, it was the first consolidated research effort, funded by the Office of Education, in which many of the health occupations could be simultaneously investigated. The availability of the UCLA Survey Research Center and the UCLA Training Hospital were of prime importance in UCLA being awarded the grant.

The Allied Health Professions Project defines "allied health" as encompassing all healthrelated occupations (professions). We are very much in agreement with Darrel J. Mase when he says, "The scope of allied health in the broadest use of the term covers all professional, technical, and supportive workers in patient care, public health, and health research as well as personnel engaged in environmental health activities."

The basic philosophy of the project may be summarized as follows:

The aim is to develop instructional material which will enable the student, after a successful period of study, to perform a skill or a series of skills. Correct performance of the task (job/activity) will enable the student to have sufficient marketable skills for legitimate remunerative employment. The basic strategy for the development of appropriate instructional materials is to use the job as a benchmark for deciding, what skills/tasks/activities will be taught. The criterion of acceptable performance is dependent upon standards of the local agency, however, the Allied Health Professions Project has and will continue to suggest minimum performance standards.

As indicated previously, the primary goal was to develop modern and effective curricula and instructional materials appropriate for training personnel up to and including the Associate. Arts degree. A secondary goal was to provide for continuous updating of these materials and. to provide a mechanism for nationwide distribution. Stated more specifically, the objectives of the project were.<sup>4</sup> 1) to develop curricula in health-related fields using modern educational methods; 2) to develop instructional materials on a modular basis, 3) to investigate the concept of core curricula, 4) to develop an allied health occupations career lattice, 5) to provide and distribute, by public or private means, the instructional materials developed by the project.

The basic project methodology may be summarized as follows. After extensive field and library research, the resultant information is reviewed by a national technical advisory committee in order to form a task list of all identifiable activities and functions for a given occupation. Data about each of the tasks are obtained by way of a national survey of health care personnel.

The data are analyzed and published in an occupational analysis report. Using the results of this report, a curriculum outline is formulated, and from this outline a design of the instructional unit is developed. This design includes the rationale, the overall teaching strategy, specifications of behavioral objectives, and division of the units into modules of instruction.

. A.

For each module in the unit, a teaching draft is developed and field tested. On the basis of the field tests, revisions are, made. Instructional materials are then produced and distributed. Material is reviewed and critiqued by members of the national technical advisory committee at each step in their development. Each curriculum is oriented to the concept of career education. Each course or set of courses provides the foundation on which additional competencies can be based. The curriculum has been designed on an open-entry, openexit plan thereby enabling students to obtain sets of employable skills.

The purpose of sequencing the instructional materials into sets of job skills is to provide the student with marketable skills which will enable firm to be gainfully employed. Each stage of the career sequence is based on the skills and knowledge of the preceding stage. The total curriculum then consists of a continuum of skills and knowledge.

The curriculum for any given occupation consists of a series of courses. Because the curriculum is oriented to career education, the learning experiences for all health personnel who perform a given set of procedures are included. By selection of appropriate courses, a custom-made curriculum can be constructed.

The sequence of modules, units, and courses is based on sets of marketable job skills. A suggested sequence for those health occupations for which curricula have been developed is presented in the teacher's manual of the instructional material.

However, this sequence may be altered or revised to match local job market conditions and manpower pool requirements. The primary consideration is to provide sets of job skills which will lead to gainful employment and permit each individual to expand his competency to whatever stage he may select, while minimizing the repetition of previous course content.



The Allied Health Professions Project's developmental system is made up of four basic steps, each of which has one or more substeps within it. The first step is to formulate a task inventory The second is to produce an occupational analysis report based on a survey of job functions. The next step is to develop instructional, materials on a modular basis if required.

Within this third step are five substeps or phases pre-planning, planning your structural module, producing your prototype instructional module, evaluating the instructional module, and revising the instructional module. The fourth step is to reproduce the product and make it available for distribution.

This is a broad overview of the developmental system which we utilized, at least in theory, at the Allied Health Professions Project. This developmental system was a product of the clinical services group. The original flow, chart was developed by Dr. David Ainsworth who was our technical consultant in instructional methodology and media preparation. I would like to review each of the steps in more detail.

The compilation of the task inventory is the first step in developing instructional materials at the Allied Health Professions Project. The task list is in essence a laundry list of all tasks which may be performed in a functional area. A functional area may comprise one or more occupational titles.

For example, nursing is a functional area which consists of several related occupational titles. Inhalation therapy or respiratory care is a functional area which is comprised of at least three titles: the linhalation therapy laide, the inhalation therapy techniqian, and the inhalation therapist. An example of a functional area which has only a single occupational title would be that of the gastroenterology assistant.

In compiling a task inventory, two substeps are performed almost simultaneously. First, the in-

dividual analyst performs the necessary field research in order to catalog existing inventories and existing information pertaining to the functional area under consideration. At the same time, a national technical advisory committee (NTAC) is selected to guide and assist in the development of instructional material and preliminary analysis.

The NTAC is composed of experts in the field—educators and practitioners. The purpose of the NTAC is to define and qualify the need for instructional research, assist in reviewing that instructional material which is available, recommend revisions in existing materials and resources, and assist in identifying critical areas of need.

The next step is to generate an initial task fist. Incidentally, a task is a piece of work which needs to be done. Synonyms for task include activity, skill, and job. In formulating an initial task list, the specificity of tasks should be similar within various subsections of the task list. That is to say, if the task is stated in fairly broad terms, such as "make a bed," then all tasks within that specific subsection should be stated with the same degree of specificity. In other words, it would be inappropriate to have one task, "make a bed," in the same grouping with another task such as "make an occupied bed containing an orthopedic patient who is in traction." At the same time, in formulating the initial task list, the precision for stating the task should be dependent on the criticality of correct performance. The more critical the nature of the task, the more precisely the task should be identified.

Again, using our example of making a bed, if the task is thought not to be too critical, the task description "making a bed" may be sufficient. However, if the task is critical, then the precision of statement should be "making a closed bed" or "making an occupied bed which contains a patient who is in traction."

The initial task list is generated along the lines of inclusion. The principle of inclusion assures that all tasks, no matter how remote in any given functional area, will be included in the initial task list. Sources for the initial task list include field research, expert opinion, site visits, job descriptions, and existing procedure manuals.

The next step is for the NTAC to add new tasks, cull outdated tasks, and, if necessary, segment the task list into sets or sections of related skills. This procedure has been used on a national scale. However, it may also be used. on a local or regional basis.

The next step within the developmental system is to verify the task list. This verification step may be performed by way of a survey questionnaire or some other, occupational study mechanism. In selecting a method for validating the task list, two critical questions must be answered: 1) What is the cost of such data?

In consideration of cost and utility factors, the Allied Health Professions Project elected to develop a self-administered survey questionnaire. The primary intent of the questionnaire was to develop a frequency, difficulty, and supervision index for each of the listed tasks. In conjunction with this numerical data, appropriate demographic and background-influenced respondent information was obtained.

Because of cost factors (approximately \$15 per questionnaire), a selected hospital sample was obtained. The hospital panel constituted a judgmental sample. All cooperating institutions were JCHA approved and participated in Medicare. In addition, they were willing to participate in a survey activity of the project.

The administrators or difectors of each hospital were personally contacted and oriented to the project, its purposes, and its methodology. A system to distribute and return questionnaires was developed in cooperation with hospital personnel at each of the facilities. Individual survey respondents were randomly selected to participate in the survey procedures. Surveys were individually returned to the UCLA Survey Research Center, where they were collated, coded, and assigned a security number.

On the completion of the data-gathering phase of the occupational analysis, the data were analyzed electronically by way of several programs. For the most part, the data were reduced to frequency distributions which were used to formulate job matrices. On completion of the data analysis phase, the results were screened by the NTAC to determine reasonableness of the findings, and to assess the criticality and difficulty for specific tasks. After consideration and screening by the NTAC, an occupational analysis report was prepared.

The occupational analysis reports have been used nationwide for 1) developing new instructional materials, 2) writing new job descriptions, 3) re-organizing working departments, 4) justifying salary increases, and 5) defining work responsibilities.

The next major operation is that of developing instructional materials. The instructional material development subsystem is comprised of five steps or phases. Phase one is preplanning.

In pre-planning instructional materials or modules, the intent is to obtain definitive answers to two simple questions. 1) Is there a training need? and 2) Is the skill suited for mediated (indirect) instruction? Information pertaining to the first question is collected from several sources. the NTAC, occupational analysis, literature research, field research (which includes both interviews and observations), and research of manpower projections.

If it appears that a sufficient number of personnel are being trained to perform a given task or group of tasks, then and only then do project personnel explore the feasibility of developing instructional materials.

In answering the second question, several kinds of information are required such as. How much instructor interface is required? What is the extent or possibility for self-evaluation performance checks to be utilized? Is the content adaptable to mediated instruction? If these questions are answered affirmatively, we then go on to the next step of planning an instructional module. Prior to discussing this process, I would like to define a module and then discuss the advantages of programmed learning.

A module is a self-contained, segment of instruction. It teaches a task which has a beginning and a definitive end—ta task which enables one to gain useful employment. The prtmary advantage of developing instructional content in modules is the great flexibility which this system permits. Many health workers perform the same tasks. By selecting instructional modules which are task-oriented, an individual can receive specific and appropriate training for his job function, regardless of his functional title.

There has been much research in the area of programmed (instruction and individualized learning in the last several years. It is not our purpose to debate the pros and cons of programmed instruction. However, I would like to point out that the Allied Health Professions Project prefers to use the term "programmed learning" in place of the more popular term. "programmed instruction." We believe that the term "programmed instruction" eliminates the teacher from the teaching-learning process, whereas the term "programmed learning" redefines the teacher's role. In a programmed learning system, the teacher is no longer a traffic cop responsible for the regulation of learning, but rather becomes a resource individual and a learning motivator.

In this way, each individual studenty can achieve according to his capabilities and his

motivation. It was the considered opinion of the project's staff that individualized instruction would enable each student to progress to his own level. The ability to perform a given task or set of tasks should be the learning criterion, not the time required to assimilate the required knowledge and skills.

The next phase of developing material is planning the module Within this phase there are three distinct steps. Step one is setting the limits of student performance. This requires the writer/author to. 1) define the prerequisite behaviors and characteristics of the student population; 2) develop a prerequisite test; 3) check for a match or a mismatch between the prerequisite behaviors and the prerequisite criteria (performance objectives), 5) develop performance tests, and 6) check for a matchmismatch between performance objectives and performance tests.

The definition of student characteristics and prerequisite test items should establish the lower limits for student acceptance in the teaching-learning process. The definition of behavioral objectives (performance objectives) and performance tests should establish the minimal acceptable standards for performance of any job/task/activity.

The next subprocess is that of selecting the media of instruction. In determining the most effective method for presenting the instructional information, one should assess the characteristics of the student population. In other words, one must identify their reading ability, the nature of the material which is to be taught, the kinds and types of student responses desired, and determine the relative cost benefits of various methods of presenting the instructional material. This information should enable one to select the most appropriate media for presentation and at the same time prevent excessive cost expenditures.

The last step within this phase is that of defining the learning environment. The learning environment should be defined in terms of

the supervisory characteristics required by the nature of the tasks and instructional material being utilized, the space requirements per student, and the equipment requirements per student. This information should enable one to predict the size and type of learning facilities required for the teaching-learning process for any given module.

The next phase within the subsystem of developing instructional materials is that of producing the prototype module. Producing the module, is subdivided into two sets of operations. 1) producing the instructional content of the module, and 2) devising a control system for the module.

In developing the instructional module the first step is to develop a step-by-step outline of instructional content. This step-by-step outline is usually developed by way of a job operations breakdown. The job operations breakdown (JOB) is a modification of the job instructor technique developed by Dr. Miles Anderson. The center of the JOB is the task or activity to be taught. The task was selected for analysis based on information obtained via the occupational analysis, i.e., frequency of performance.

The process went something like this. Based on the assumption that correct task performance was of prime concern, the task and the knowledge and skills required for acceptable performance became the center point of attention. Information directly related to task pertormance is a key point and is associated with an important step. This information must be available and known by the practitioner and/or student in order for them to perform the task correctly.

Secondary to key points and important steps is indirectly related knowledge about the task—information which increases an individual's breadth of understanding but which is not a primary requisite for correct task performance. Next we have a large area of unrelated knowledge which may be "nice to

30

Incidentally, the JOB also aids in sequencing . the instructional content contained within a specific module and within a series of modules. A visual review of key points, important steps, and indirectly related knowledge assists in association of similar information which at a minimum provides an opportunity to reinforce preview learning.

The step-by-step outline is checked by a group of outside experts for completeness and accuracy. The outline is then edited and prepared in the desired format. Artwork, 'photography, and final typing of the drafts are completed. The prototype module is then inspected and reviewed by members of the NTAC.

During the same time, a control system for use of the module is developed. The control system consists of the following steps. 1) student instruction, 2) a motivational introduction to the module (why it is important to learn this particular task), 3) a listing of technical vocabulary terms, 4) a bibliography of references and resources which may be available for student use, 5) enrichment material which may broaden the student's knowledge about this particular skill or set of skills.

As previously indicated, modules are selfcontained instructional segments. The advantage of the modular curriculum is flexibility and adaptability of the teaching materials to different types of allied health workers. One or more modules may be combined to make up a unit of instruction. One or more units of instruction may be combined to comprise courses, and a number of courses' constitute the curriculum. Of course, the curriculum is then the sum total of the learning experiences for which the school is responsible.

The next phase of activity within the subsystem of developing instructional material is titled formative evaluation. This process involves two distinct types of activity. The



first activity is called developmental evaluation. The prototype module has been assembled. The critical question that must be answered is: Can a student successfully learn from this programmed-learning, individualized-instruction manual?

In order to evaluate the efficacy of the module, several developmental evaluations are conducted. The first path is to have a naive subject, usually one of our secretaries, read all through the module and identify areas of inconsistency or areas which lack clarity. The next step is to find a subject representative of the student population, and to provide him or her with the equipment and space representative of that required in the learning environment. The student is then presented the module for study. His reactions to the module are observed and noted. Areas of difficulty, of imprecise language, of poor directions are noted and corrected.

When the student completes the instructional module, the performance test is administered. If the student can pass the performance test, it is assumed the module is a successful learningteaching mechanism. This process is repeated approximately the to seven times for each module. During this iterative testing, the module is continually refined and debugged.

When it appears that the module is an effective teaching-learning device, the next step of formative evaluation takes place. That step is group evaluation. Project staff members identify subjects representative of the student population. At the same time, they obtain the equipment, space, and instructors representative of those required in a real teaching situation. The instructors are oriented on the techniques of teaching by way of programmed learning, individualized instruction manuals. The instructors then present the module to a group of subjects.

On completion of the learning process, each subject is interviewed, each teacher is interviewed, test results are analyzed, and the in: formation is correlated and incorporated into revised editions of the module. This results in a continuous process of revision and upgrading.

I would like to relate a summary of what happened the first time we evaluated the instructional materials on a group basis. Incidentally, hursing materials were the first. After obtaining permission from appropriate authorities, orienting teachers and students, we were ready to try out the instructional materials (Metropolitan Hospital in Santa Monica). At the end of the first day a very frustrated teacher called, "Good Lord, I don't like this." For the next several days the instructor called very frequently with complaints— "I don't have anything to do." "The students are not learning anything." Project staff once again reviewed the proper method of use of the self-paced learning modules. We explained in more detail the shift of the teacher's role from that of a traffic cop to that of a manager of learning resources. By the time the first test project was completed the teacher stated, "You know, "I'm busier now than I ever was, these students really focus in on important procedures and really phrase difficult duestions."

As a result of this experiment, to this day the hospital uses the UCLA nursing materials and program for their in-service nurse aide training. Their results have been extremely good. They have better student retention during the teaching process and the quality of performance (assessed via floor supervision) has improved. They have also demonstrated the potential for career development. In the first pilot class, five of the original fifteen students went back to school to increase their knowledge and skills in the nursing area. In addition, on completion of training, it appears that students are being retained for a longer period of time as nurse aides.

Another example of this process: Our dental hygiene units were finished just before the associate director of that area went to Europe, we distributed the materials the day she left.

31<sup>15</sup> Už,

We distributed about 1200 of the "Detection and Removal of Calculus" learning packets to seven schools. The schools used them and sent the modules and evaluation sheets from the instructors and from the students back to the project office. These were, independently collated by an outside consultant, then we employed an independent writer to review and evaluate the comments. At that time, Anna came back from Europe and she had an opportunity to review all of the collected information and to revise the instructional materials as required.

Finally, after all field tests were conducted, we produced the revised module. Frequently we had to re-do the artwork and the photography. We always had to cut and paste the narrative. Sometimes we did not define our terms appropriately or consistently. Based on information gathered from the students, the teacher, and the thorough review by the NTAC, the final product was at last completed and available for distribution.

We distributed the final product in one of two ways. We attempted to interest private publishers in distributing and marketing or in some cases we distributed and marketed the information ourselves. I believe that the interest and intent that private publishers have shown thus far is a great indicator of the value of the materials. When you have people putting their own money into the production process, it indicates that the material is more than satisfactory—or at least it is more than satisfactory according to the expectations of the publisher!

We have been quite pleased with the partial cipation of W. B. Saunders, Charles C. Thomas, Reinhart, Lippincott, Reston and others in publishing and distributing the materials. Not only will their distribution of the materials increase the availability, but it will also increase the feedback for revisions and later generations of instructional materials. We are quite hopeful that we will somehow gain additional support so we can complete some of the instructional materials which have not been completed to date.

In summary, the productivity of the project has been 25 task inventories, 18 occupational analyses, and pit'm not mistaken, 11 books or manuals. There was some fallout from the project. Educational Products Inc., at the University of Pittsburg, conducted task analyses in six areas using the methodology of the project, they obtained essentially, the same results. South Dakota's project has been assisted by the UCLA Allied Health Professions Phoject.

Perhaps one of the most important fallouts at the<sup>®</sup> culmination of any project is the distribution of people who work on it. We have now spread throughout the United States and each of us is using the materials, the concepts, the principles in our own locale to increase the efficiency in teaching allied health practitioners in our areas.

# THE CLINICAL INSTRUCTOR TRAINING PROGRAM

Miles H Anderson, Ed D.

Clinical instructor training is crucial to the allied health program. Its main objective is to train hospital personnel to teach while on their jobs in the hospital. The reason for this is that the education of students who are learning to help sick people get well (and I always emphasize the idea that their function is to help patients get well) must, of necessity, take place on the job. It cannot be effective if offered partially in a college, special school, or nursing laboratory because sick people must be available for the students to work with. Thus, clinical instructor training solves the problem by training hospital personnel how to teach on the job in the hospital.

However, there are problems in getting clinical personnel to accept the notion of teaching on the job Teaching is rewarding and fun, but trying to convince clinical people to take time from their duties to learn this is a major problem. Because they are working people who are needed on their jobs, I have found it necessary to condense my training program from 30 hours originally to 12 hours of concentrated instruction in order to facilitate their work schedules.

A second problem I find is the psychological aspect involved in the teaching/learning process. For example, the staff nurse doesn't feel that she is an instructor, partly because she has gone to school herself and thinks of teaching in terms of her own experience, e.g., sitting in a room filled with rows of seats and somebody up at the front with a blackboard and a pointer, lecturing. I have said, "No, no, that's not the kind of instruction we are talking about. The kind we are advocating is much simpler, easier, and a lot more fun. It is almost entirely individual instruction. It won't take you any time at all to prepare for it, and the rewards will be very great. Now, if you will go along with me on this, in 12 hours you will be able to understand it so that you can do it yourself, and then we will see what the results are." In fact, the results have been quite rewarding for those who have engaged in this activity as evidenced by the fact 'that many people I have taught have ultimately become trainers themselves.

This has actually become a self-perpetuating program because I always try to encourage the promising members, of any one group who seem capable of teaching and who would enjoy getting up in front of a group and putting on such a program. Invariably there will be at least one or two. At Children's Hospital in Los Angeles, I found four such people, and now this procedure is an on-going part of their inservice training program with at least four classes a month being conducted. This began back in 1968, so you can see that the selfperpetuating aspect is quite important.

I think one mistake made by many schools is their failure to provide enough hospital clinical experience, and in addition, the hospital itself wants a piece of the action—a little credit, in other words. A good friend of mine in Chicago, where I put on four classes, had a very convenient affiliation with a hospital there. He got out a brochure to advertise an allied health program at the hospital, and proudly sent me a copy of it. I happen to know

ERIC Full Taxt Provided by ERIC

that he is pretty adept at writing nasty letters, so I wrote to I m and said, 'Now Jook, you got out this brochure to invite these students to your school. Every picture in it was taken at the hospital where they get their clinical experience working with patients, yet nowhere in this brochure do I see any mention of that hospital's name or who the clinical instructor trainer is or who the staff people are that train them. To look at this brochure you wouldn't think that the hospital even existed or that the students went to a hospital to get their experience. If I were the administrator over there, I would throw you out." You know, a funny thing happened about a year later-they did throw him out! He was getting all that service for nothing, but he failed to give then a little recognition.

There's another problem. It's not fair to ask, people to do something for nothing. Especially when it is hard work as in teaching. I think that, if possible, it should be arranged so that the clinical instructors in the hospitals can be given a monetary reward for the extra work they do in teaching.

١.

It is my teeling that most of our problems in getting them to work could also be solved in this way. As it is, about the best that I can do is to give them a certificate or an "instructor's medal of honor" or something of that sort, but you can't go out and buy a loaf of bread with that type of recognition.

In order to sell this program, I have developed a little presentation that is on a very elementary level. Remember, most of these people think of teaching as standing up before a group just as I am doing now, with a blackboard and a textbook. I want to differentiate occupational instruction from academic teaching methods so that you won't get confused with what we're attempting to do here. What we are talking about now is task-oriented instruction — in fact, that's the name of this little presentation. It doesn't take very long to explain and we'll just run through it very quickly. We will be very elementary in our approach; you have to get the idea across to the people you are working with. Otherwise you will not get the cooperation in the hospitals that you'll need if you want them to play ball with you and help you. They have to understand that . this isn't nearly as complicated as it appears to be and that actually it is not only fairly easy to learn to do, but it is also a lot of fun.

It seems to me, I usually explain to these' groups, that there are two basic purposes for a student to pursue education beyond high school (or while still in high school, because now we have dropped down to' the tenth grade level in our secondary school program, and therefore I mention the fact that it really requires a secondary education as well). These two goals are occupational and cultural. The occupational goals either are or should be the acquisition of skills, knowledge, and attitudes that enable us to get a job, hold it, enjoy it (hopefully), and advance to higher levels in our\*chosen field of work. The cultural goals also encompass the acquisition of skills, knowledge, and again attitudes that are essential to fit comfortably and pleasurably into the desired social setting. In other words, we must develop the capacity to appreciate and enjoy aesthetic values-music, art, dance, ballet, or whatever you like, maybe just sitting in front of the TV watching a football game and drinking a beer—(I'm not condemning that—I enjoy. it myself).

In our society, both cultural and occupational activities are desirable for a productive and happy life. Otherwise, we are out of balance. All occupations that are not anti-social or criminal in nature and that provide useful goods and services are respectable—everything from the garbage man on up to the President. However, we will confine our discussion to those allied health occupations that require some form of occupational education.

Education for cultural development should be largely a matter of personal preference anyway

because our tastes in these matters vary so widely On the other hand, we ought to agree that there is little or no reason for what we used to call "faculty discipline." We hear about this notion every once in a while from a great many people who still believe that the study of cultural subjects is imperative (parti-. cularly if the subjects are what we used to call "solids"). This has been disproven convincingly by research don'e as far back as 1906, so that by now we should know that the old faculty discipline idea doesn't hold. We realize now that the study of geometry and calculus, etc, is not necessarily going to make a good plumber, p r se. Contrarywise, he must have specific training in how to be a plumber. Certainly he may enjoy calculus, but if he isn't going to be an engineer or take up some other occupation where he can use it, it's not really going to do him much good because he will just forget it.

\$0 what is learning and what is task-oriented Instruction? Learning is what happens when a person changes his own behavior (remember, this explanation is highly simplified for the people in the class). I smash hard on "changes his own"; you can't make him do it. That would be going back to the hickory rod, and you'd get nowhere with that. He has to do it himself-no one can do it for him-and he learns either by acquiring or discarding skills, knowledge, and attitudes. Actually, discarding is one of the most difficult learning situations (e.g., trying to learn to stop smoking). Skills are the ability to perform occupational tasks. Knowledge is the possession of and the ability to use scientific and technical facts. Attitudes are the sum total of the opinions, beliefs, and feelings we hold that influence our work, our fellow workers, our patients, our employees, our employers, and our environment in general Let me emphasize again that learning includes the discarding as well as the acquiring of these behavioral factors; discarding obsolete skills, knowledge, and undesirable attitudes is a learning process just as much as acquiring new attributes is. In fact, most learners find it more difficult to discard strongly entrenched behavioral patterns or fallacious knowledge than to acquire new information and attitudes.  $\mathbf{x}$ 

Let's assume that a task involves the performance of a series of physical, mental, and attitudinal acts by means of which one achieves a specific objective. In order to be teachable, , the task must be specific, precisely stated, and free from ambiguity that would result in the omission of important details. For example, the phrase "position a bed patient" is too vague. There are a number of tasks included in this instruction, each different. "Position a bed patient in the SIMS position" is a more precise and teachable concept. "Teach an amputee to use his prosthesis" is too broad and imprecise; there are many kinds of amputees and many types of prostheses. Compare this to "teach an above-elbow arm amputee to operate the controls on a prosthesis with a Hosmer elbow and a Dorrance hook." Now you can get down to business, you know what the job is-you know what the task is. The first example is impossible in terms of usable behavioral objectives, you can't do it. But the second one you can. The first requirement for taskoriented instruction is a precise, accurate statement of the task to be taught.

Task performance requires the application of skills, knowledge, and attitudes, which reapnot be accomplished without physical and mental activities. Indeed, there is no learning without physical and mental activities. Some people assume that task-oriented instruction is mechanistic-that it turns out unthinking robots who are ignorant of basic science, principles, and theory. This is not true, although I agree that the possession of scientific knowledge itself is of little value in pursuing an occupation-it is what you can do with it that counts. One of the toughest problems that I have wrestled, with for over 35 years is to integrate these two concepts so that one supports the other, and then the basic science makes sense. We have to be willing to accept the notion that the mere possession of scientific knowledge in itself is of little value in pursuing

an occupation. It's what you do with the knowledge, that counts, and when you do something with it, you are performing a task. Thus, task-oriented instruction in the basic sciences does not merely teach the facts, it also teaches how to use them.

Now let's examine the skill of teaching because we all know that teaching and learning mustigo together. Actually, people can and do learn skills, knowledge, and attitudes on their own, this goes on all the time. All of you, everyone sitting in this room, is learning something new every day, independently, without help from anybody. We can and often do change our own behavior without help by reading, performing a task, following instruction in a manual, observing an object, attempt-5 ing by trial and error to duplicate it, and so forth. Since we' can learn on our own, then why do we have schools and teachers? Why not just let everybody do as we do so much of the time anyway? There are several reasons for having schools and teachers, but the most important is lack of enough time. Time is of the essence. Organized education exists because we don't have enough time. Given enough years in almost any health occupations department, in medical technology, say, if I walked around in a medical technology department for a number of years without anybody paying too much attention to me, eventually enough would rub off on me so that I could become a

medical technologist. That's the old pick-up method. True, it would take most of my working life to master it, but eventually I could do it.

Since we don't live forever, we have to make the most of the relatively short life span that is allotted, and this means that we must shorten the learning process. Well-organized and operated schools justify their cost (which is pretty considerable) by establishing the means by which students can achieve in minimal time the necessary occupational performance goals used for successful entry into and pursuit of their chosen occupation.

Teaching then, as I see it, is helping students to learn, or as we said earlier, to change their own behavior. You must always remember that as a teacher you cannot change the stur, dent's behavior for him, but you can help him to change it himself. A good teacher in a wellorganized school helps the student to learn more in less time with greater retention than he could if he were just left to his own devices. If the school and its teachers do not do this, then they-really cannot justify their existence because that's what they are there to do." Perhaps this idea seems, harsh and materialistic, but remember, we're living in a pretty tough world in which money spent for education is more critically scrutinized than other expenditures. Voters' are rejecting bond issues, universities' budgets are being cut, and I've heard this word "accountability" here a couple.of times, as well as "cost effectiveness," etc. In the business world there is a very common saying. "time is money." Even in education we have to make the most of every minute that we can.

In health occupations education, task-oriented instruction is aimed at attaining more learning in less time but with greater retention. The instructor's job then is to help the student to change his own behavior, i.e., to learn. And although it is hard work, it is much easier if you follow a systematic plan.

The system in task-oriented instruction consists of four steps which are basic in as much as they can be implemented by a great variety of techniques, instructional materials, audiovisual aids, and the like. They form the foundation of the Clinical Instructor Training Program which I have taught for a number of years in hospitals to help, clinicians improve their teaching on the job. I can't take time here to do more than quickly review the steps and their purposes.

Perhaps you think that the first thing to do would be to prepare what you'are going to teach. But that doesn't work because preparing what you are going to teach depends

AT:

on how you are going to teach it. So I have found that you need to establish the teaching technique, i.e., the four sets of instructions. The first of the four steps is the Preparation. prepare the learner by getting him to relax so that his ability to think and remember will not be impaired Then motivate him to want to learn by getting him interested in the task we want him to master.

This is a very critical aspect of all teaching, because it is here that we must get the learner to want to change his own behavior. To me, arousing interest in students is one of the most fascinating aspects of teaching because students are infinitely varied, and what works with one may not work with another. Explaining the task and its purpose is, of course, a first essential. Relating it to the welfare of the patient is the second one, and relating it to the student's own progress in mastering his occupation is the third. This is an aspect of teaching in which the only limitation is the pteacher's imagination and ingenuity, as well as the study of each individual student to see \*where the ignition key is located that will turn him on I have discovered that the ignition key is not located in the same place for any two students; but I have also found that an appeal to the desire to help other people in a hospital becomes a very powerful motivating factor.

In the "How to Instruct" reminder card that I use in Clinical Instructor Training, the Preparation Step is summarized as "put him at ease, find out what he knows about the job, get him interested in learning the job; and put him in the correct position to see and hear the job demonstrated."

The second of the four steps is the Presentation In this step the instructor presents the skill or knowledge of the task to the trainee after he has motivated him to want to learn. In presenting a skill, the most widely used method is for the instructor to demonstrate how the task is done and to explain the procedure one step at a time as he does it. This technique can be used on either an individual or small group basis, and the instructor's performance must be as perfect as possible.

It is in the Presentation Step that audio/visual aids are most useful to the instructor. A wellmade film of the task being demonstrated can be watched by one or more students, which relieves the instructor for other activities such as supervising other students who are learning to put into practice tasks they have seen demonstrated but need help and direction in actually doing them. The use of audio/visual materials in this way saves the instructor's time and increases his efficiency. However, to be 'effective in this way the materials have to be really well made, and unfortunately this is not always the case.

So, the Presentation Step is summarized as "tell, show, illustrate, one important step at a time, stress each key point, instruct clearly, completely, and patiently, but no more than \_ the student can master.

Next is the most important step of all, Application. Immediately following the Presentation Step in teaching a task, the instructor has the student do what he saw demonstrated while the instructor watches closely, corrects errors, and gives help as needed to try to have the student experience success on his first try ; if it is at all possible. I think this is a very important factor. The Application Step is where the student learns by doing. It is here that he develops good work habits from the very start. The instructor is needed and absolutely essential in this step. He can guide the learner to success in performance with the use of suggestions, questions, repeat demonstrations in difficult steps, encouragement, and the maintenance of a calm and easy atmosphere. The Application Step is summarized as "have him do the task, correct his errors, and have him do the task again as he explains each key point to you, ask questions to make sure he understands, have him repeat the task until you know that he knows."

FUILTEXC Provided by ERIC

21

? 7

The last of the four steps is the Test Step. This is a check on the trainee's ability to perform the task correctly and without help. It is a means by which the instructor can discover any weakness in his own teaching while there is still an opportunity to do remedial work to correct it. He is concerned first with determining the trainee's ability to perform by having him do the task without help and then judging the quality of the results. In effect, this is a performance test which is vital to taskoriented instruction. He is concerned secondly with the student's knowledge of the task's key points involving basic science and theory. He can evaluate this by means of an oral examination, observation, or clinical instruction. Oral questioning is what we encourage. Teachers simply don't have the time to write a good test, certainly they can use written questions if they have the time, or they can use other methods. When you do step four, the test, put the student on his own, with no help, ask questions about key points to find ou<del>t what is in</del> his head. Most important, praise good work and don't chew him out if he makes a mistake. Finally, re-instruct to correct errors.

Now, in summary, the four-step cycle of mstruction is the most effective technique that I have experienced to help learners leawn, i.e., to change their own behavior. It not only provides the basic system for carrying on instruction, it is flexible and easily adapted to many variations. Teaching aids should be evaluated carefully in terms of where they fit into this four-step pattern. When applying the four steps, the commonest error is to omit or neglect step three, the Application, which is vital to task-oriented instruction; without it, you aren't doing the job the way it should be done. There can be no learning without physical and mental activity. Learning by doing is the heart of the Application Step. This is where I pause when working with a group in a hospital in order to give them a kind of over-view of what it ds all about, although I don't go into the matter of "How to Get Ready to Instruct." (On your cards you'll see that one side is entitled "How

to Instruct" and the other side "How to Get Ready to Instruct.").

When I travel to teach my clinical instruction courses, I carry as little equipment as possible, I have learned to use a 5 x 8 card for much of my work. I never use projectors, but prefer to v do things as simply as I can, and I depend on easy little teaching devices to get the job done.

Now we will turn the card over and discuss "How to Get Ready to Instruct." This is where we teach how to analyze a task by breaking it down into two columns, i.e., placing the important steps in one column and the key point of knowledge needed to perform that task in 'the other column. I make it clear that this should not become a long, laborious job; it can be done on the back of armenvelope. The idea is really to get the students to think through the task. "What is the first thing to do, and what do you have to know to do it? What will you do next? What do you have to know to do that?"  $\checkmark$  tell them to use abbreviations. Don't write out big long sentences because you'll never read them and you haven't got time anyway. This is a note from yourself to yourself. You're not going to give this to the student. This is merely your guide to putting on the demonstration in step two. Keep this as simple as you conceivably can make it. It is extremely important that we make these clinical people become education-minded, which of course they are not when you first deal with them. They think' that teaching is some mysterious priesthood where caps and gowns are worn and everyone has a degree and a long row of letters after his name.

Clinical instructor training will go a long way, but don't go into a hospital and try to ramifit down their throats, or try to sell it as a panacea for all ills, or promise that it will be a lot of fun. But it will save them time and their mistakes. Less material will be ruined, and there will be savings in 50 different ways if a good job of instructing is done. And it doesn't take a lot of time. This is the most important factor of all.

22 🎖 🞖

Full Text Provided by ERIC

on how you are going to teach it. So I have found that you need to establish the teaching technique, i.e., the four sets of instructions. The first of the four steps is the Preparation. prepare the learner by getting him to relax so that his ability to think and remember will not be impaired. Then motivate him to want to learn by getting him interested in the task we want him to master.

This is a very critical aspect of all teaching, because it is here that we must get the learner, to want to change his own behavior. To me, arousing interest in students is one of the most fascinating aspects of teaching because students are infinitely varied, and what works with one may not work with another. Explaining the task and its purpose is, of course, a first essential. Relating it tomthe welfare of the patient is the second one, and relating it to the student's own progress in mastering his occupation is the third. This is an aspect of teaching in which the only limitation is the teacher's imagination and ingenuity, as well as the study of each individual student to see where the ignition key is located that will turn him on I have discovered that the ignition key is not located in the same place for any two students; but I have also found that an appeal to the desire to help other people in a hospital becomes a very powerful motivating factor.

In the "How to Instruct" reminder card that I use in Clinical Instructor Training, the Preparation Step is summarized as "put him at ease, find out what he knows about the job, get him interested in-learning the job, and put him in the correct position to see and hear the job demonstrated."

The second of the four steps is the Presentation. In this step the instructor presents the skill or knowledge of the task to the trainee after he has motivated him to want to learn. In presenting a skill, the most widely used method is for the instructor to demonstrate how the task is done and to explain the procedure one step at a time as he does it. This technique can be used on either an individual or small group basis, and the instructor's performance must be as perfect as possible.

It is in the Presentation Step that audio/visual aids are most useful to the instructor. A wellmade film of the task being demonstrated can be watched by one or more students, which relieves the instructor for other activities such as supervising other students who are learning to put into practice tasks they have seen demonstrated but need help and direction in actually doing them. The use of audio/visual materials in this way saves the instructor's time and increases his efficiency. However, to be effective in this way the materials have to be really well made, and unfortunately this is not always the case.

So, the Presentation Step is summarized as "tell, show, illustrate, one important step at a time; stress each key point, instruct clearly, completely, and patiently, but no more than the student can master.

Ł

Next is the most important step of all, Application. Immediately following the Presentation Step in teaching a task, the instructor has the student do what he saw demonstrated while the instructor watches closely, corrects errors, and gives help as needed to try to have the student experience success on his first try if it is at all possible. I think this is a very important factor. The Application Step is where the student learns by doing. It is here that he develops good work habits from the very start. The instructor is needed and absolutely essential in this step. He can guide the learner to success in performance with the use of suggestions, questions, repeat demonstrations in difficult steps, encouragement, and the maintenance of a calm and easy atmosphere. The Application Step is summarized as "have him do the task, correct his erfors, and have him do the task again as he explains each key point to you, ask questions to make sure he. understands, have him repeat the task until you know that he knows."

The last of the four steps is the Test Step. This is a check on the trainee's ability to perform the task correctly and without help. It is a means by which the instructor can discover any weakness in his own teaching while there. is still an opportunity to do remedial work to correct it. He is concerned first with determining the trainee's ability to perform by having him do the task without help and then judging the quality of the results. In effect, this is a performance test which is vital to taskoriented instruction. He is concerned secondly with the student's knowledge of the task's key points involving basic science and theory. He can evaluate this by means of an oral examination, observation, or clinical instruction. Oral questioning is what we encourage. Teachers simply don't have the time to write a good test, certainly they can use written questions if they have the time, or they can use other methods. When you do step four, the test, put the student on his own, with no help, ask questions about key points to find out what is in his head. Most important, praise good work and don't chew him out if he makes a mistake. Finally, re-instruct to correct errors.

Now, in summary, the four-step cycle of instruction is the most effective technique that [ have experienced to help learners learn, i.e., to change their own behavior. It not only provides the basic system for carrying on instruction, it is flexible and easily adapted to many variations. Teaching, aids should be evaluated carefully in terms of where they fit into this four-step pattern. When applying the four steps, the commonest error is to omit or neglect step three, the Application, which is vital to task-oriented instruction; without it, you aren't doing the job the way it should be done. There can be no learning without physical and mental activity. Learning by doing is the heart of the Application Step. This is where I pause , when working with a group in a hospital in order to give them a kind of over-view of what it is all about, although I don't go into the matter of "How to Get Ready to Instruct." (On your cards you'll see that one side is entitled "How

**?**?.

22

40

1

to Instruct" and the other side "How to Get Ready to Instruct.

When I travel to teach my clinical instruction courses, I carry as little equipment as possible, I have learned to use a 5 x 8 card for much of my work. I never use projectors, but prefer to do things as simply as I can, and I depend on easy little teaching devices to get the job done.

Now we will turn the card over and discuss "How to Get Ready to Instruct." This is where we teach how to analyze a task by breaking it down into two columns, i.e., placing the important steps in one column and the key point of knowledge needed to perform that task in the other column. I make it clear that this should not become a long, laborious job, it can be done on the back of an envelope. The idea is really to get the students to think through the task. "What is the first thing to do, and what do you have to know to do it? What will you do next? What do you have to know to do that?" I tell them to use abbreviations. Don't write out big long sentences because you'll never read them and you haven't got time anyway. This is a note from yourself to yourself. You're not going to give this to the student. This is merely your guide to putting on the demonstration in-step two. Keep this as simple as you conceivably can make it. It is extremely important that we make these clinical people become education-minded, which of course they are not when you first deal with them. They think that teaching is some mysterious priesthood where caps and gowns are worn and everyone has a degree and a long row of letters after his name.

Clinical instructor training will go a long way, but don't go into a hospital and try to ram it down their throats, or try to sell it as a panacea for all ills, or promise that it will be a lot of fun. But it will save them time and their mistakes. Less material will be ruined, and there will be savings in 50 different ways if a good job of instructing is done. And it doesn't take a lot of time. This is the most important factor of all.

## CAREER MODEL DEVELOPMENT AND A MODEL CURRICULUM: THE NURSING PROGRAM

Lucile A Wood, M.S., R.N.

During the years since the beginning of the UCLA project, great progress has been made in developing career mobility opportunities in nursing. In 1970, the National League for Nursing made an Open Curriculum Position Statement suggesting that all nursing education programs provide for career mobility. It also had some general beliefs about education programs for nursing that I think are important for all of us to think about today in the allied health fields, specifically that individuals who wish to change career goals should have an opportunity\*to do so. Educational opportunity should be provided for those who are interested in upward mobility without lowering the standards of the field. In any type of nursing program, opportunity should be provided to validate previous education and experience. Sound educational plans must be developed in order to avoid unsound projects or programs. There should be more effective guidance at all stages of student development. And, if projects and endeavors in this area are to be successful, nursing must accept the open curriculum process. The UCLA staff does accept the open curriculum process, students should have the opportunity to change career goals and continue their education throughout a life-time.

As late as 1973, the National League for Nursing published the Directory of Career Mobility Opportunities in Nursing Education. Of the total 2,687 nursing education programs, 55% have provisions for career mobility opportunities There are 1,377 programs which prepare for the RN license, 64% of the total programs offer mobility. Of the associate degree programs, 77% offer some form of advance placement or mobility, and 82% of the baccalaureate programs offer mobility. Of the "1,310 Practical Nurse programs, 37% report some method for career mobility. I think that is a pretty outstanding thing for nursing to have accomplished in a fairly short period of time.

For those of you who know very much about nursing, we are usually slow about changing, and we have been very traditional in our approach to practically everything. For myself, however, I have done pretty well in changing in most areas. I finally was able to wear pant suits at work, and that was really very hard for me to do! I have changed quite a bit but there are still some things that I cannot give up, and I think that is probably true with many nurses. But, I believe that the nursing influence and the nursing input at the UCLA project really broadened the rest of, the staff.

In my travels across the country I have found many nursing educators seeking positive methods for their graduates to continue in career opportunities. However, there still seems to be some reluctance to look at the entry point of their respective curricula. It does appear from the NLN directory, that most of the RN programs are rapidly making progress to provide career mobility opportunities. It seems to me that there is a paradox here. Faculties are actively seeking ways for their graduates to proceed in a career ladder, but some faculty members still have blinders on when someone

ERIC.

,41

comes knocking on their door. We really don't seem to be very trusting of one another, do we? Unfortunately, it is the student who' is caught in the crossfire.

There are a variety of career mobility patterns in nursing that are now being utilized. Probably the most common one is credit by examination, or challenge exams. The multiple exit programs with entry and exit, re-entry into the field, and exit again are usually within one institution. There are some cooperative efforts in existence, and undoubtedly more will evolve with the continuing efforts of all of us to economize in the use of faculty, supplies and equipment, educational institutions, etc.

There are also the specialized programs which admit already licensed nurses, e.g., LPN's who can get their RN license within a one-year period or RN's who may be admitted to the baccalaureate program. And then, of course, , we have the external degree program currently being offered in New York. This program emphasizes the demonstrated skill and knowledge of the practitioner regardless of where or how it was attained. In other words, they are trusting that you can, in fact, learn something out, side of the classroom and the educational institution.

In the 1960's, with our emphasis placed on credentials, we put unrealistic burdens on the educational institutions to prepare practitioners in addition to pushing job qualifications far beyond those needed to do a. job. It is not possible for everyone in an organization to be prepared for the top level job. In actuality very few top jobs exist. In addition, those with credentials become disenchanted very quickly with the so-called lower jobs and frequently become the troublemakers for the employer. Can we provide selfactualization for the bulk of jobs in the health" field? I believe we can if we permit and encourage life-long continuing education so that the highest quality service can be given to our patients while at the same time permitting the learner to extend his sphere of understanding.

FRÍC

42 24.

Before I begin a description of the function of the career model, I would like to briefly review the UCLA Allied Health Professions Project, I know you talked about this yesterday but I just want to recap it quickly for you. The project was funded for four years by the U.S. Office of Education. It began operations in August, 1968. The project was administered through UCLA's Division of Vocational Education, and the main thrust of the project was directed toward curriculum research and development in 18 allied health occupations. Nursing was one occupation researched and probably the most important one.

The project also had a secondary school demonstration program which provided tenth grade students with an introduction to the . health field. During the eleventh and twelfth grades, these students selected the occupations they were most interested in. Classes and laboratory practice in a clinical setting were offered on a regular basis, and, at 🛓 the completion of the twelfth grade, these students had the possibility of completing the entry level curriculum in their chosen field. They were, therefore, equipped with a salable skill on the job market. As an alternative they could continue with their education at the second step of their occupational curriculum in a post-secondary program withough the re-search grant has completed its four years of effort, many high schools throughout the country are still utilizing some of the tools and concepts developed on the project. But you will be hearing more about that aspect of the project on Friday.

Returning to the major thrust of our project, the curriculum for each of the 18 occupations was built on national occupation survey data with four main objectives. 1) development of curricula in health related fields, 2) consideration of core curricula, 3) consideration of career ladders or lattice, and 4) development of instructional materials.

The project methodology followed ten basic steps which were. 1) identification of all tasks,

skills, or activities in a functional area, 2) verification of these tasks through a national field survey, 3) determination of the process used in performing these tasks as well as the knowledge and skills needed for satistactory performance, 4) development of behavioral objectives or performance goals, 5) development of curricula which will include career ladder concepts, continuing education capability, obtainment of degree objectives, and transferability of credit, 6) development of innovative instructional materials based on a modular concept leading to a core curriculum; 7) testing the instructional materials in the field, 8) evaluation of the instructional materials and revisions as needed based on the feedback' from the students and the faculty (on the entry level nursing instructional units, we had 23 testing sites using our material and we were able to do several revisions before they were sent to the publisher), 9) production of the materials, and 10) the distribution of materials.

The entry level nursing curriculum which was developed on the project is being distributed by W B Saunders in volumes one and two, *Nursing Skills* for Allied Health Services. Volume three of the text should be distributed by them in the late summer.

Our national nursing survey revealed that 60% of all the functions designated in our survey instrument were performed by everyone in nursing-that is, the nurse aide, the LPN, and the RN These skills are readily recognizable as essentially the fundamentals of nursing. The instructional materials that were developed from the occupational analysis include not only important steps in the performance of each skill, but each step is amplified by key points that clarify the important steps. In addition, related anatomical and biological principles and miche biological concepts, communications skills, legal, ethical and safety guidelines, as well as elementary problem solving approaches are incorporated.

The 36 instructional units which eventually were published as *Nursing Skills for Allied Health Services* have been adopted by all types of schools of nursing, e.g., LPN, associate, diploma, and baccalaureate programs. In addition, extended care facilities and acute care facilities are using these text, books as procedure books. From these statements you can see that it is possible to develop some standardization in the performance of the basic nursing skills as well as a core curriculum concept which could then serve as a base for mobility.

You may be interested to know why the title of the book was selected. We actually had a little office contest. This was the first book we had to name and we had all kinds of suggestions including The Sensuous Nurse (because at that time The Sensuous Man or The Sensuous Woman had just come out), Anyway, we had very snazzy titles, and, being the sedate people we were, we thought that we had better be a little careful about our final choice. Since our project was called the Allied Health Professions Project, it seemed that it would be fitting to have that in the title of the book. But also, as we worked on the project we found that many of the skills and the instructional units that were incorporated into the nursing curriculum were, in fact, skills that should be incorporated into other allied health curricula, e.g., hand washing for medical asepsis, ethics, legal guidelines, body movement, balarice and alignment, isolation techniques, vital signs, etc. And as we discussed the project, we found that practitioners in the laboratory, respiratory therapy, radiology, or medicine simply did not have these kinds of topics covered in their curricula. And, of course, they are vitally important in terms of patient care and also for one's own personal health care. So quite a number of the units in the first two volumes are, in fact, incorporated in some of the other educational curricula---in laboratory, respiratory therapy, the health careers programs in the high schools, etc.

The close working relationship among the AHPP staff demonstrated clearly that each of us benefitted by the input from the other allied health professionals. We found that by working together we extended the knowledge and skills each of us brought to the project in many diverse ways which were unexpected, challenging, and motivating. In fact, many of us who have left the project are implementing these same concepts in our present settings. We had a unique staff that got along tremendously well together.

To return to the nursing survey, we found that the next 28% of the skills beyond the initial 60% were more complex skills such as sterile techniques, giving of medications, assisting with somatic therapy, assisting with various treatments and examinations, the identification of patient needs, the interpretations of sights and symptoms, teaching of simple health measures and procedures, and selecting the best approaches to patient care. These 28% were done by the RN/LPN combination. The remaining 12% of the activities identified in our national survey that were described as strictly within the purview of the RN were, the administrative techniques of planning patient care, assigning personnel, evaluating the quality of patient care and employee performance and making appropriate adjustmentin both of those areas, teaching programs for patients and employees, and complex nursing skills. There were only six skills which the LPN's were not able to do and those skills remained exclusively within the RN realm. They included the following: the administration of vital medications and blood transfusions, reading of fetal monitoring devices, reading cardiac monitoring devices, reading of skin tests, tracheal suctioning, and the insertion of hasal gastric tubes.

At recent workshops in which I have participated, nurses from the various states continue to validate the results of our 1969 survey. However, in the last two years, phave found that the LPN is using almost all of the skills which were originally identified as strictly within the RN purview. Yet we continue to prepare these nurses in various programs—LPN, associate, diploma, and baccalaureate programs. This is a paradox to me and to many others.

tn 1972, the Educational Projects Incorporated, Allied Health Professions Project in Pittsburgh validated the UCLA AHPP nursing occupational analysis with only minor variations. The report stated that in 1972 nursing was in a period of transition. For those of us involved directly in nursing reducation and nursing service, this seems to be the understatement of the decade! However, progress is s being made as outlined in the National Commission for Nursing and Nursing Education's Implementation Report-"From Abstract into Action," and in the recent NLN publication Directory of Career Mobility Opportunities in Nursing Education. The latter report demonstrates that more than one-half of the schools of nursing in the country already are providing career mobility opportunity, and much of this can be attributed to legislation within the states which has been the direct result of societal unrest generated toward the educational institutions during the 1960's. I know that in California we had extreme problems with the legislature telling us what we were going to be doing in nursing education long before the educators were ready to work on the problems, which then created its own set of problems for us.

During the 1960's there developed an overreliance on credentials which ultimately pushed job qualifications completely out of line with actual knowledge and skills required for the job to be done. This not only burdened the educational institutions but gave students an unrealistic view of what the piece of paper or "the union card" could do for them throughout life. The belief was that when we got that piece of paper, we were set. Well, unfortunately, that doesn't happen to be the

case In the late 1960's, employers began to have second thoughts about the credentialled employee That is, the credentialled individual had lots of knowledge but not necessarily the skills required for the job. This was costly for the employer in providing extended training to prepare the workers for their jobs. In addition, the over-educated employee often became bored with his job which resulted in low morale, poor work performance, and high labor turnover-all costly for the employer, the employee, and ultimately you and me, the consumers. That is why the focus that the UCLA staff put on ability to perform seems to be a great merit in curriculum constructions. That is, we did the occupational survey to determine exactly what it was that people were expected to do on the job, and then we developed the building blocks of the eurriculum thereby teaching the students how to perform the essential skills until the stated criterion was achieved. In addition, we incorporated not only knowledge that was critical for correct job performance but general and "nice to know" information within the time parameters established by the faculty. In other words, your time frame is the only limit to how much you can put into the curriculum; you can put in as much as you'have time to do. In this way we involve the learner very early in the educational curriculum by having him put to use his newly learned knowledge and skills in the field of his choice. We also provide a sound scientific basis for continuation in the career plan of his choice.

Perhaps if I discuss here the curriculum plan for nursing, the previous statements will become a little clearer. Although I'm talking primarily about nursing, I will endeavor to demonstrate the applicability of the model to other health disciplines. Since this is a "functional model," I have defined function as the entire range of nursing activities and their consequences which relate to helping an individual patient, student, or practitioner establish an optimal relationship with the surrounding environment. The model includes not only the fundamental nursing skills that are reflected in our national survey, but also a moderate amount of related technical information in the physical and biological sciences along with a minimal amount of general knowledge.

In the beginning stage of the curriculum, most of the material is skills-based; there is very little technical or theoretical knowledge. As we proceed through the nursing curriculum, however, you will find that there are fewer new skills to be learned but much more knowledge to be retained. During stage one, the beginning practitioner has the opportunity to learn and practice the nursing skills until a moderate, competence is achieved. In our initial testing program, the time required to complete this part of the program varied from six to twelve weeks, forty hours a week. This time included class instruction, practice, and clinical assignments. Most of our test faculties and students. agreed that an eight-week program, or roughly 320 hours, was minimal to accomplish all of these activities.

This first stage of the model was built on the AHPP's information which indicated that 60% of all the activities are common to all nursing practitioners, i.e., the nurse aide, the LPN, and the RN. In the registered nursing programs (associate, diploma, and baccalaureate programs) there is quite a variation in the amount of clinical time that students receive in the field. If they have twelve hours of clinical time per week in the field for 50 weeks a year, you are talking about a total of 600 hours in the clinical area or 15 weeks in the year!

Now let me clue you in to what happened when I was a student in a diploma program in the 1940's. At that time it was a 50-week program, we had two weeks vacation a year. We worked eight hours a day, six days a week, and we had classes in addition to the work. Now, in terms of the amount of information we had

to learn, you know it really wasn very much. What we have done over the years is to decrease the time needed in the curriculum and yet we have at least fifty times more information to get into that shortened time span. One of the major things that has been cut out of all the nursing programs is the clinical practice, and I know of no exceptions. It is fine to have the information, but you must put it to use! I switch between education and service periodically so I can see what service or education is doing. When I think education is not doing what I think it should, I go over and straighten it out, and then I come back and see what the service end is doing. I try to utilize the best of both worlds.

I'm really very disturbed with the kind of practice, that nurses are giving throughout the country and the kind of care the patients are receiving. I do think that it can be improved. I think we can, in fact, give nursing care like we did in the old days but really give a better quality care because we have a lot of theories behind us now which enable us to know what we are doing and why, and we can adapt alternatives to meet each patient's needs. So I'm back in nursing service to prove that we can do just that.

One of the major problems employers are, having now with new nursing personnel is their lack of ability to perform basic nursing skills. Stage one, as described earlier, would permit the learners sufficient time to become moderately competent in these skills. In practice, we have found that the more time students spend with patients, the more they see their own lack of knowledge and skills, they then become motivated to learn more so that better patient care can be given.

It was really sort of interesting to view the results of our initial testing procedures with the nurse aide program at St. John's Hospital in Santa Monica, California. They had always had an eight-week training program for their nurse aides, but they agreed to take our instructional materials and use them one time to see if the materials would work. We did not tell any of the staff of the nursing units that we were making changes, we simply made the changes in the classroom. And, of course, the students did not know there were changes. What happened was very interesting. The students very quickly were involved in nursing care. They were asking all kinds of questions about why they couldn't do certain things for their patients (they were very limited in the beging ning in the kinds of care they could give and what patients they could have assigned to them). The students did a tremendous amount of outside reading. Before long the nurse aides the were working with on the floor who had come brough previous programs asked the instructors what they were doing differently because these students had so much more information. The supervisors were extremely pleased because the students were looking for additional work to do, and they were not satisfied with just telling one of the RN's that somebody's temperature was high, they waited until the RN actually took some action about it, which was quite a different kind of thing from what most aides generally were doing And so they found that the students were very eager to learn more.

We found this to be true in our secondary school project, too, where the students gained more knowledge and began providing direct care to patients. They soon found that they really did not know very much and that they had an awfully long way to go, and this pushed the students to do extra reading. I think we probably do not give individuals enough credit for self-motivation. We just have to give them an opportunity to see what they need to learn and then, of course, put them into a structured program with a good faculty that can lead the student along.

Research studies with new graduates from various schools of nursing programs repeatedly describe their dissatisfaction with the low level of performance in nursing skills. The educators know this, the students know this, certainly nursing service employers know this. Nursing service employers have been upset for many years about the lack of ability of new graduates to give care. With the approach we have developed at UCLA, we feel we can do something constructive about improving the quality of care given patients.

Stage two of the functional model would prepare what I choose to call the basic nurse practitioner Included in this block of, the curriculum is the remaining 40% of the activities identified in the project-that is, the 28% that were the RN/LPN combination and the 12% that were, in fact, identified for the RN only I combined these activities because it seemed like the logical thing to do at the time (early 1971). Also, I have had an opportunity to do conferences around the country and I am finding that the LPN is, in fact, doing everything the RN is doing. Obviously, they don't have the theoretical background, but a lot of these people have done a considerable amount of self-learning. They are really motivated and some of them are very fine practitioners as well.

Stage two encompasses some pretty complex nursing skills and beginning theoretical development in relation to human function, combining the theory of practice and problem solving, decision making, and communication skills as well as administrative and teaching skills. From the proposed model, for stage two I see the possibility of blending the strengths of the present LPN, associate degree, diploma, and, in some instances, baccalaureate curricula to develop a competent basic nurse practitioner , who can function efficiently.

Now let me explain this further. The LPN is a licensed nurse who has generally completed twelve months of experience in giving bedside care in addition, their courses give a reasonable introduction to the various scientific subjects. The Associate Degree Nurse (ADN) has two years experience in the academic setting. This program provides moderate opportunities

to give bedside care, usually no more than 20 hours a week during the semester. In addition, these students become oriented to the academic setting by obtaining the scientific knowledge required for their nursing subjects plus their general education courses which are required to get the associate of arts degree. It gives students an opportunity to see how other students function within the educational institution. This program also gives its graduates a big boost if they elect to continue in the academic field and obtain additional degrees. On the other hand, the diploma nurse usually evolves a close identity with her training setting which is shared with the staff working in the service setting, their pride in their service really develops close working cooperation. Often many of these graduates remain with their own home school.

In the early days of the diploma program the priority for giving nursing care was favored in some instances in place of the education of the nurse. And I can certainly say that was true when I was a student. We knew, this as exploitation of the student for the benefit of the hospital. There were some bad things about. that practice, but there were also some advantages. Today most diploma programs have come close to holding the same tenets as their peer programs housed in academic institutions which provide students with an educational opportunity. Thus, it seems to me that the bedside competence of the LPN, the opportunity to identify with an educational institution as seen in the ADN program, and the shared identity of the hospital/school diploma program should be valued components of any nursing program.

If the basic nurse practitioner, and you will notice that I have stayed away from all of the familiar job titles, should become stage two of the nursing career sequence, then it would be necessary to require only one nurse practitioner license. This would help eliminate the disagreements within nursing over the "technical" and "professional" as well as the other licensing titles in nursing. In any of the jobs that we do, there are some elements of technical work and there are some elements of professional work. Those words really have created many barriers in nursing, and I would like to see then dropped from the vocabulary. It the nurse practitioner elects to move in a career sequence, it should be because he or she wants to change functions.

2

Stage three of the model would provide the beginning skills and knowledge needed to teach, administer, practice, or consult in a speciality area. In addition to increased theory in the speciality, the students would acquire knowledge of basic administrative and educational methodology which would prepare these graduates to be employed as beginning. faculty for the entry level and nurse practitioner program—that is, stages one and two of the career model or the beginning administrative positions in health agencies.

In the time taken to attain it, the present baccalaureate degree may be comparable to the proposed stage three. However, it is not at all certain that two years will be needed to complete this phase. If our aim is to prepare a nursè tè function at a certain level, a degree may or may not be necessary. This matter continues to be questionable. As a case in point, at the completion of stage two, the graduate may desire to take one of several courses to increase knowledge and skills in a specific area, for example, critical care nursing, respiratory therapy, family health practice, genatric nurse practice, pediatric nurse assistant or associate, etc. These courses, as you know, vary in length from four weeks to. two years and thus could result in certification or recognition apart from the academic' degree. This recognition could be given through an Academy of Nursing as proposed in the Commission Report and which has now been established. If the academic degree is desired in addition, then the practitioner would have to meet the institution's academic requirements, too.\*

In a current nursing journal, I noted that over

1,000 nurse practitioners have now been prepared and are organizing in special interest groups for recognition and continued education. So the practitioner programs have really sprung up all over the country and lots of nurses are involved in them. In fact, current. research does not seem to demonstrate a great difference in the varying basic preparations of the experienced nurse --- the associate, dibloma, or baccalaureate — in their ability to become competent nurse practitioners from any one of the current programs, e.g., pediatric, geriatric, or family health. In other words, I'm saying that it really does not seem to make any difference whether you have an associate, a diploma, or a baccalaureate degree when you continue in the practitioner programs, all three of these are seemingly equally successful. The research finds that the RN's with experience and personal motivation can successfully complete the practitioner programs of their choice regardless of their basic preparation.

In the past we have been trying to upgrade nursing, and I believe we need to do this as much as anybody. I think the complete emphasis on the piece of paper is the wrong approach. It is very important for some people to have an academic degree in their own right, but it is not important for other people. Lithink we need to recognize that fact.

On the employer's side of the fence, with the state and federal governments and third party taxpayers looking very critically at cost effectiveness programs within health agencies, it is going to become much more expedient to hire those practitioners who have the knowledge and skills needed to do the job rather than hire the expensive academically oriented staff to do the routine work. In the future, employers will be hiring the highly skilled and educated practitioners for certain positions, but these positions will entail functions which cannot be done by the lesser prepared. In other words, there is going to have to be a definite change in the function of people who acquire academic degrees.



30

Quality assurance programs based on stated performance criteria\_and utilization tools which are being recommended by licensing and accrediting agencies will mandate a closer working relationship between the employers and educators and future allied health practitioners. Workers will have to perform the stated functions to criterion levels established in the agency, and, therefore, the educators are going to have to prepare workers that can be functional in the health field. I think there is great evidence in the country that service and education are in fact beginning to talk together. In some places this is better than in others If we don't do it ourselves, then it will be done for us from the outside. It seems to me that we should be the ones to take the bit in our mouth and run with it.

Stage four of the model would prepare the teaching faculties for the stage two, three, and four programs as well as preparing administrative personnel for large medical centers and health'agencies. Beginning research methodology would be offered at this point in the curriculum. I believe this is necessary to enable stage four graduates to be strong supporters of research in nursing, and they would also assist in identifying clinical nursing problems for research. The curriculum at this stage would be of an advanced, academic nature covering teaching and administrative techniques that could be applied specifically to the areas of nursing education and administration. In other words, stage four of the curriculum would not, at this time, include high level nursing theory. However, there certainly would be a strong possibility of that in the near future when the fifth stage of the model could be fully implemented.

Stage five of the model should prepare the nurse researchers and would be on the level with the present doctoral degrees. The functions of these graduates would be to expend their efforts on research in order to assist in the development of a scientific body of nursing knowledge. Although nursing research and the development of nursing's own body of knowledge is the major limitation to our "professional stature," many changes are, in fact, occurring in nursing research. We now have over 1,000 nurses who have doctorates and many more are enrolled in doctoral studies. Nursing research is now dealing with the effects of specific nursing care on the recovery of the patient.

We are beginning to document with nursing research some of the beliefs about nursing care that many experienced nurses have had over the decades because they found that their techniques were successful after using them on their patients. Until they were documented by research study, certain practices had been guided simply by feelings or hunches of the nurse. These successful treatment programs were rarely passed along; they were gained with experience in nursing, if they were gained at all. So the basic research in terms of clinical nursing really will help us improve the quality of care.

The clinical nursing knowledge that we can obtain from nursing research will not only provide a higher and more consistent quality of nursing care; but it will assist us in establishing standard care plans by which practitioners can be evaluated. And that is what the whole game 'is about. On the nursing service side of the game is the Joint Commission for the Ac- creditation of Hospitals (JCAH) which is now setting up standards of performance. Nursing personnel must be able to demonstrate a change in patient care in order to become accredited. This provides a tremendous challenge"for nursing service people to get with it in terms of performance objectives and behavioral goals and so on.

I see this model as being a sound method for developing nurse practitioners who would assure competent nursing care in any health setting. More importantly, each successive stage would include increasing and cumulative competencies in nursing practice, decision

. 8

ERIC FullText Provided by ERIC making, and problem solving, as well as administration, communications, and teaching skills. In every position that a nurse holds, she really has to be an administrator of some sort and she does have to have some teaching skills/And; in general, these kinds of skills are not taught to nurses to the degree that they need to be taught.

Let me briefly review the stages of the model based on function that I have outlined for you and give you my estimation of percentages of representation in the nurse population. When I originally prepared the model we had about 200,000 people working in the field of nursing. My predictions are based on that figure. As you recall, stage one would prepare the entry level nursing practitioner in the fundamental skills, so this group would comprise about 25% of the total population. Stage two would prepare the basic nurse practitioner who would carry the bulk of the direct nursing service to the patient. Stage two would prepare about 50% of the work (orce, so these two stages together would be taking care of about 75% of the nursing force. The size of this group might be increased in the years to come as our delivery of health services changes, which I believe is a real possibility with such a flexible, open-ended model as I presented here.

It would be difficult to alter my views on the composition of the first two stages. However, I could be persuaded to change any or all of my views on stages three, four, and five upon the presentation of comparable data. We have not done any research yet at the three, four, and five levels, and thus my ideas for the model are as good as anybody else's.

Stage three of the model would prepare the beginning nurse educator, administrator, practitioner, or consultant in the specialty area. This group would comprise 15% of the work force. Stage four would prepare the teaching faculties for the mid-level and graduate educational programs as well as preparing nurse administrators for large medical centers and health agencies. Nine percent of the nurse population would be needed to fill these key positions. Stage five would prepare the nurse researcher. If 1% of the total nursing population could be involved in nursing research, we could expect to see a vast improvement in clinical practices in the next two decades.

I believe that this model provides for creativity and flexibility based upon local, state, regional, or national needs. It provides the mechanism to easily drop activities and content that are obsolete as well as providing an easy method for adding new content when appropriate. As I have worked with nurses around the country, I 'have become convinced that there is much more commonality among us than there are differences. As a member of the UCLA Allied Health Professions Project, I had a unique opportunity to see an overview of nursing that few in the field ever have. I urge all nursing educators, and all health educators for that matter, to guard against tunnel vision from your own little perch. Do not laugh at of discard unusual approaches to developing alternative learning opportunities. Keep an open mind. Take on all comers, tally the results, and obtain the best solutions for your purposes.

In the model presented, no reference has been made to the educational settings. Diversity is the concept to be developed. The final report of the Commission on Non-Traditional Study, *Diversity by Design*, makes many recommendations for action for the educational setting such as providing life-long learning opportunities, not only basic but continuing and recurrent programs, and a shift in emphasis for academic settings from degree granting to giving service to the learner. The report recommends greater utilization of existing and newly developed non-traditional forms of education and materials, and the development of agencies to keep and disseminate student credits and to provide creditable counseling when needed by the learner. The various nontraditional and traditional education programs should not be seen as entirely separate entities, efforts should be made to make them interchangeable. This could be done and standards and objectives could be developed which could be utilized to prepare the practitioner in his field of endeavor regardless of the setting.

Broad support and encouragement have been given to non-traditional study efforts, so much so that they have been incorporated into the law as the Educational Amendments of 1972 to the Higher Education Acts of 1965. These amendments propose improving secondary education by providing assistance to educational institutions and agencies for the following purposes. 1) encouraging the reform; innovation, and improvement of postsecondary education, and providing equal reducational opportunity for all, 2) the creation of institutions and programs involving new paths to career and professional training and new combinations of experiential learning, 3) the establishment of institutions and programs based on the technology of communications; 4) the carrying out in postsecondary educational institutions of changes in internal structure and operations designed to clarify institutional priorities and purposes, 5) the design and introduction of cost effective methods of instruction and operations, 6) the introduction of institutional reforms designed to expand individual opportunities for entering and re-entering institutions and pursuing programs of study tailored to individual needs; 7) the introduction of reforms in graduate education, in the structure of academic professions, and in the recruitment and retention of faculty, 8) the creation of good institutions and programs for examining and awarding credentials to individuals and the introduction of reforms in current educational practices related thereto. So there is a lot of emphasis on non-traditional approaches.

Another and considerably more complex

problem that must be worked out is the transferability of credit from one setting to another. A workable solution to this one problem alone would serve to speed up the preparation of nursing practitioners needed to meet our increasing health requirements. Nurses representing all types of nursing programs in New, Mexico have been sitting down together and establishing entrance requirements' for each level program so that their graduates will be accepted in the next step of the career ladder. In addition, together they have worked out statements describing the graduates df each, program. In this way they are attempting to delineate the differences among the practitioners so that all types of nursing programs are not in fact producing identical nurses. As I worked with the nurses in New Mexico, we found that the LPN's were doing much the same thing as RN's were doing. And t faculties were so pushed trying to get all the required information into a one-year program that they really didn't know how they were going to do more. So we gave all of the nursing educators an opportunity to look at and listen to the various nursing programs and the contents and problems of each. They have selected the contents to be given at each level of the nursing curriculum, and they have also decided who will teach what content so that they could begin to develop the content itself. Completion of one level in the nursing career sequence will permit total acceptance at the next level as the student wants to progress.

It is possible for nurses to get together to work out some of their differences as you provide the career mobility. These have been agonizingly difficult tasks, but the nurses in New Mexico have become more knowledgeable about each other's programs and they are now more willing to compromise some of their cherished precepts for the greater good. Every one of us here today will have to compromise some of our cherished precepts. Similar activities are underway in other states, and most of the efforts are being documented in various reports and papers. 4

There is a natural evolution in most of the programs, but not in all of them. This certainly makes it necessary for each of the health occupations to look at what it is doing and to provide opportunities for career mobility. For example, in medical laboratories, stage one is the lab assistant, stage two is the medical technician, stage three is the medical technologist, stage four is the medical technologist administrator, consultant, or teacher, and in stage five we would have the researchers in medical technology. I know that some of these areas do not exist, but why don't they? Thisseems like an appropriate approach.

The model can also be applied to respiratory therapy. I have had a terribly difficult time with that field because on the project it was called Inhalation Therapy and the national organization has changed the name to Respiratory Therapy. So, anyway, we are talking about respiratory therapy aides for stage one, respiratory therapy technicians for stage two, the respiratory therapy technologist for stage three, the administrator, consultant, or teacher for stage four, and stage five again would be the researcher. (And there certainly needs to be a lot of research done in the field of respiratory therapy.) Then I took it upon myself to apply this model to the physicians. At this point we would probably eliminate stage one for the physicians, but stage two would be the physician assistant that we are hearing so much about now. Stage three would be the MD in the specialty, area. Stage four would be the MD with advanced information in a specialty and he would be an instructor in a medical school or an administrator in a health agency. Now, why in the world physicians believe they can teach and administer when they have not had any of this training in their background is beyond me! And then MD's for stage five would be in research. This seems to' be a logical sequence for MD's as well as for everyone else.

I even applied this model to dentistry. Stage one would be the dental fechnician or the dental assistant, stage two, the dental hygienist, stage three, the dentist, stage four, the administrator, consultant, or instructor, and stage five, the dental researcher. It really falls right into line for every one of the health occupations, and it gives you some direction for moving in a career ladder.

# THE COOPERATIVE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE SOUTH DAKOTA STATEWIDE CORE CURRICULUM PROJECT AND THE UCLA ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS PROJECT

Donald G. Brekke, B.Ş.

For quite a number of years now there has been a lot of talk about the need to develop a 'core curriculum in the health occupations, but very little has been done about this need. In South Dakota, we decided that rather than try to develop a core in one selected area we would go into all the health occupations training programs that we had in our state.

I think that I should give you a brief background into how the project came into being and tell you about some of the people who really had foresight to try to develop something like this. Our state, as you know, is very rural with the exception of about four communities, and even they are still quite rural; so we do have a rural problem. We have one physician for every 1,262 people as compared to the national average which is one physician for every 608 people. We have 17 counties in our state that do not have a physician. We also have 21 counties that do not even have a hospital, and our counties are quite large.

In 1967, Dr. Robert Hayes, Secretary of the State Department of Health (at that time Dr. Hayes was the director of the South Dakota Regional Medical Program) decided that something had to be done in the area of health manpower to try to meet future demands to provide more trained personnel and alleviate those problems caused by maldistribution of personnel. Dr. Hayes worked out an agreement with the State Department of Health and Comprehensive Health Planning (CHP) to pool their efforts and some-of their resources to bring on board someone to work in the area as a Coordinator of Health Manpower Development Programs. The title was very long and the job description was about five pages. The hope was that work could begin on a core curriculum in health occupations.

In 1970, they actually created the Coordinator position, but they needed money for it so they obtained the funds half from CHP, half from RMP. At that time there was still not a core curriculum project so they came to me and asked if I would be the Coordinator of Health Manpower Development Programs and Project Director for the core curriculum program. Our funds for the main parts of this particular project come from the old Bureau of Health Manpower Education now called the Bureau of Health Resources Development (BHRD) at NIH. We have always worked directly with Dr. Gunnar Sydow, Director, Division of Health Resources Development, DHEW, Denver. The State Department of Health of South Dakota puts money into the project as do Comprehensive Health Planning and the Regional Medical Program, but the two major sources of funding are the Bureau of Health Resources and the Regional Medical Program.

Another thing that we are doing at this time is conducting a study on health manpower in the state and assessing the needs, the resources, and the services. No one has really ascertained where the needs are, yet we are all training new people and starting new programs.

In the fall of  $1972_{4}$ , we went to the Governor's office to talk to him and ask if we could have



an individual from his office who had been involved with us in core curriculum projects. The Governor's office agreed that he could work with us on the project as long as he would be available to do certain things within his other duties. Thus, Dr. Wayne Glidseth came on board with us and last summer we made him the Associate Director of the project. He is responsible for the major portion of the progress that has been made today.

At this time in South Dakota we have approximately 87 health manpower training/education programs. The 87 programs that I mentioned here do not include the college preparatory programs for medical education in premedicine, pre-dentistry, pre-optometry, preveterinary medicine, etc., or the four-year, school of medicine that we have now. However, the medical school is represented in our project. Each and every one of the 87 health manpower programs is involved in the core curriculum project. These programs exist in 31 institutions in the state that prepare health manpower personnel. We say that an institution is any facility offering an accredited, health manpower training education program. They are located in vocational/technical schools, hospital-based programs, two- and four-year colleges and universities, and proprietary schools. We have 14 colleges in our state and for some reason two of them don't have any health programs, but next week they probably will ask for one!

Just two weeks ago the state legislature passed legislation which approved and funded a fouryear degree-granting medical school. Many of us felt that this was long overdue and we feel now that the medical school could serve as the major resource for continuing health education across the state.

We feel that it is unnecessary to have the duplication that is offered in many programs—that, wherever possible, the community educational and health resources should be shared and state-wide planning by health education leaders should be en-

54 <u>36</u>

couraged. I think what needs to be done is for each of you to get together with the people in your state who make the decisions in health—not just in health education but in health services, health planning, and in implementation of programs. In most places these individuals are the state health officer (the Secretary of Health, Commissioner, or whatever you call him), the Comprehensive Health Planning Agency, and the Regional Medical Programs which could be a great resource for all health education across the country.

Another thing that we found early in the project was that you have to get involved with the leaders in education. In addition to each of the health manpower training and education programs in the state, we brought in people from all of the health professional organizations and got them involved in the project. It is easier to have them involved and working with you than to try to present it to them later. We also made sure that we had representation from the State Board of Regents, the state legislature, the Governor's office, the university systems, and the people who make the degisions in vocational education.

Now to the purpose of the project itself. The major goal or objective of the core curriculum project is to design a single or multi-facted core of educational material which will serve as mány of the health educational programs in South Dakota as possible. Based upon this core, it is further desired to provide opportunities for lateral and vertical mobility for the students. Side issues that are involved in the project include the transfer of credits and/or experience, challenge examination possibilities, standardized performance examinations, the development of educational materials, and continuing education possibilities. In general, \* the core project is concerned with health manpower training, recruitment, and distribution. However, the development of the core and related activities has been done in full cooperation with the health manpower training/education programs in the state and with the health manpower task force composed of



the people that I mentioned earlier who are representative of all the health manpower training/education programs as well as organizations, agencies, professional and student associations also involved with health. In fact, we're so liberal, if someone thinks they ought to be involved we say, "Fine, come and join us."

The rationale behind initiating the cooperative relationship between the UCLA and the South Dakota core projects was that, after a review of the literature and especially after visiting the UCLA people, it became apparent the UCLA Allied Health Professions Project was actually doing more than anyone else we knew about in developing task inventories of what each health worker would be expected to do on the job. We also agreed that before we would develop the core curriculum, it must be clear to the instructors involved what the individual would be expected to do once he was on the - job We thought the curriculum could be designed to teach the knowledge and skills required to perform the tasks on that job. So I guess it was rather a natural thing that the two projects would get together.

In South Dakota, we had a major 3-day workshop back in September, 1972. We had over 100 people in attendance, most of whom were, health educators. We limited attendance to one representative for each of the health manpower training programs because we just couldn't handle anything larger. We also had representatives from all the agencies that had anything to do with health in the state plus. people from some of the federal offices. Miles Anderson, Tom Freeland, Lucy Wood, and Howard Taub, of the UCŁA Allied Health Professions Project, came out and conducted a very successful workshop entitled."The Principles of the Task Oriented Approach to Health Occupation Curriculum Construction." This' workshop was actually devoted to the preparation of task analysis, performance objectives, and task oriented instruction. The task analyses of medical laboratory and nursing

53<sub>37</sub>

practice for South Dakota were completed at that workshop.

I feel that the most important thing to come out of the workshop was the opportunity for all these people to come together, to meet, to get to know one another, and to really find out that we were sincere in saying that we were going to develop something like the core curriculum.

In May, 1973, we held another three-day workshop, again in the Black Hills in South Dakota (we purposely take people to an isolated area). Again, we had Lucy, Tom, and Howard as well as Jerry Epstein who conducted a second very successful workshop on the . development of the potential entry level statewide core content for the health related occupations. The potential entry level, or as we call it now, the primary core content, was, developed, tasks, skills, concepts, and other related knowledge which are of potential importance for a health core curriculum were isolated and identified by the participants in the workshop. Generalized topical outlines for 22 separate traditional academic course areas had been prepared, and they have been and are being used in developing the complete health core curriculum at this time. From these two major workshops and other interactions with UCLA Allied Health Professions Project, it is evident that they have played a significant role in assisting South Dakota in developing the core curriculum project..Dr. Miles Anderson has been an advisor to us, as well as a friend. Lucy's textbooks are used in all of the nursing schools in the state.

The progress of the project, the actual development of the core curricula for the health manpower training/education programs in South Dakota, began with the earlier workshops that I mentioned, especially with the one this past May during which the potential core content items and the tasks, skills, concepts, and attitudes were identified. The results of this workshop were then reviewed and modified during a series of five sub-committee workshops which we have held. These workshops were composed of people who represent the various health manpower training/education programs (the 87) that are members of the state-wide Health Manpower Task Force. In addition, if need be, we brought in outside resource people, e.g., chemists. The core development is done by the people who are currently teaching chemistry to the health related occupations on one of the campuses as well as health occupations educators. We don't bring them all in from one campus, we mix the people up from various places.

At sub-committee workshop no. 1, which we held in August, 1973, the primary core was defined and topical outlines containing tasks, skills, knowledge, and attitudes were developed as the primary core.

In phase two, two more sub-committee workshops were held in October and December of 1973. During these workshops, the secondary core was defined. Topical outlines representing the tasks, skills, knowledge, and attitudes desired in each of the six academic areas called the secondary core were developed. The major areas identified were anatomy and physiology, chemistry, interpersonal relationships (for which it was found to be extremely difficult to which it was found to be extremely biology.

Phase three took longer to complete. In November, 1973, we felt that we needed a little more help so we worked with Howard Taub and Jerry Epstein at Los Angeles and hired them to translate the topical outlines representing the primary core into measurable objectives. In January, 1974, we again went out to Los Angeles to meet-with Jerry and Howard, and this time we discussed with them a process of translating the secondary core topical outlines into measurable objectives via the sub-committee workshops because this is what Wayne and I thought we wanted to do,

-RIC.

but we wanted to test our idea on someone else. We have been very pleased with what has developed since then. Sub-committee workshops were held the last week of January, and again-this past weekend we had a three-day workshop at which time the primary core measurable objectives constructed by Jerry and Howard were evaluated and revised as necessary. Also, the secondary topical outlines were translated into measurable objectives. We are not finished with these tasks yet, but we will be sometime this summer.

In phase four, we plan to have all the health manpower training/education programs and their parent institutions review and comment upon the measurable objectives and the core curriculum concepts thus far developed. During this review process, which will probably take place in March and April (1974), we will be asking each program to evaluate each measurable objective with respect to its degree of importance to that particular program of to any programs within their institution. Then, if necessary, we plan to hold a one-day meeting with the institutional contact persons to insure that the review process will be essentially the same for all programs and all institutions in the state.

In phase five, after the review process is completed and any necessary modifications have been made, each program will be asked whether they-will adopt or reject the primary core measurable objectives as minimal objectives, and which of the secondary core measurable objectives they will accept as minimal objectives.

Beyond the development of the core curriculum itself we know it is going to be necessary to consider the professional courses, career ladder alternatives, and the acquisition and development of instructional materials and standardized challenge examinations. Already, this year we have had work done on the professional courses and the career model alternatives in the clinical laboratory program areas. Then, starting on June 1st, we are going to do the same thing with nursing. The future emphasis of the Core Curriculum Project staff will be on the acquisition and development of instructional materials and standardized examinations as well as the development of professional (courses. We will also consider career alternatives, for health programs, and career ladder development will be considered by all health occupations where the ladder is applicable

In South Dakota, work will continue on strengthening the role of the Health Manpower Task Force to include the assessment of health manpower needs and resources and the resultant advisory role that it plays in South Dakota on matters involving health manpower training, distribution, and recruitment. We also have some rather unique things in our state such as the fact that the Regional Medical Program has been involved in this program since its inception and is developing a state-wide continuing and special health education net-Eventually we hope to have one work representative from each of the health professions on a large committee to plan together what is needed. If they will work together, then the Regional Medical Program will continue to fund the committee.

We have published some of the findings of the project already, but we have not put them out for general distribution. The proceedings of the last two sub-committee workshops will not be published until they have gone to the individual programs and institutions for their revision. When this report comes out, it will contain the behavioral objectives for each topic that is to be covered in that particular course. That is going to take a while, but I'm confident that we will do it.

The streamlining of the educational curriculum eliminates repetitious training, time consuming

courses which are unnecessary, and the frustration of the student who is ultimately faced with these problems.

It should be emphasized that the intent of the Core Project is not to make all training institutions and faculty teach identical content. Granted, similar programs will have similar curricula, but it is believed that the Core Curriculum and Career Ladder concept can be implemented with adequate program flexibility and room for creative innovations to enable different educational philosophies to coexist. Also, no training program is obligated to accept all or any part of the Core Project results. Instead, the premise is that if the results are justifiable, the programs will wish to adopt ' them, and so far this has proven true.

Throughout the duration of the project, considerable emphasis has been placed on communication and cooperation with programs and groups of overlapping interests, but after diverse viewpoints, it is believed that this opportunity for large-scale involvement of individuals and groups has resulted in greater visibility of and support for the Core Project and its approach.

The support of South Dakota's Department of Health, Comprehensive Health Planning, Regional Medical Program and the Division of Allied Health Manpower of the Bureau of Health Resources Development has been extremely critical and necessary to the success of the Core Project.

Finally, the Core Project staff is optimistic, regarding the future. Lines of communication have been established, cooperation with agencies, organizations, association and training programs has been excellent, core curriculum development will soon be completed, implementation of the core will take place this fall, and excitement is in the air!

#### MY HOPES AND FEARS FOR HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION

Helen K Powers, MS, RN

3

I am most grateful to my good friends from the University of California, especially Dr. Barlow and his project staff members, for inviting me to participate in this national invitational conference on Health Occupations Education. When Mel Barlow told me that I was to address this group at the luncheon meeting today, I wasn't quite sure what he wanted. But he did say in his letter, "Helen, I want you to tell us what your hopes and fears are." And I thought, "Well, my gracious. A completely subjective presentation on what my hopes and fears are for health occupations education! Does he really mean that?" But, he evidently did So today you are going to hear what my hopes and fears are from my personal point of view rather than the objective point of view from which I have addressed the subject in the past.

I think my hopes outweigh my fears. I think the evidence given to us here by the UCLA project and the many other activities that were discussed by each distinguished member of this conference indicates that my hopes are wellgrounded. Commendation is well merited by the UCLA project staff for undertaking the colossal job of analyzing some 31 occupations and preparing instructional materials for 18 of these. Until one has read the voluminous reports, records of committee and staff meetings, survey findings, évaluation and validation reports, instruction books, and a vast amount of descriptive and analytical material produced in the project, one has only a limited notion of the total work that went into the project.

I couldn't believe it really would be attempted by someone when we reviewed the project in

the beginning. Prior to that project our studies were not of either one curriculum or of one occupational area, but usually of one tiny segment of that curriculum or that occupational area. Nobody really had ever attempted to take a laundry list of 31 occupations and look at them simultaneously in a critical, analytical way to come up with some answers to problems we had been coping with for decades in the health field. This extensive study has given us this kind of education for the first time. It is not, I hope, the end of the study on the occupations as a group. There are other occupations to be included, other problems to be dissolved, and validation and repetition of some of the work in this project that needs to be done. And I hope that there . will be time, money, and interest on the part of not only UCLA but other universities and groups to continue this work.

Perhaps it is an understatement to say that the project has effected significant changes in health manpever training and utilization, but I believe that a great deal of what has happened in the health field today can be traced to many different projects and especially to this particular project. Several speakers have emphasized some project results that shed new light on abuses in worker utilization and job requirements in the health field today. Among these findings are. 1) the comprehensive analyses of selected health occupations, 2) the identification of skills common to several different occupations, and 3) the differentiation of roles where several levels of workers perform in one occupational area, e.g., nurse aide, RN, AND LRN.



My hat is off to Lucile Wood for taking a new « look at the nursing cluster and finding some logical reason for dividing the groups as they were divided. But, more importantly, what she did was to show that these are similar in more ways than they are dissimilar, that levels perhaps are not as readily achieved as we thought they were going to be in the nursing field, and that another approach will have to be used sometimes.

While you have not yet discussed the secondary schools phase of the project, it is a pioneer research effort in motivating students through health occupations programs to explore multiple career choices and to acquire salable skills. At the same time, they are improving their achievement levels in schools and experiencing that individual personal development that we are always talking about in education. The addition of the secondary school project resulted in research and experimentation in an entirely new secondary health occupations curriculum, suited to the needs of disadvantaged youth in grades 10 through 12. These students are strongly motivated toward vocational preparation. To quote from the evaluation of this phase of the study (Dr. Fielstra's 1973 evaluation report), "The evidence seems unquestionably to indicate that an allied health curriculum in the secondary schools can produce commendable educational results."

My hopes for the total success of the allied health project; beginning in 1968, were well founded and have been more than generously tulfilled. I have some fears about the project, too! One time those fears concerned the magnitude of the undertaking. Usually, in the health field 'we studied one small part of a curriculum, rarely the whole program. In order to effect any major change, it seemed essential that the whole broad spectrum of health occupations should be brought into focus at the same time and scrutinized critically by the same researchers working in one project. This is what the team at UCLA undertook to do. Then there were some problems about funding, and there were concerns that, like so much other good research, the project would be completed and filed on the shelf to remain there gathering dust that might be disturbed occasionally by other researchers or a student seeking extra credits for outside reading! There was concern also that some parts of the project would not succeed.

But none of my fears survived. Instead, I have tremendous satisfaction in what was accomplished, and that satisfaction is shared by a lot of other people. One can only be pleased that materials prepared in the project have had such wide, dissemination and utilization. The response of publishers and their interest in the project is most gratifying. Each of you present at this conference represents additional resources for spreading the word, experimenting further with some parts of the project, and even taking some of the next steps in areas such as core curriculum, career ladders, multiple career preparation, and the like.

After several days of being exposed to the sophisticated discussions of health occupations, research in health occupations and new career models, role differentiation, and task analysis that has taken place here, a newcomer to health occupations education may conclude that this field is far advanced in every'aspect of the program. In fact, I began to glean that from some of the discussions and features here. I thought perhaps it was my duty to hasten to remind you that this is far from the truth. In fact, the state of the art, so to speak, is practically in its infancy. Let me review briefly some of the history in HOE development in order to set some of the participants on the right track with regard to some basic' fundamentals of the program.

The 1956 Public Health amendments, for the first time, authorized federal funds to support "health occupations" education and officially delegated this responsibility to the Division of Vocational Education, U.S. Office of

42

J.2

Education, Thus, public education became involved in this area, and the term "health occupations" education was defined under the law to mean those, occupations in the health field requiring preparation below the baccalaureate level Health leaders were quite willing to allow the educational systems to train practical nurses and nurses' aides, but presented a nearly solid front in opposition to expansion of public education's efforts into other health occupations. Considerable resistance was exerted also against public education's involvement in post-secondary associate degree programs, in spite of the fact that precedent had been established in the early 1950's when federal/state vocational monies were used to support some of the first experimental two-year nursing programs

After several years of persistent effort with USOE's National Advisory Committee on Health Occupations Education and with national organizations, regulatory bodies, and key leaders in health and education, roadblocks in these areas were removed. By 1961, ·little or no opposition to the development of short term and one-year programs was evident However, it was not until 1967 that the U.S. Commissioner of Education invokéd his authority under the Vocational Education Amendments of 1963 and made an administrative decision that the associate degree program in nursing could be supported with federal vocational education funds. Even as late as 1973, some groups are still challenging the legality of using public education funds in an associate degree program preparing health workers, Believe me, it is quite legal!

The 1960's saw rapid growth of school-based health occupations programs financed with public education funds. From a national enrollment figure of some 10,000 HOE students in the early 1950's, this figure increased to nearly 270,000 in 1971 with expenditures of tederal/state/local funds for HOE exceeding 120 million dollars annually.

Some of the other changes that to me highlight the 1960's include the tremendous push to get good facilities for occupational training, i.e., vocational and technical schools. We started the experimentation of secondary HOE programs during the 1960's but they didn't make much progress in terms of the quality of the programs that we are talking about here this week. Perhaps the most important development in the 1960's was the centralizing or departmentalizing of the health occupations education programs within a school. Some of you do not realize that prior to 1961 there was not one single school in this country where two health occupations were housed together and operated as a unit Every single training program was a separate entity that operated under its own rules and its own faculty. In other words, we used to hold workshops on self-contained curricula.

In 1961, we discovered a school in Massachusetts that had decided it would centralize. The advantages of such departmentalizations were quite evident so we funded a workshop to get a lot of people to Boston and we invited not only vocational educators but health field leaders. We were all very excited because we were learning a tremendous number of things about how to operate that occupations education program, about its management, about commonality in curricula, about the interrelationships of teachers and the interchange of courses and teachers in the schools.

Someone expressed surprise that registered nursing programs have not joined the allied health schools or departments but remain as independent schools or departments in schools. Prior to 1962, all health occupations curricula were conducted independently of each other. There was practically no coordination between these programs even if located in the same school. In fact, for a period of time in the 1960's, state and national accrediting bodies forbade the operation of an RN school and an LPN school in the same tacilities unless they were completely separate entities. In light of this experience just a decade ago, one does not expect to find the trend toward total departmentalizing of HOE programs tully implemented. I think for the long run and in the interest of producing the numbers and quality of people that we need, most programs should departmentalize. I think it is in the best interest of the student.

The 1970's so far have given us quite a few landmark achievements. We have had greatly increased collaboration between education and the health field. (I can only measure this by the increasing incidence of conferences at which one finds in attendance a broad representation from both fields. Educators are no longer talking just with each other!) The UCLA Allied Health Protessions Project completed its major objectives and has provided health occupations educators with much needed instructional materials, and guides. Student organizations at the State level primarily serving HOE students have begun to emerge with tour States 'reporting active organizations-Texas, Alabama, New Jersey, and Indiana. A climate for change is making possible the revision of outmoded processes in the education and credentialling of health occupations students.

We've looked at a quarter of a century of health occupations education, and we have seen how it moved from its rather lowly place in the educational structure to the verge of becoming a viable system for the 21st century. Not quite, but almost! There is not much time left to develop that system to fit into the needs of the next century, in my opinion. We must get on with the job quickly.

Galsworthy said that, "If you do not think about the future, you cannot have one." Believe me, I have been thinking about my tuture. What about you? How do you see yourself in the year 2000?

The tuture of HOE is certainly assured, I believe, because there is always a need for

health services wherever there are people. Production industries, on the other hand, 'may close the plant, move to another state, or temporarily suspend operations, thus eliminating many jobs by one single decision. But there are always going to be sick people, and the health needs of the people and the jobs that are dependent upon those needs are always there. Another factor, absent from the health manpower field since the early 1940's, is that of open market competition. Unless sufficient numbers of workers are prepared to effect such competition for jobs, the employer has little choice but to retain those workers who consistently turn in poor job performances and who are a threat to patient welfare and to their co-workers' job satisfaction.

Recently there has been very little evidence of new jobs being created in the health field. By contrast, the 1960's brought many new types of health technicians and fragmentation of previous jobs to establish several levels of workers within one occupation. A few years ago, there was grave concern over the rapid proliferation of new job titles with the result that health leaders called for a temporary halt. I readily agreed with this position provided a job analysis was done to establish the exact nature of the new functions to be performed and to determine which category of worker would be taught to assume these new tasks.

In view of changes already occurring in the health delivery system, with great emphasis being placed on health maintenance and protection, I have some concern about the reversal of the trend toward the development of new jobs and new job titles. Some of us may recall our nursing history and the early beginning of the practical nurse who was considered to be a household worker, not a health worker. Other disciplines took responsibility for this person's training, if any. Another case in point is the child care assistant of today. Some states hold, that this is a health occupation, others that it is just another household worker. However, these individuals are working in hospitals, child care institutions, and



with groups of sick and handicapped children in many settings Is this another example of the resistance to new health worker titles and an oversight by health occupations educators? Perhaps South Dakota's approach to core curriculum can help us more quickly resolve uch questions in the future and meet the challenge of new and emerging occupations relating to the family care concept, to new types of independent health practitioners, and to health maintenance complexes.

The greatest expansion of health industry workers in the next twenty-five years will not be the simple multiplication of numbers in the existing 150 or so health occupations. As the emphasis shifts from crisis medicine to health maintenance, as it surely will within the next decade, growing numbers of technicians will be needed whose jobs involve repetitious tasks in the screening of well persons making regular visits to their Health Clinic. (Notice I said, well persons, not patients!) These workers will face many of the same problems of boredom and fatigue that factory workers today face. Their education and the job they perform must be made meaningful, and the trainee must develop an understanding of the importance of his work if he or she is to be able to provide high quality services as needed and function at an optimum level of competency

I've talked about a lot of fears and said very little about my hopes except to generalize. But my hopes are very great. Essentially I hope that you and I and our peers in HOE continue to place the student and his needs in a focal position in our educational programs. The health delivery system must be responsible for placing and keeping the consumer of health services in the center of its operation, making sure that education and schools exist for the learner.

I hope that we, as part of the educational and scientific estate, will develop ever greater awareness of the power we possess to influence the public, employers, and our fellow members of that estate, for the good of students and of Health Occupations Education. Although we do not control the supply of talent that is required by the health industry, nevertheless, vast numbers of that supply pass through the programs over which we do have some influence. We can and do indoctrinate these students, for better or worse, and the industry depends on us for this supply of talent. Through the product of the program, you can be and are being heard.

I hope that HOE teachers will continue to take an active role in standard-setting at all levels for all personnel serving the health field. No one is better qualified to participate in developing new methods of credentialling and verifying competencies for various health occupations. We cannot leave this to the employers, or to the professions, or to the universities alone. All levels of education, the public, and all health disciplines need to be involved together for the best interests of the consumer . and of the worker. I've gone through the period of time when I've been told at meetings that vocational-education did not need to come, to this meeting because "policy decisions will be here. When we get through with the decisions we will let you know what they are." I don't intend to stand still for this and I hope you don't either. Keep on playing that very active role in standard setting; continue your strong and dedicated leadership.

Also, I trust that the federal agency, the U.S. Office of Education, will continue to place high priority on this field by providing adequate full-time staff and funds to carry out its management functions as defined under federal regulations. Without such designated officials in USOE, coordination 'between federal education agencies, federal health and health manpower agencies, and others concerned in health manpower development will diminish or cease entirely.

I would hope that centers conducting research and development activities, similar to those described by the UCLA team, would become a

£ 45 62

permanent part of HOE for the purposes of conducting research in this area, where experimentation, demonstrations, and dissemination activities would *moncentrate* on the problem in HOE. While it is true that we already have a network for curriculum coordination in Vocational Technical Education now operating in seven states (Oklahoma, New Jersey, Washington, California, Mississippi, Kentucky, and Illinois) which serve the essential functions with regard to curriculum developmentdissemination, utilization, and evaluationthere is a critical need now for basic and practical research in almost all aspects of HOE. I do not see the curriculum centers fulfilling that need, but they can extend the work of HOE Research and Development Centers.

My last and most burning hope is that our dilemma in teacher education will be resolved. We have a number of teacher educators here and I commend you for the progress that you have made in getting on top of these problems. I have strong feelings yet about the selection of teachers who are competent to teach their subject matter, and who can be eftective with their students. Teacher education for health occupations teachers has been too long neglected in most states. In reviewing some 1974 State Plans recently, I was again shocked at the limited accomplishments in establishing identifiable HOE teacher education within the university system and at the limited dollars assigned to it. One would assume that HOE teachers need little or no preparation for the job and that they are not interested in pursuing further preparation. I believe the opposite is true. I hope to see the

splendid efforts of several universities represented here continue and expand, and I hope other states will recognize this oversight and correct it. With the secondary school programs expanding rapidly, and the role of postsecondary teachers expanding to meet the challenge of new curricula and new educational approaches, this situation must be corrected or the programs will encounter insurmountable problems.

But we also must have leaders developed who can communicate the concerns of this field of education. It is not enough just to be a good teacher and to produce good teachers. Teachers must go on to become good leaders who can represent us in all levels of discussions in the education field, in the health field, in government, and wherever else they may be needed.

My hopes and fears are in the best hands in the world—yours, representatives from the leadership in the field of health occupations, education and in the health field.' I have great confidence in what you will do about these and about other problems as they come down the road. You have already demonstrated your concern and I hope that you aren't going to let someone else shoulder the responsibility for you. Your involvement in solving problems that you and others have identified is guite evident and I think we are close to the solution of many of the problems that have faced us over the years. After attending this meeting and participating with many of you, I think I can leave my fears behind and L will depart this conference with great hopes for a better future in health and in health education.

ERIC

#### HOW TO GET A NEW HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION PROGRAM STARTED

Ellen M. Abbott, M.S., R.N.

It seems that most of you are interested in starting a program at a high school or pre-high school level rather than at a post-secondary level Perhaps it would be best if I were to list some of the programs we offer, specifically those some of you have asked about at this conference. And I think, too, it might be best if I explain a little about the district in which I work.

In 1956, I started the first nurse aide program in the district because I discovered there were no nurse aide programs in the entire San Diego County. So I asked if I, as a volunteer, could conduct a nurse aide program. We started out with twenty-seven people and devised a 50hour, on-the-job program. From that we wrote the first course outline to be introduced in California. In 1957, we started a vocational nurse program, and in 1960, I became director of that program. Then, in 1961, a community college came into the district. It was the decision of the college that only two-year programs would be offered there, and the other programs (the vocational programs) would be in an adult high school environment. In the Grossmont area there is an adult and postsecondary program All vocational education programs in this district are under this set-up, with the technical programs, including the two-year programs, at the college.

We started by adding one new program a year. The first one was an RN refresher course, then we added OR technique, then OB technique. As a consequence, we now have 15 full-time programs in health occupations and quite a few extension programs. Some of them are of short duration and some are on a continuing basis.

Then we began to have difficulty with the articulation of students into the two-year RN , program. We met with the nursing board and started a one-year RN program for LVN's. Those who wish to continue in nursing education articulate into the baccalaureate program at California State University, San Diego, as space permits.

In starting a new program, you have to know your community and you must have a concept, i.e., what you think you would like to have in your program. My concern for the ten high schools in the Grossmont district was that there were no occupational programs for girls. There was carpentry, auto mechanics, etc., for the boys, but the girls were usually excluded from every one of these areas. Each high school had typing classes and a business program, but each was fairly small at that time and 🕈 restricted to 50 percent girls. There was nothing exclusively for them. Beven months of meeting with counselors finally paid off, but even then, of the ten high schools, only two principals would endorse the program allowing their students to go into a nurse aide program. Now it is such a large program we have approximately 170 students involved in it annually.

In developing program content, you may have to innovate to accommodate changing course contents based on hospital or health community facilities as well as keeping in mind individual learning rates, styles, and motivations.



In other words, to shift the responsibility of learning from the teacher to the student, there must be a student-oriented curriculum regardless of the programs you are going to start. But more than providing a direction, health occupations education offers a systematic approach to learning. And this is part of your selling job wherever you are going to initiate high school health occupations programs. (If anyone is interested in starting a high school program, please contact me and I will send you data we have prepared.)

We offer one program in paramedics open to returning servicemen who have been in the Medical Corps for twelve months or more and quality to apply for vocational nurse licensure. It they had twelve months in a nursing related assignment or twenty-three months in a health occupations area, they are eligible for this program. Most of the applicants are male. When the young men started coming to us for supportive education or guidance to successfully take the LVN exam, we discovered that the military was not informing them of their opportunity to take the State Board for Vocational Nursing or the Registered Nurse exam. In California, any person who has had twelve months of nursing or twenty-three months experience in a medical corps may take the LVN licensing exam, or, if he has had forty-eight months experience, he may take the RN licen \$ sing exam. When they applied to one of our programs, I found they were not aware of this information. So Liwent to the Board to ask about the successes of the young men and discovered that only twenty percent who did take the test failed.

We wrote to the military services and asked for their basic course outline. They sent all the educational material for their basic school. We evaluated that material and ran a couple of stories in the paper. When the young men came in, we discussed their education, gave them a tew comprehensive tests, and tried to determine what type of background they had. We decided that most of the people who failed the exams did so because they did not have the theoretical background nor the, transitional experience from military to civilian hospital. Additionally, some young men had difficulty adjusting to working in a womanoriented situation.

We have tried to present a curriculum to meet their individual needs dediciencies for successful job placement. We wrote our entire course outline on this type of approach. 1) to meet their educational needs so that they can successfully pass their Boards; 2) to prepare them for the licensed level of nursing at which they can function, and 3) to give them the knowledge base they need to continue their education. We designed the course curriculum based on the tasks and knowledge they would need on the job. Next we talked to the young men asking them in what hospital areas they thought they would like to work. I then did a task analysis of RN's/LVN's on the job to determine what they would be doing. We included related theory because we felt that, first of all, they had to pass the Board exams, and, second, they had to continually grow in their jobs. There have not been any failures on the State Boards among the program graduates.

The program is federally funded, and the young men and women receive a \$59 weekly stipend as part of the project. They also use the GI bill if they wish and receive \$2.50 per week for transportation plus all books and their uniforms. If they leave before we think they are ready to go, we take the uniforms and books back. But if they stay as long as it is determined a need exists, they can take those items with them.

Another program we started recently is Medical Transcription Specialist based on the same format of our Medical Office Assisting program. In a neighboring school district there has been a medical assistant program for years. A few years ago I spent some time analyzing the program trying to decide why it took two years to train someone in medical assisting. In looking at their program, I felt it did not have to take that long. Thus, in our medical assisting program, the students attend one semester for course content and then attend skills lab on a contractual basis while they work five days a week. They can attend our labs as long as they feel they need it. When they are ready for certain areas, they check out cassettes or meet with the instructor for assistance.

Our Medical Transcriptionist program is offered in the same format. To get the program started, we hired the best medical transcriptionist in the city, right out of the hospital setting, and paid her to write the course. (I did not know that Miles Anderson and his group were doing the same thing just one-hundred and twenty miles away!) She has written the curriculum as she has performed on-the-job, with all dictation for student practice dictated specially from medical charts or taken from actual dictation hospitals send us. Occasionally we choose doctors who mumble and grumble a lot and that is the kind of dictation practice the students need.

We also started a program for Medical Clerks. The course for high school medical clerks in fact encompasses all hospital clerical jobs. The students rotate to every department of the hospital, but it is a low paying job. We wrote the course curriculum by studying the clerical tasks nurses were performing that we felt clerks could do and incorporated these tasks in the core curriculum. Then we gained permission for our students to be assigned the tasks at ward stations (for experience, please). At first the staff offered a great deal of resistance, but now ward clerks are accepted throughout the hospital. Nurses are to longer recording and doing the clerical chores they were formerly performing.

So how do you get a program started? How do you get the money? I think California is unique in that we have funds (ADA—average daily attendance) based on students' daily attendance with monies paid proportionately to the

31 49 **66** 

school district from state funds to meet basic program costs. What it really takes is someone to get out and look at the possibilities for programs and see the need. Then meet with the personnel in the hospital or facility in which you feel you can place the program. If you need equipment, look at the facility where the students will affiliate and usually your students' use of the equipment available will meet curriculum needs.

It is also good to have an advisory committee as an initial activity when considering new programs. I have found that the "retired" health community, such as doctors and dentists, have more knowledge of what is going on because they have a different perspective now. And also they have time to devote to program planning and assisting with raising monies for capital outlay, equipment, etc. I have a rule that no advisory board be larger than six members because that way they know you better, you know them better, and they are willing to come in and meet with you a little more often.

I have one more statement to make and that is about attitudes. We are interested in the attitudes of students and in the attitudes of the teacher. This, more than anything else, is the basis of the success of a program. I assume that any person who comes to me for a teaching job has all the tools he needs to do the job. I ask him to give me the names of two people with whom he has worked. I don't want to know the supervisor; I want to know the people who work with him side by side. I don't ask about past experience or how long, 11 don't 'think that one year, three years, or twelve years is that important. Before I talkyto these two co-workers, I study the applicant's resume. If it meets the requirements, we set up. an interview appointment. In the meantime, I talk to the two references (usually I call them on the phone). I ask them four or five questions that are routined listen to the voice," and you can tell when someone is giving you a good recommendation and whether they genuinely believe it. If they are enthusiastic, I

invite the applicant in for a two-hour interview. We talk about anything, horses, flying, hobbies I like, or hobbies he likes (he talks about mine as much as his). If, at the end of two hours I like him and I think that he likes me, he is hired. That's my technique for hiring teachers. And I think that it has been successtul. People think I'm crazy, but it really works. Attitude is important in determining the quality of work you do.

When you start a program you have to analyze the health manpower needs data that is available. Sometimes this means meeting with the people in the institution or agency, sometimes it means looking at printed data, sometimes it is looking at UCLA and what they have done. Seek whatever is available.

Occasionally we have to convince a hospital that they need a new program. Sometimes we have to convince the advisory committee that a need exists. When we first started the high school Orderly program in the evenings, the president of my advisory committee was the

C

administrator of the only licensed accredited geriatric hospital in California at the time. Oh, how he opposed that program. He did not want it because he had no budget to hire personnel. So we finally got approval—it passed one day when he did not come to a meeting. You have to go around\_in your community to meet people, to talk to them, because you have to get into the institutions. Your advisory committee members are the people who help the most here. The one rule is never to have more than one person from one institution because you need cross-fire.

Adjoining our school district is Mountain Empire School District. It has no doctors, no hospitals, no public health nurse, and yet we have four programs in the district. We rented a big trailer to use there. We pull the trailer into the townships for the educational phase of the program, the students get their training in hospitals on Saturday, and we take the trailer back on Monday. It is an old thing that barely works and we have a volunteer who tows it. So you can do it!

ĉ

### THE UCLA SECONDARY SCHOOLS PILOT AND DEMONSTRATION PROJECT FOR AN INTRODUCTION TO ALLIED HEALTH CAREERS

Diane & Watson, M.S

UCLA's Allied Health Professions Project was charged with adding another component to what they were already doing, and that was to develop a secondary school program that would introduce high school students to allied health occupations and also to develop a curriculum that would accomplish that goals We began by researching the literature. We searched school libraries, hospital libraries, etc , and found nothing that we thought would serve the purpose. So before Dr. Barlow, the principal investigator, would accept the money for the project he asked for a year to do planning. "We need to think this thing through, to talk to people, and we need to find out what it is all about," he said. Many interesting and stimulating things occurred in that year along with some very serious problems. As a result of that year's experience, we can't tell you , much about what to do, but we can tell you plenty about what not to do! ...

We came up with a program that we titled "Careers in Health Services" because of the emphasis at that time on career education. The secondary school allied health program was a three phase program. The first phase corresponded to grade ten with fifteen year old students. In this phase, they were given an introduction to the field of health, i.e., what it is all about, curriculum, and field experiences. The second phase, or grade eleven, was Work Experience, and the third year was a cooperative education program.

The year prior to implementing the program was spent planning. We had to select staff. What kind of people should be involved in developing and implementing the program? Certainly we needed teachers and someone to coordinate activities with the community. We felt that if this was going to be a successful program, we needed to have someone who was free from the structure of the school setting, who could work with hospitals and other health facilities at any time during the day. So we added a field coordinator who was part of the team working closely with a classroom teacher. Of course, there were clerical personnel and administrators.

Then began the search for a complex which included a high school, a neighboring community college, and a hospital in close proximity to the high school. Each facility was contacted, procured, and oriented to our project.

Now, this was not an easy task; we had to sell this program to the schools. They thought, "Why should we confuse the issue by bringing in another health program? We have always had health occupations in the schools, After all, we have nurse's training." We tried to convince them that we were not training only nurses; we' wanted to train youngsters in a generalized orientation to health care so that eventually they could select an occupation of their choice. It was hoped, they would recognize the fact that there were other occupations composing the health care system besides nursing. Finally the program was accepted because we were going to provide 100% of the financing.

The next big move was to convince hospitals that a fifteen year old student did have a place

there. They questioned what a fifteen year older really could do, "besides running all around here getting in our way." We reasoned with them by pointing out nurse aide tasks such as answering the telephone and reading to a patient that could be efficiently performed by students.

Getting facility approval was the first step. Once we secured the hospitals, they wanted to know who was going to be responsible for these young people. It was explained that the hospital, medical facility, or wherever the students were working, was an extension of the classroom and whatever insurance covered the student in the classroom would cover them in the hospital. We also set up a supervisory system so that any time a student was on the premises there would be a supervisor there also.

The second step was to contact supervisors and sell them on the fact that they would have more people in their department to supervise. The third step was to ask the actual workers if they would like to have a student working with them. The typical responses were, "My day is already too full." "There are too many demands." "How in the world can I take time out to teach a student?" And we said, "Don't worry about teaching the student. Go about your tasks the best you can and have the student observe you. After observing a few times, explain to him what you are doing. After he has heard the explanation a Yew times, let him work with you. If he does a good enough job, let him do that particular task." In this way, they were oriented to how they could work with students.

Then we realized we needed to have a summer hospital internship for teachers and students. Four students were selected that we felt could help us develop curriculum. We didn't know how to select teachers but we thought we might need someone with a nursing background. (If you were in the workshop that I was in yesterday, you know that I am not

against nurses, but we found that the nurse as a classroom instructor in allied health occupations tended to want to teach only nursing . tasks and to go into more depth in that area than was needed in an experiential, exploratory program.) We. tried to overcome this problem but had difficulty all the way because we found that nurses are so well trained they seem to want to duplicate their training in the classroom. We did find some nurses we thought could be more flexible. You have to have a special kind of nurse who can transcend her training and be the kind of instructor who can relate to the youngsters who want to go into pharmacy, the medical laboratory, or some field other than nursing.

Our idea was to have our teachers come in during the summer for a ten-week internship where they would rotate through the various departments in the hospital and actually do the tasks that are done in each department. We thought that if they were outside the field of health, they certainly needed to know what a hospital was all about, who the people were that worked there, and what they did. Well, that internship failed miserably. We paid teachers their regular salary for the ten weeks. We thought we could bring them into the project office in the morning and have them in the hospitals in the afternoon. It was a failure because we found that you cannot work teachers during the summer at the same rate and pace you worked them during the school year and expect them to produce because they are tired. Secondly, many of our teachers felt that the tasks<sup>o</sup>they were asked to perform were below their professional status, and they rebelled against the department. We also tried to give them segments of curriculum to develop and that was no good either; they would rather see the whole thing than just pieces. We did not have a concept that was comprehensive enough. So we learned through trial and error and it was a very costly kind of thing, as Miles Anderson will tell you. But we had to go through this procedure to find out what to do.



Two weeks before starting the program we found that we were losing three of our four teachers. So there we were with only one teacher and our program starting in two weeks. We had to go out and beat the bushes. We hired a young lady right out of college who had a health science background. We were able to hold onto a science teacher. We hired a person who was director of nurses from Job Corps and a science teacher who had taught one week in a high school. We had to put our faith in these people because we had. no other choice But you know, it worked out alright because these people had no precon-"ceived ideas. They had not been molded into a structure that would restrict them, they were flexible because they had little experience.

They came to the project office in the morning, we gave them the lesson plan for that day, demonstrated its use, and then they would implement the lesson that afternoon. This was tremendous for curriculum development because if we, from our ivory towers, developed something that we thought was great and it did not go over in the classroom, the teacher would tell us the next morning and it went immediately into the trash can. But what we did come up with was a product that was very relevant, effective, and it worked. We trained teachers right on the spot, and, believe me, it was difficult because we had to start from the beginning.

We tried to get input from the students on curriculum but found it was too difficult a task for them. We learned that the best way to use "the students at that particular level was to let them observe and give their input if they chose. But we could not expect them to get actively involved because they did not feel comfortable around instructional staff. When we were in a big circle, looking eye to eye, they would not say a word. However, they would talk to the individual-teachers in their schools and they built up a very close relationship with them, but they would not relate to them in a group. They were never critical because as instructors we always have a way of getting back at students, don't we? We can grade them from A to F, which they know, so they don't go too far out on a limb. We really wanted them to be open and honest, but they couldn't be. So they acted as observers with the knowledge that they could give input at any time.

The next process was recruiting students. We wanted 100 students and we wanted to keep our classes small so we decided on 25 per class. We also wanted to include as many boys as girls because health occupations have been a man's world. Most doctors are male; most engineering people are men, most mainten-Ance people are men. So we wanted the youngsters to know that males were just as much a part of health occupations as females. What kind of student did we want? We did not want to close the door on any student who . needed the program so we discarded, all kinds of testing. We said, "Let's open the door to all students but let's place the responsibility on them."

So we held a general assembly and invited all the students in the ninth grade at the junior high schools which fed into our four experimental high schools. We announced that an exciting program awaited them at the high school level. There was a catchy little film and pop music to turn them on. And then one of our fieldy coordinators who reflected the majority of the student population at that school would speak. If it was an all black school, we would send a black male there so that the boys would be able to identify with a successful male figure. If it was a Mexican-American school, we would send a Mexicah-American female, so that we could attract females into health occupations. These were really sharp people who did a tremendous job.

We gave the students an application form and looked to see if they wrote anything on the line that said, "Why do you want to become part of this allied health program?" If-they did

not write on that line, we did not consider their application because it was felt that, if they were truly interested, they could at least write, "because I like people," or "because I want to help." That was good enough for us.

We had only 100 slots and we received over 900 applications from our four feeder junior high schools. The 900 applicants were divided into small groups of six to eight. We discovered that at the ninth grade level it was very difficult to find out about an individual student on a one-to-one basis. These kids do not relate that well to adults. We threw out a question to find out about Jimmy, and Johnny would answer. They would talk among themselves while we watched the interaction to decide which kids we wanted to interview further. From the group interview, we went to a one-to-one interview. Each interviewer had a check, sheet on which to identify the enthustastic students. They rapped with the students asking them questions about school. The students were rated along a continuum, those coming closest to the side marked "Potential" were considered for the program.

We also looked at the different levels of classroom makeup. We wanted 15-25% to be college bound and 60% average students, but our real tocal group was the 15% of those students who were non-motivated, who had no plans for themselves, and who were potential dropouts. We felt that if we could develop a program that would keep this group in school, then we would have a program that would keep all our students interested.

We used an advisory committee that could give us real clout, and there were very few educators on it. We needed people from, outside education, from hospitals, professional organizations, and industry, that could make an administrative decision. We needed to use their names to make things happen for us in the community. Then we had to solicit the cooperation of the school district, the health' facility, and, of course, the community. The parents of our program students also played a large part.

In the schools, we worked with principals, vice-principals, counselors, teachers, students, and, naturally, the Board of Education. In the hospitals we worked with the counterparts of those listed above. We had difficulties in both camps. In the hospitals it was the nurses, and their counterparts were the counselors in schools. Why was there difficulty with the, counselors? Number one, a high school counselor oftentimes functions as an advisor and doesn't do indepth counseling and guidance due to lack of time. And you are saying to them, "We want a program that will give a student options in case he chooses not to go to college." The counselors would say, "Oh my gosh, no. Everyone here is going to Standford, UCLA, or USC." And we said, "Well, the records show that 58% of your students drop out at the 11th grade." The statistics meant nothing to them because they had their own goals set, for the students even though we would say,"Here is a program that can pick up these kids who feel they must drop out of school-that can train them and give them some direction in their lives." And you know, we fought shat battle for three years and r really don't think we ever won it because all they saw in this program was that we were going to block these youngsters from going to college. They were told that these students could eventually move up to a professional level, but it was hat convince them. They did not see how the students would have time to take all the academic, courses that would prepare them for college and be in the allied health program, too.

In the hospitals, the nursing departments said to us, "Well, you know our first responsibility is to the patient." But the youngsters themselves won these people over. They sold the program by asking questions and offering to do tasks. That started opening doors for them.

54- 71

The tenth year students began with an introductory course We wanted these young people to have a different experience than they had ever had as a student before. We wanted youngsters, especially in the ghetto area, who were really turned on and motivated to attend school. So we said to the schools, "On day one, we're going to take the students out to where the action is "The administrators almost collapsed They said, "You can't do it, firstly, because you can't get your hands on the warm bodies, and, secondly, we cannot provide you transportation because our buses have to take kids to and from school" We finally won when we told them we would pay for the buses and extra drivers.

The teachers were the ones who gave us the most opposition on this point. They did not want to work that hard the first two weeks. They won - when the youngsters came they weren't taken out that first week. Instead, we 'had a slide/tape presentation accompanied by pop music The kids kept time with the music while slides were flashed on the screen. The slides covered both modern and historical health concepts They were flashed on quickly because we wanted subliminal kind of conditioning; then they were presented again a little slower and then the third time they were used as discussion topics.' It was really a fascinating experience because all their senses were involved, and it was their first time for this kind of curriculum.

No pencils and paper were used the first two weeks. We talked a little the first day about visiting a medical facility the next week. They were asked, "What do' you think you should do?" "How do you think you should act?" "How should you dress?" We got all the injuit from them. The teacher would say, "Now, be at the bus on time," and "Maybe you should keep your voice down in the hospital. Why do you think you should keep it down?" "Why should you walk and not run?" These kinds of things were treated very superficially in the beginning because we did not want to have structure coming out of the kids' ears.

52

There was 100% attendance the second day of school. This was unbelievable! The school never had this happen before. Why did we have 100% attendance one day after summer vacation? Because our coordinators who had selected these kids had continued contact with them over the summer. They went to their homes, sent three different letters addressed in their names, wrote letters to the parents informing them that their child would be in the program, and we went out and talked to the parents to solicit their support and reinforcement of the program. So we literally pulled the students in, and when they came, they stayed.

In the tenth year, students were in class two hours per day plus an additional two hours a day for one month of work experience. They received ten units of credit for being in the allied health program. Counseling was done on an individual basis by teachers, coordinators, school counselors, and hospital supervisors. Students stayed in the program because they felt that adults were interested in them. It was a program that gave them a four-to-one contact ratio with adults. Also, parental conferences were maintained all the way through, we never neglected our parents.

The curriculum was divided into three units. The first was an orientation to the health care system, the second, and the real meat of the curriculum, took a case study approach; and the third unit was the health care complex, the actual on-the-job experience. At the end there was a culmination program put on by the students.

In\_the first unit, we spent six weeks taking youngsters to every kind of health care facility we could get into, including dental offices, mental health facilities, youth clinics, hospitals, and so on. They got a pretty good picture of what health care facilities are like. However, it wasn't just a pleasure cruise, they went with certain goals in mind. They were given a check sheet on which to record information. They had to talk to several people at the facility, find out their titles, identify uniforms, identify terminology, observe functions and tasks, ask about training, salaries, personality, and attitudes. Before going on a trip they were given a check sheet and something specific to look for on their visit to the facility, and the information they brought back became the core of the next day's class activity.

After six or eight weeks the students progressed to unit two which took up about twenty weeks of the school semester. This unit was divided into eight sections. Since this was an exploratory program, we wanted the young people to get a feel for health care. We wanted them to have the essential knowledge and some related knowledge of the field of health care in order to be able to do simple entry level tasks. The essential information they should have was listed. the sciences, the terminology, the tasks, etc. Then we had to find a vehicle for steaching this information. We decided to use actual case studies, so we consulted hospitals to see if they had cases about young people with the specifics we were looking for.

Using these real case studies, we began with a Physical Examination. Every student was familiar with the physical examination process. However, we took all the students to the health office and they observed the school doctor and nurse perform a physical examination of a youngster. They were taught how to read the Snellen charts, how to take temperatures, etc. Then the nurse would teach one student, through demonstration, to do a task. That student would select another student and teach him how to do the task under the supervision of the nurse or the doctor. Next they-paired off so that every youngster had the opportunity, to perform the task. In this case study, the cardio-vascular system was the focus. In the classroom the students would study the functions of this system and how it had meaning for them.

Our next case was one of a broken leg. It was introduced as 'A Case of a Broken Leg," but '

the students never used those terms again. In-... stead, they learned to refer to it as "a fracture of a tibia,", and, boy, they loved learning the \_ largon! This is the way to present the terminology. The students not only hear the terms but learn to comprehend their meanings and they learn to use them. This case provided an opportunity to learn the muscular-skeletal system of the body. The teacher did not say to them, "Now you're going to learn all of the bones of the body." Instead, they learned about the case of a kid who, while running across the school grounds, fell and broke his leg. First aid was given (this is where we brought in first aid). There was a temporary splint applied. By this time the ambulance was on hand and the attendants took over from there. The kids got a chance to ride with the patient in the ambulance to the hospital, and this was great stuff! The ambulance came on the school grounds with sirens going and loaded a few students at a time. They rode in the ambulance to Emergency. There the students observed the nurse doing her duties, then they went with the patient to X-ray where they saw the people in radiology going about their work, then they went to the cast room, etc.

Our next case was that of an Appendectomy. This began as a young lady was going to the prom and fainted. Her boyfriend called for help and she was taken to the hospital where they found she had to have an appendectomy. This was where we got into the gastrointestinal system and saw the lab work being done and the people in the laboratory who do it.

Following that was a case of Food Poisoning and this was where we did a really interesting investigation of environmental health through the Public Health Department. We used a story from "Eleven Blue Men" that many of you are familiar with. It is about some Polish people who are having a picnic. They make sausage and because it smells so good, they eat some of the patties before they are cooked. Of course, you know what happened

323

after that. The students visited the Public Health Department and went on calls with the Public Health Investigators The mechanics had all been worked out beforehand. We didn't call up on an emergency basis and ask, "Can we bring 25 kids over?" We worked this dut prior to the beginning of the semester. We were then informed that, "On this particular day, this investigator will be doing this kind of investigation and if you want to bring the students 'over we will be happy to take them along."

We then got into Ecology and the Respiratory System. The students wrote a play, and it was this play that was used as motivation. They got all involved in playing the parts, and they started researching smog and other environmental problems. And then we got in a Tuberculosis case where sex education was presented. Sex education appeared throughout the curriculum, but it was emphasized here. Our philosophy was, if the need arises, deal with it at that time We tried to train our teachers to be open and free with the youngsters, discussing whatever topics came forth in an intelligent manner. Discussions of all kinds were held with the students.

The last case was about Drug Abuse. This was where we presented the nervous system. I failed to mention, though, that before we started the case studies, we presented one of the most interesting sections of the curriculum which really held the kids-a unit on Quackery In order for them to be knowledgeable consumers of the health care system, they should know what state health care is in. We introduced this by using a film from the "Hawaii Five-O" series. It told the story of a doctor who had invented a machine that would diagnose cancer from a drop of blood and provide the treatment. A couple of patients died, and the families brought a law suit against the doctor. We used this as a base point for quackery and, boy, did it take hold. The kids were bringing in all-sorts of newspaper clippings and magazine articles. They really had their eyes and ears alert.

The first year curriculum included classroom time and field experience. The students spent a day in class and a day out. As the semester progressed, the curriculum became more difficult and more comprehensive but they were ready to accept it. Each student was evaluated individually against his own rate of learning to make sure no one was left behind.

In their 11th year, the students went into a Work Experience Program. The first year prepared them to focus on an area that they might want to get into. Program people talked with them all the time to help them make decisions." In the second year, rather than come to class, they spent their two hours in the hospital where they were assigned to various departments. The second year curriculum consisted of a series of booklets containing tasks for a specific area. The clinical instructors taught these tasks, and as the student learned to perform them, they were checked off in these booklets and dated. Frequency was indicated so that one could check to see if a student was doing the same thing over and over. The coordinator was constantly working with the supervisors to see that there was a variety of tasks provided and that they were being marked off in the booklets.

During their 11th year, the students had ten to . twenty hours a week in the hospital and were given ten units of school credit. In their 12th year, the students were in a Cooperative Education Plan. This could mean many things-they could continue on with what they were doing in grade 11 or they could go intoan articulation program at the community college. If one wanted to become a pharmacist later on, he might take some of the basic science courses that he needed at the community college while he was a 12th grader and receive high school\*credit as well as college credit at the same time. Some might want to work partor full-time and get high school credit, or others might want to go into the nursing program that was already established at their school. There were many different possibilities. The program became more individualized



at the 12th grade level. This was where the teachers and coordinators sat down with each individual student and asked him what he wanted to do. The program was revised at that time to accommodate whatever direction the student wanted to take.

Teaching in the program started with the entireclass, then small groups, then individual instruction. A topic would be presented to the whole class, then they would divide up into smaller groups for project work, and from there they would go into individualized instruction with the teacher working with each student.  $\varphi$ 

We wondered how we were going to sell this program outside Los Angeles. We loved it and we thought 'it was the greatest thing in the world, but who else cared? We approached another school district that was similar (Santa

58

7

Monica), and they turned us down cold. But the Beverly Hills School District decided that they needed a program of this kind. Why? Because the kids were asking for it There is a new trend in that affluent community. Students from broken homes are not staying with mother in the mansion but are going out and renting their own apartments. They are on their own and need money to put gas in the car and eat. So the District thought there was no more likely an area to train in than health occupations. They wrote a beautiful proposal and found that they had several thousand dollars of entitlement funds they had never tapped. They were able to get<sup>f</sup> that money this year. We made a presentation to the school board which gave its approval, and they opened their program. It was not as simple as I made it sound. It really takes a lot of work, but it can be done!

## EVALUATION OF THE UCLA SECONDARY SCHOOLS PILOT AND DEMONSTRATION PROJECT

Clarence Fielstra, Ph D

A very important part of a pilot program surely is that of documenting it, and the UCLA program as you have heard and observed is very well documented. We thoroughly recommend that you do the same with yours if you are getting one under way, document it as you go along.

Another very important part of a pilot program is the planning for evaluating it. That is, determining from the beginning how you are going to judge it and in terms of what criteria. This was the job that I was privileged to be involved in at UCLA<sup>1</sup>. I think there were two or three<sup>1</sup> reasons I was chosen. First, I was not a health educator, and second, I was not a vocational educator; so I was almost totally unrelated to the job at hand. And I suppose another reason might be that I spent a very enjoyable year in 1960 on leave from UCLA for a twelve months to study the work experience education program in Santa Barbara City and County It was undoubtedly the most highly developed work experience education program in California at that time, and the Rosenberg foundation was willing to pay for an evaluation of it. So we studied not only the on-going programs, but we also followed up on all of the students who had gone through it whom we could find.

We were very much impressed with the results of that study. Quite clearly, youngsters who had gone through the work experience education program had advantages all the way through They actually completed more units of work while in high school. They were more likely to go on to college, believe it or not. They had a higher grade point average in both h ool and college. When they got a job, FRIC 59 the jobs were more closely related to their vocational aptitudes and interests, and their incomes were higher. To me this was very revealing and very impressive, and I'm more than ever convinced that the close relationship of education in school and the world of work makes great sense. I guess it has from the beginning of time, but we haven't been willing to concede it fully enough. Maybe now we can.

For the evaluation of the UCLA secondary schools program I, was assisted nobly and fully' by a young lady whose name is Barbara Rosenquist, now Barbara Rosenquist Chrispin. Barbara collected much of the data and together we did much of the thinking regarding what data we should collect.

First of all, we tried to state as clearly as we could to ourselves for the purpose of our study what our objectives were for the program. Among the objectives we outlined was to have a program that increased interest on the part of youngsters in their curriculum. Was there greater relevance in the curriculum when this component was a part of their experience? Did involvement in this program decrease the dropouts? Did it increase the grade point average of these youngsters? Did it help them progress in some pretty specific ways as far as the allied health occupations are concerned? On that score, the nine behavioral or performance objectives that we identified were. 1) The inductees will tell what the workers do in several of the allied health occupations, become acquinted with the occupations, and be able to describe them, 2) they will make a wiser vocational choice than they might have without being in the program, 3) they will develop.

each of the steps necessary to get into an allied health job (How do you get into it? What is the ladder and how do you climb it?), (4) they will demonstrate knowledge of how the health care facilities operate, 5) they will maintain their own health through the help of appropriate health care (and it was quite . dramatic to see how much better the youngsters took care of themselves as well as taking care of their families), 6) they will be able to reter tamily and friends to appropriate health care tacilities; 7) they will be able to perform basic skills in the selected Health occupations-at least one, possibly two, maybe even three, 8) they will be able to identify and describe the functions of specific equipment used in a health care system (it was fun for the youngsters to use the equipment and to learn how to do it well), and, finally, 9) they will demonstrate behavior appropriate in the world of work, e.g., dependability, good attendance, good personal appearance, and all those behaviors and characteristics that are essential to the world of work. Those were the objectives, and then we had to discover ways or invent ways of collecting data regarding them. We relied on every source we could? identify.

We relied very heavily on reactions from youngsters themselves, their opinions, their reactions, their own evaluations, and also on the opinions and reactions of parents. I should say immediately that although the youngsters were enthusiastic as has been specified, especially by Diane Watson, the parents were slightly more so. In the evaluation instruments we gave to both, we found the grading slightly higher by parents than by youngsters, which is very reassuring. Also we relied on evaluations by supervisors with whom the youngsters worked as hospital personnel. So opinion was collected on structured forms of one kind or another which we developed for the purpose. In addition, we used the free responses of the youngsters involved, letting them say what they had to say outside of any structured kind of form.

Whenever we could, we also used tests that had been previously developed, such as a standardized objective test of vocational maturity or health information, and we developed some tests ourselves to get information which was not collected through the use of standardized tests. And then we would have to use the cumulative files, the academic records of the youngsters in the several schools, to find out what their grade point averages were at the beginning and at the end, to find out who dropped out, who transferred, what the attendance was, etc.

From several sources we attempted to collect data that would be related to the objectives of the program so we would be able to see if the output was related to what we had expected when we determined the objectives. I can't possibly go into all of the findings, but you can see them in a volume called The UCLA's Secondary Schools Pilot and Demonstration Project for an Introduction to Allied Health Careers, which is a summary evaluative report for 1972-73.

In the evaluation of the nine performance oblectives/that I enumerated, we found that on a scale of "none," "little," "quite a bit," and "much" all of the objectives were rated by parents, youngsters, and supervisors as having been achieved at a level of "quite a bit" which is the next to the highest rating possible. The one performance in which they made the greatest growth in the course of their being in the project was in the ability to explain steps necessary to enter an allied health job, and, for another, in the ability to make a wise vocational choice. By the end of the first year of the project, we found that almost 80 percent of the youngsters could match occupational titles with descriptions of job functions, which is something, of course, they could not do before they started. Sixty-four percent could demonstrate an understanding of the career ladder, 46 percent could identify occupational clusters. We found that in the having or gaining of health information, these youngsters

an the

mpared very favorably with other youngsters who had taken the regular health science course in these various schools. In fact, on the health behavior inventory, the project youngsters scored 16 points higher. In this practical approach to real problems of health, they actually learned more health knowledge and got more health information as measured on a standardized test. We used as our control group 100 youngsters who ware not admitted to the program merely because there were not enough openings but who had other characteristics that matched those who were chosen. So we watched both groups of 100-the 100 who were admitted and the 100 who were like them but not admitted-and then compared them in various ways. We also found that on the vocational maturity test (the John Crites vocational inventory, a standardized test), the youngsters in the program grew significantly more, statistically, than did those who were in the control group. So vocational maturity is one of the goals' that is achieved-the increasing of vocational maturity as a result of this program.

Hospital supervisors' ratings of seven behavioral characteristics of students during phase two-the second year of the program-indicated that between the end of the first semester and the end of that year, students had improved in each one of the characteristics 'The behavioral characteristics of students which were rated lowest by the hospital supervisors during phase two were attendance and dependability. I think the nature of the group would tend to account for this Behavioral charácteristics for the students which rated highest; i.e., above average or high average, by hospital supervisors during that second year were these: relations with others, appearance, and job competence. These characteristics improved so much that these youngsters were employable by the time they had completed even their second year of the program and surely by the time they had completed the third.

As for the grade point averages of the students

who participated in the program as compared\* with the 100 who did not participate but who were just like them in as many ways as we could determine, the grade point averages were not very different. But over the two-year period, this is what happened. The youngsters in the program during the two years had their grade point average increase from 2.4 to 2.5. Now when you can go from grade nine to grade 11 and increase your grade point average even by a tenth of a grade' point, "that's not bad, because the tendency on the part of the particular group we were serving was to drop out or to drop off or to coast un- >> til they did drop out. But there was actually an increase. So I think the increase is more signifi-: cant than one tenth of a grade point would indicate. The youngsters who were not in the program, the control group, had a slight drop from 2.5 in 1970 to 2.3 in 1972. They dropped two tenths of a grade point. So the one tended to increase and the other tended to decrease over that two-year period.

A little more dramatic is this next finding. The percentage of students in the program who, dropped out of school during the first two years of the project was only 2.6 percent and the percentage of the control group who dropped was 8.9 percent. However, we ran into a problem when we tried to determine the percentage of students in the program who transferred to another school district during the first two years. When a youngster left school, there was a hesitancy to say he dropped out; there was a preference to say he moved elsewhere, i.e., he transferred. And often it was difficult to know what had happened to him, but he wasn't there. So we were strongly suspicious that many of the transferred were; in reality, drops. Anyway, we found that the youngsters in the program who "transferred" to another school during the first two years was 16 percent and the percentage of students in the control group who transferred to another school during the same period was 34 percent. So if you add these figures to the dropout figures, you find that 19 percent of the students in the project either.

dropped out or transferred and 44 percent of the youngsters who were not in the program either transferred or dropped out.

I would like to conclude with some quotations by the youngsters themselves who went through the program. This first one is from a oungster who really was affected by her experience. She said, "I'm working in the Intercommunity Education Children's Home-and I've found it to be very rewarding and a beautitul experience. Probably I am learning just as much as the children. I have learned to love other people who are like me and have become more responsible for myself and others around me. I have learned understanding and compassion for retarded children. Many times I reach out to them as much as they do to me. No words can explain the fulfillment and joy that comes from seeing these children learn; to watch the children get off the bus and run to you and hug you and kiss you is pure love For a child to trust you and to believe in you and to return your love is fantastic. To be a part of this and to learn how to cope with and handle these children is an unbelievable experience for me." This is a youngster in high school speaking. Isn't it great?

Many parents said that their children blossomed out as a result of being in this program, and that, for the first time, they talked about school, they talked about life, and they even began to respect their parents a little bit as people, who might be interesting, worth knowing, and with whom they might have a comradeship and an affectionate relationship.

Here is what another youngster said. "My experience in the hospital is helping me to have more confidence in myself. As far as my goals are concerned, it has helped me a great deal-especially with my personality, grooming, working with others and learning to keep some things to myself."

Another student said, "I have a clearer picture of what it is like in the vocational field I have chosen. My job now has helped me to make up my mind as to whether or not I really want to pursue this field. It has also given me an idea as to what other jobs similar to the one L chose would be like."

At the end of the whole three-year experience, we had a collective conference. Some of the quotations that came from the conference follow. One person said, "The program has meant a great deal to me. It has provided summer employment so I wouldn't have to run the streets during the summer. But most of all it has opened up what working in a hospital is all about. It has helped me a lot. I now have a job at a hospital during the week and Saturday developing X-rays, and someday I hope to become an X-ray technician. I hope that the program continues so that it can help others, too."

And another one said, "The allied health program has been a big help to me. I have gained the necessary experience I will need to enter the profession I have chosen. It has exposed me to the different vocations available in the medical field and in hospitals in general which enabled me to decide on my occupational objectives. Allied health has also helped me in my home. I learned a lot about symptoms for different illnesses which enabled me to take care of myself and family."

One last quotation. "While working in this project, I discovered the importance of having a good job. I also found that having my own money to spend helped me a great deal. I hope this program will continue, and I feel that students that go into it should go into it with their minds set on succeeding, not jiving."

These are just a few of the highlights of the evaluation. I hope that you might be inspired to look at the rest of it properly but partie cularly to look at the program guide, the teacher's manuals, and the other volumes to which I have referred. I think those manuals are probably among the most important developments of the entire program.

62 O

# recommendations

 $\langle \langle$ 

80



## **TEACHER SELECTION CRITERIA**

Recommendations

- 1 Teachers should be selected on the basis of some predictor of success as a teacher: how well do the students or graduates perform in the role for which the teacher is preparing them?
  - Be aware of results of research on teacher effectiveness. Is the person open minded? Does he seek new challenges? Is he aware of current trends? Does he have in-depth knowledge of his own field? Is he able to utilize evaluation techniques effectively?
- 3 Identify the local constraints and policies effecting teacher selection.
- Develop and make explicit the assumptions which underlie the operations of a specified health occupations program. For example, work experience as a deliverer of health care combined with educational preparation constitutes sufficient background for teaching, is an assumption which will influence the selection of teachers.
- 5 Consider attributes desired which are not necessarily learned in a formal program, i.e., attributes which are learned through a lifetime of living. What must the person bring with him to the teaching position?

-8

#### GROUP DISCUSSION LEADER: Mary Elizabeth Milliken, Ed.D.

We might start by admitting that in many situations where a teacher is being sought for a position, selection really does not take place at all. The individual is employed on the basis of availability—that is pretty much the only criterion And yet we would all recognize that this is not the way it should be; teachers should be selected on the basis of some predictor of success as a teacher.

Let us deal with the ultimate criterion of effective teaching: how a teacher's students or graduates perform at some future date in the role for which that teacher presumably was preparing them. Now, you may say that is a whole lot different from selecting the teacher and we should proceed on some other basis. But I would like to suggest that the criteria related to teacher selection can be found by examining the performances of graduates of programs which manifested differing characteristics; or that, even if we cannot derive specific criteria, we at least should keep in mind that what we are really concerned with is how well the graduates of this teacher's program will function according to the purpose of the program.

I frequently see manifestations of indifference or lack of awareness of this ultimate criterion. For example, a teacher in the practical nursing program recently said to me, "I want you to know that over 50 percent of our graduates have gone on to professional nursing schools." And she stood there waiting for me to praise this accomplishment. It shook her up a bit when I said, "Is the mission of your practical nursing program to recruit students for professional nursing programs? Did they spend a year in your program to get ready to go on to professional nursing programs?" She sputtered for a few minutes and I continued, "You know, I would rather hear you talk about how many of your graduates have accepted positions, as practical nurses, have participated in continuing education programs to extend their competencies as practical nurses, and are actually delivering those health services which we classify as functions of practical nurses. If this is not the way your graduates are performing, something is wrong with your program. Ormaybe it isn't your program that is out of kilter; perhaps it is your selection procedures."

As we explored their selection procedures, it turned out that they did give a pre-selection test which yielded an IQ score, and they were accepting no one with an IQ of less than 110. I would say this person is not functioning effectively as a teacher of practical nurses. She really ought to be on the faculty of a professional nursing program because of her own values.

There are many articles being published about effective teaching and much of what is being printed is based on sound research. We are finally beginning to come to grips with what differentiates effective teaching from ineffective teaching. As you examine the results of such research, you will again identify some criteria that can be used to select a teacher.

About eighteen months ago 1 heard a statement concerning a person who is very well known in allied health and also in teacher education, who said that a particular test could absolutely select those who could teach. Now, this worries me because this was a person in a leadership position, but her statement tells me that she does not understand the standarized test or how to use it. It also tells me that she does not understand the importance of professional judgments which take into account many variables rather than a single variable. Please, whatever criteria you establish,



do not select a standardized test and say, "This will make my decision for me." That is a total cop-out on this matter of selecting teachers according to some explicit criteria.

When selecting teachers for health occupations, we are asking someone to give up practicing as a health practitioner and assume the functions of a teacher. This person is apt to relate to what has previously been his area of practice as a teaching field in which to prepare others to function as practitioners. And when you ask a health professional to make this career change-a major change in his or her own career development path-you are really asking him to do something that is going to be a traumatic experience for the first year with many of them not even surviving that first year and going back to health practice after deciding that they cannot adapt to the constraints of the educational system.

To help prevent such disenchantment with teaching, selection criteria should be employed. Identify the local constraints and policies effecting teacher selection. Determine the level of the program in which the teacher will function. Will he be teaching in a middle school career-oriented program, a high school program combining career components and job skills, or a post secondary program? Are the learners disadvantaged, middle class, or minorities? Is the program self-paced or is a rigid curriculum to be followed? Is teacher creativity encouraged or discouraged? The answers to these questions will aid in selecting teachers who have greater potential for success.

I would like to suggest one approach which is a skull-cracking kind of experience, it is slow and developmental, but it does lead to the ability to make explicit some criteria you could use in your situation to select teachers. Of course, when we talk about teachers of health occupations education, we are talking about people who must conform to societal institutions, for the health field is a major societal in-, stitution.

The approach that will permit deriving some specific criteria appropriate to your local situation is to develop and make explicit the assumptions which underlie the operations of your health occupations program. I have pulled a number of assumptions from a publication which is now in press in which an entire chapter is devoted to assumptions. An assumption, as I am using it here, can be either a statement of fact, an hypothesis, or any statement of a belief or commitment. If it is a statement of fact, it can be documented with evidence to support it. If it is an hypothesis, it is thought to be true and is something that can be tested to determine its validity. If it is a statement of belief, it is recognized as a personal thing and there would be those who would accept it and those whe would not.

Many school people assume that any creden tialled health practitioner has an adequate grasp of his particular field and thus can teach it. If you accept this assumption, then credentialling as a health person is one of the criteria you would use in selecting a teacher. If you reject this assumption, then, of course, that would mean a different criterion should be selected. Those of you who are vocational educators will immediately recognize this assumption as a basic tenet of vocational education—that both educational preparation and work experience should enter into the preparation of an individual for teaching in an occupational program.

This particular assumption, whether it is explicit or not, is used for selection of teachers in vocational education. I would suggest that at the ptofessional level, this criterion is violated frequently. Often, a brand new graduate of a program is put on the faculty as a new teacher. without ever testing and validating the content



of that preparatory program in the real world of work. I feel that work experience as a deliverer of health services, combined with preparation as a health educator, constitutes sufficient background for teaching.

There are numerous other assumptions which can be explored As you put down on paper some thoughts you have about health occupations education, examine them and say, "Well, do we or do we not believe this?" From this basic assumption underlying the program, you can derive those criteria which will help you select a teacher. Ultimately, the questions must be. What should the person bring to the teaching position initially? What should the person possess as personal attributes and as results of past experiences? What should we consider that the teacher education program will help this person develop? If you are going to provide pre-service education your criteria, you must consider that might be gained by the individual through the pre-service program. If there is no pre-service program, then you are going to look for these capabilities to be present already in the person applying for the position.

## CONTENT FOR THE' HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION BASIC TEACHING DEGREE

#### Recommendations

1 Determine the competencies and abilities needed to teach successfully, and provide information and practice to develop these competencies and abilities to a level of mastery.

Determine the selection criteria for people who will be admitted to the teaching degree process.

a. What is their potential?

b. What are your constraints, i.e., time, resources, and audio-

visual åids available; how motivated people are; etc.?

- c. What characteristics are desirable in teachers?
- The content of a teacher education program should focus on process, i.e., methods as opposed to subject matter.
  - a. Provide basic courses in methods of writing and utilizing meaningful, measurable objectives.
  - b. Provide training in evaluation techniques and procedures to include the proper uses of evaluation.
  - c. Provide leadership and problem-solving training.
  - d. Provide training in int<u>er-personal</u> relationships.

Upgrade the status and recognition of persons in Health Occupations Education

a. Allow individuals to do self-evaluations of their own strengths and weaknesses.

Assist in Evaluating the situations in which they may provide leadership in their particular roles.

Allow the freedom to develop a style of operations that is consistent with their own characteristics and with reference to their work.

- 5 Persons who complete the required training should be given a degree title consistent with their actual job, e.g., Allied Health Education Administration or Allied Health Teacher Preparation.
- 6 Maintain continuing education to keep teachers informed of current trends and new developments.
  - a. Provide mini-course, in-service programs for specific problem areas in lieu of some university-based education courses.

b. Allow credit for recent documented employment experi-. ence.

### GROUP DISCUSSION LEADER: Robert M Tomlinson, Ph D

When discussing the health occupations education teaching degree, it is necessary to define the role of health care personnel based on developed task analyses in order to more clearly define the role of the teacher of these health care personnel. We must also determine whether we want an administrator, a teacher educator, or a teacher preparing practitioners in a specialty field Each of these roles requires a different set of competencies and a different set of activities, so it is important to determine the competencies and performances expected of the individual receiving the training.

There is also selection criteria to be dealt with. Selection criteria focuses on wholes going to. enter the process, what you are going to be able to do with them, and what your constraints are, e.g., how much time you will have, how many resources, what type of people, what kind of motivation, and what audiovisual aids are available. It helps to define who the individual is and what characteristics he should possess. Certainly, the best you can do is such that in some future time of decision, the person who completes the process will make a better quality decision under a certain set of circumstances than they would have made had you not had contact with them in this process.

You cannot give a lot of rules for making decisions because there is no way anyone can remember all those rules. Situations come up too fast and the person has to be able to select the solution that best suits each situation. It has to be something that is a part of the individual. Essentially that means they are going to make decisions on the basis of principles and generalizations, which takes you right back to the basic philosophies that must become a part of each person. Within the overall structure, too often we think of content as an organized body of. knowledge. The most important content in a health practitioner preparation program or in a teacher education program, whether it be for health or another area, is process as content. That really means that you teach more of *how* to do things. We can teach all the rules and content of psychology, for example, but that does not mean the student can actually help someone solve his problems.

We recently had a workshop on the problemsolving approach, i.e., how you get people to have that approach as a part of their way of doing things and how this could be integrated and utilized throughout a curriculum. At the end of two days, one person sitting in the back row said; "OK, you have finally convinced me that problem solving is a competency; it is a unit we should have in our curriculum. Now, should that course in problem solving come before or after?" Obviously, he had not heard what we really said.

People in the health field have to think of their fellow workers as people. Do you choose the word "we" or "they" when you refer to some group? So many times health practitioners come to me with all the principles of the integrity of the individual, their rights to privacy; rights to respect, and rights to be treated as an individual. They apply that more or less to their own role and totally violate it in the way they choose their words in referring to "that stupid aide," "a monkey could do that job," and they take away all the dignity and respect by the way they speak.

The role of sociological structuring is important in asking a practitioner to become a teacher and give up all the status and security

Along this line there is the distinction between leadership capabilities and someone in a leadership position in an organizational structure. They are totally independent concepts. Hopefully, the person you have as supervisor or administrator also has leadership ability. But they don't necessarily, because an administrative role takes its power and authority from the organization. Leadership is the influence a person can exert on a group in helping that group meet some need that it has. An individual teacher can do this, and heroften has to in this field where we deal with small groups and inter-personal relationships.

We can give some of the status, recognition, and relationships to individuals by getting these kinds of concepts across and letting them do some self-evaluations of their own strengths and weaknesses. We should also provide some assistance in evaluating the situations in which they may provide leadership in their particular role so that they can have a style of operations that is consistent with their own characteristics and with reference to their work. In addition, they should be given a degree title which states clearly the actual job they will be doing. Rather than simply receiving a teaching credential, they can gain status in knowing that their degree title, accurately reflects the function they perform, e.g., Allied Health Teacher Preparation.

After initial certification requirements have been met, there should be provisions for continuing education for health occupations education teachers. This education could consist of in-service workshops, university courses, or mini-courses offered on specific topics in lieu of some university courses.

These are all considerations with which we must be concerned in determining the content for the Health Occupations Education basic teaching degree.

## PREPARATION FOR LEADERSHIP ROLES, IN HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION

Recommendations

- 1 Leaders in health occupations education should possess specific skills, knowledge, and abilities directly related to health care and the principles of vocational-technical education.
- Leadership training and teacher education personnel should work together in identifying and developing potential leaders in health occupations education.
- 3 People who possess some of the basic leadership characteristics should be encouraged to develop all of the skills and competencies needed to be effective leaders.
  - The experiences offered potential leaders should be purposely planned, meaningful, and challenging.
- Accept and utilize all the competencies of potential leaders that have been gained from all sources, e.g., occupational experience, alliance with professional organizations, participation in workshops, etc.

#### GROUP DISCUSSION LEADER: Elizabeth E Kerr, Ed D

I would like to share with you those characteristics that I believe to be basic to effective leadership in general. These characteristics include fairness, objectivity, honesty, sincerity, forthrightness, the ability to effect positive inter-personal relationships and attempt to bring out the best in people, the ability to work with groups of people having either common or diverse interests or goals, strength of convictions and preparedness to justify one's position yet have the ability to compromise or even yield if-necessary and appropriate, the ability to recognize and learn from mistakes, the ability and readiness to speak before groups, the ability to be creative and innovative-to develop a climate conducive to enabling people to further develop and use their expertise, and the willingness and abilityto delegate responsibility and accept and fulfill. the role, as a change agent. And I have added one more-effective leaders must possess selfconfidence. There are others, I am sure, that you could think of, but those, are the basic things I wanted to share with you for leadership in any field.

Let us look for a moment at additional characteristics that are needed for effective leadership in health occupations education. A leader in this field must be familiar with the total educational system and the role of vocational education within it; have a commitment to the philosophy and goals of vocational and tech-s nical education; where required or appropriate, have achieved competence in a health profession and all the necessary credentials as required by that profession or group; be somewhat familiar with various health professions, possess skills in curriculum development, in-4 structional processes, and counselling; identify and work with health professional associations and agencies which set standards for educa-tional professionalism; be alert to community

health care needs, and identify and use community resources to help meet these needs; be familiar with the needs of and the current and new developments in the health care delivery system, be familiar with existing and potential state and national legislation that effects or has implications for the field of education in general, vocational education, and government. And I would add another characteristic—the ability to prepare and administer budgets.

As we look at these basic characteristics of leadership that are needed, we find ourselves asking, "How are they gained?" I think too often we assume that the development of these basic personal characteristics or the attainment "of these competencies can be gained only at the graduate level of education. If we look at the experiences that contribute to our whole self as a person, I think we would have to recognize them as having an input, too. We would have to look at our common educational experiences, our church activities, our social experiences, employment situations, community activities, professional associations, continuing education, and military service. There are many, many settings in which you can gain these characteristics and competencies. Therefore, I believe it is imperative to recognize that these kinds of attributes can be gained in a variety of settings and that we do not nequire re-learning or going through hoops a second time merely to meet requirements of a specific curriculum. Hopefully, we are gaining in this area, but I think we still have a long way to go in accepting those competencies achieved in settings other than educational institutions:

If we look for the sources of leadership com-" petencies, then we must also look at the roles different people or groups play. First, we should look at the role of the learner. It is important that the learner be interested, motivated, and challenged. It is our role, as I see it, to help this individual become motivated and challenged in the right directions. Then there is the role of the educational institution which plays an informal part, through workshops, seminars, and conferences made available to people seeking these kinds of competencies.

The experiences offered, whether they be by an educational institution, a health protessional, an employment agency, or whatever, need to be purposely planned, meaningful, and challenging so that the diseases threatening the vitality of leadership can be prevented.

Let me tell you what some of these diseases are. There is feverish nearsightedness, novaphobia (the illogical fear of the new), antiquaphobia (the illogical fear of the old), cerebralattacknia (the inability to get the wheels going), marrowmalasia (the softening of nerves or lack of backbone), hydroaesthesia (decreased sensibility), and hyperaesthesia (excessive sensibility). These are the kinds of things we have to prevent if we are to have strong leadership in the field. I want to give you an example of what I am talking about. Ida Kent came to us in our area with our first program in dental assisting. She had no education beyond high school, but she had had experience working in a dental office She came to us with many of the attributes, I háve been talking about which had been gained outside of formal education. She set up our first dental assisting program in the state and she also helped others get started. We now have seven such programs. Ms. Kent is very active nationally and holds a national office in service and consulting. She will soon be finishing her baccalaureate degree, but without her help we would not have gotten ourprogram going as effectively as we did. By the same token, we have a person on campus who has a Ph.D. in higher education and if we let him he will be an obstruction to what we want to do..

What I am saying is that leadership ability is not all gained from higher education. It is derived from our daily experiences throughout our lives, and we should be willing to overlook the lack of formal education in persons who have attained the basic leadership characteristics and competencies through personal experiences.

## CERTIFICATION STANDARDS FOR PERSONNEL IN HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION

Recommendations

3

1. Consideration should be given to an applicant's work experience when determining his qualifications.

Certification standards should include a professional education component which consists of a general education or liberal arts component when certification is obtained in conjunction with a university degree, i.e., degree requirements.

Certification standards should include a minimum of preparation in a health specialty to assure in-depth knowledge of the health care delivery system,

Certification requirements should be made flexible to accommodate individual differences in background, preparation, and needs.

Certification programs should be offered at a variety of institutions to include community colleges, intermediate and unified school district education programs, and the Department of Public Instruction.

Provisions should be made for continuing certification to include further course work beyond the initial certification; attendance at professional meetings, workshops, and in-service seminars; and work experience.

Teachers and future teachers should be surveyed to maintain a current assessment of their needs in relation to certification requirements.

### GROUP DISCUSSION LEADER: Chester S Rzonca, Ph D

What should the certification program for personnel in health occupations education contain? There should be a work experience component, approfessional education component, and, in terms of relating this to a university degree (if that is desired, though it is not essential), you need a general education or liberal arts component. It has also been found helpful for the allied health teacher to have a health specialty preparation. Lastly, perhaps one of the conditions ought to be that people are not excluded because of certification requirements without looking at some of the experiences they have had in the past.

A factor that needs to be considered when looking at certification for health occupations education is the inflexibility of current certification requirements. Typically, requirements are spelled out as a certain number of courses that all people have to take. They are the same for everyone regardless of previous background even if the person has taught for several years or has experience as an in-service director in a hospital In our quest to provide a uniform standard, we try to enforce a specific type of levy whether it be degree related or not Certification requirements for health occupations education should be more flexible.

We tend to make some assumptions based on current certification programs. One assumption is that the universities are primarily responsible for providing the educational certification component. However, intermediate school districts, community colleges, and the Department of Public Instruction provide the means for limiting the role of the university in. terms of being the save-all for certification requirements. The role is an important one in terms of the amount of people that need basic certification services, but we need to look to other levels of education to provide these services.

One of the things that we fail to consider in certification is the difference between initial certification and continuing certification. Certification brings people up to a certain level. After that, there ought to be some way for people to maintain that certificate. Our current procedure is to bring them up to a specified level through education courses and then maintain that certificate through additional education courses. Actually, coursework is only one of the ways to maintain an education certificate. Professional meetings conducted by professional associations also should help people maintain their certificate. While work experience is important for an entry level credential, it is also important in maintaining a credential over a period of years. Additionally, in terms of continuing certification, we have neglected the role of peers and administrators in determining how good a job the people do.

Another factor that is neglected is the role of the teacher in terms of how certification, requirements are established. Have you ever talked to people when they got through with a university program? They are not concerned with how the certification programs were established, their first question concerns how they are going to meet the requirements for the credential. We should talk to these people to determine what their needs are and what kinds of things they feel they should have in order to function in the classropm.



ERIC

## FINAL EVALUATION OF THE HEALTH OCCUPATIONS EDUCATION CONFERENCE

The main objectives of the Health Occupations Education (HOE) conference were twofold: (1) To familiarize HOE personnel with the materials produced by the Allied Health Profes-. sions Project (AHPP) at the University of California, Los Angeles, and to assist personnel in achieving a level of mastery in their use; (2) To disseminate nationwide the AHPP materials through conference, participants. These HOE conference goals were achieved as described in the following paragraphs.

In order to ascertain the effectiveness of the HOE conference, an evaluation was conducted six months later by means of a survey questionnaire sent to all participants; 65 percent of the conferees responded. Of these respondents, 71 percent felt that the objectives were adequately met. There was sufficient time allowed to familiarize everyone with the AHPP materials and, in turn, each participant could subsequently instruct others.

AHPP materials were disseminated by all participants responding to the survey: A conference was the most popular method, used by 43 percent of the respondents. Twenty-five percent used workshops to disseminate the materials, and nine percent conducted seminary. Individuals also <u>utilized faculty meetings</u>, supervisory and consultant visits, personal conversations and discussions, and inservice training. In addition, the materials have benefitted respondents by serving as a resource for curriculum development, révision of occupational task requirements, and writing objectives. Several participants have displayed them at conferences. Others are using the materials to initiate changes, as a guide for determining levels of competency, as a counseling tool, and as background for research. The materials have been modified where necessary to meet the needs of the specific programs.

For many participants, the most useful aspect of the conference was the interaction with other professionals in HOE and the oppor-

.<sub>85</sub> 95

tunities provided to exchange ideas, information, and perspectives. The second most useful aspect concerned the UCLA AHPP and the materials produced by the project. Participants approved of the imme allowed to study the displays and were particularly grateful\_ for the descriptions of their use. Specific comments focused on the secondary Schools Program and on the concepts of core. curriculum and career mobility. Also ranking high in usefulness were the group discussions and the fact that a good exchange of ideas was possible.

<u>Some</u> of the ladditional remarks made by conference participants are stated below.

"The concept involved is not difficult but the implementation is. How about some follow-up conferences and materials?"

"The information generated from one of the group sessions has facilitated the approval of the position of State Supervisor in HOE in South Dakota. This one outcome made the entire conference worthwhile."

"Our teachers' are happy to see materials of such quality at prices they can afford."

"The outcome, I feel, was that the government wants leadership in health decisions. It is up to us to provide that leadership."

Based on the survey questionnaire, the HOE conference achieved its objectives. Nearly three-quarters of the respondents indicated adequate familiarization with the AHPP materials and sufficient mastery of their content to enable instruction of others. Dissemination of the materials by conferees has been widespread and varied, indicating a national impact of tremendous scope.



## CONFERENCE STAFF

ABBOTT, Ellen M Director, Health Occupations Education Grossmont School District Vocational Nursing School 5345 Timken Street La Mesa, Calitornia 92041 ALLEN, David Associate Director Division of Vocational Education University of California, Los Angeles 1003 Wilshire Boulevard Santa Monica, California 90401 213/825-7909

ANDERSON, Miles H Director Allied Health Professions Research and Instructional Projects Division of Vocational Education 1003 Wilshire Boulevard Santa Monica, California 90401 213/825-2608

BARLOW, Melvin L. Director Division of Vocational Education University of California, Los, Angeles 123\*Moore Hall Los Angeles, California 90024

213/825-1838

BREKKE, Donald G. Director, South Dakota Regional Medical Program State Department of Health 216 East Clark Vermillion, South Dakota 57069 605/624-4446

BURKETT, Lowell A. Executive Director, American Vocational Association 1510 H Street, NW Washington, District of Columbia 20005 202/737-3722

FIELSTRA, Clarence Professor of Education Graduate School of Education University of California, 🕻 Los Angeles 347 Moore Hall Los Angeles, California 90024-213/825-8360 FREELAND, Thomas L Dcan, School of Health Related Professions University of Mississippi Medical Center 2500 North State Street Jackson, Mississippi 39216 601/362-4411 GOFF, Nancy J. Administrative<sup>®</sup> Assistant Division of Vocational Education University of California, Los Angeles 123 Moore, Hall Los Angeles, California 90024 213/825-1838 KERR, Elizabeth E. Director, Program in Health Occupations Education The University of Iowa 135 Melrose Avenue Iowa City, Iowa 52242 319/353-3536 MILLIKEN, Mary Elizabeth Coordinator, Health Occupations Teacher Education Program University of Georgia College of Education Division of Vocational Education 603 Atherhold Hall Athens, Georgia 30601 404/542-3891 PHILLIPS, CHARLES L Conference Assistant . Division of Vocational Education <sup>7</sup> University of California Los Angeles 123 Moore Hall Los Angeles, California 90024

、 87 213/825-1732

POWERS, Helen K. Consultant, Health Occupations Education U.S. Office of Education (Retired) 1989 Tahoe Drive Xenia, Ohio 45385

RZONCA, Chester S. Assistant Professor Health Occupations Education MARA Building 135 Melrose Avenue Iowa City, Iowa 52240 319/353-3536

TOMLINSON, Robert M. Professor of Vocational Education University of Illinois at Urbana— Champaign College of Education Department of Vocational and Technical Education Urbana, Illinois 61801 217/333-0807 TUTTLE, Francis B. State Director Oklahoma State Department of Vocational and Technical Education 1515 West 6th Avenue Stillwater, Oklahoma 74074 405/377-2000

WATSON, Diane E. ... Consultant Los Angeles City Schools 5331 Harcourt Avenue, Los Angeles, California 90043

213/291-1250

WOOD, Lucile A. 7 Director of Nursing Services Bay Area Hospital 1775 Thompson Road Coos Bay, Oregon 98420 503/269-5951

### PUBLISHERS

BENSON, Ronald W. J. B. Lippincott Company 3762 Arbolada Road Los Angeles, California 90027 213/666-7482

DEWEY, Buck A., Ir. W. B. Saunders Company Publishers West Washington Square Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19105 215/574-4902

JOURARD, Julian H. Holt, Rinehart, and Winston, Incorporated 5643 Paradise Drive Corte Madera, California 94925 415/924-9640

# CONFERENCE PARTICIPANTS

ANJRIM, Bobbie	
Instructor in Medical Office	, BERGMAN, William H.
Administrative Procedures	Associate Director, Business
2644 NIM AGAL CARE	Research <sup>7</sup> Bureau
2644 NW 46th Street	209 N. Yale Street
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73112	Vermillion, South Dakota 57069
405/271-6422	
	BIRCHENALL, Joan M. 🕴 🎽
BARNES, Dorothy G.	Director, Health Occupations Education
<ul> <li>Trade &amp; Industrial Instructor</li> </ul>	Department of Education
1530 South Grand Boulevard	Division of Vocational Education
St. Louis, Missouri 63104	225 West State Street
314/664-1111	Trenton, New Jersey 08625
	609/292-6592
BARTHOLOMEW, James E:	0091292-0392
State Supervisor of Health	
Occupations	BLOUNT, AI C.
65 South Eront Street, Room 610	Chief Consultant, Health Occupations
Columbus, Ohio 43215	_Education
"•614)466-2901	17 Yucca Drive
014/408-2901	Austin, Texas 78744
DADTONI Change I	s
BARTON, Sharon J.	BOETTNER, Marianne
Director, Department of Dehtal	Supervisor of Health Occupations
Hygiene	Education
College of Dentistry	Colorado State Board for Community
" The University of Oklahoma	College and Occupational Education
644 NE 14th	207 State Services Building
`Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73190	Deriver Colorado 80202
271-4435	Denver, Colorado 80203
	303/892-3162
BELK, Lyle V.	
. Health Services Coordinator	BORTZ, Richard F.
North Dakota State University	Occupational Curriculum Designer
Department of Health	Southern Illinois University
Earge North Dallans (1990)	School of Engineering
Fargo, North Dakota 58102	Carbondale, Illinois 62901
701/237-8981	618/536-382
BENDER, Yvónne	BRADLEY, John L.
Assistant State Supervisor,	Research Assistant
Health Occupations, Education	Southern Illinois University
State Department of Vocational	127-1 Southern Hills
Technical Education	Carbondale, Illinois 62901
4100 Lincoln Boulevard	618/536-2381
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 7.3105	
405/521-3309	PRADEWANN FL
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	BRADSHAW, Florence
BERG, John C	Practical: Nurse Instructor
	522- 18th Street West
Assistant Professor, St. Louis	Billings, Montana 59102
Junior College District	406/252-8449
958 Hàlray Drive	
Norman, Oklahoma 73069	•

BRENTLINGER, Clara E. Assistant Professor, Health Sciences and Nursing East Central State College 1100 East 18th, No. 213 Ada, Oklahoma 74820. 405/332-8000, X-3116/ CLEVENGER, Margriet R. State Supervisor, Health Accupations Nevada State Department of Education Carson City, Nevada 89701 ·702/882-73X1 •CREBO, Barbara B. Supervisor, Health Occupations **.** Education Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction State Capitol Helena, Montana 59601 406/449-2087 CRICK, Pauline S. Regional Supervisor, Health Occupations Education-207 Yeast Main Street Murfreesboro, Tennessee 37130 615/896-1853 DE AMICIS, Anna C. State Supervisor, Health Occupations Education 6312 Chesworth Road Catonville, Maryland 21228 301/796-8300, X-408 DENHAM, 'Harriet' R. Supervisor, Practical Arts Unit, Health and Personnel Service Occupations 2109 Capital Plaza Tower Frankfort, Kentucky 40601 502/564-3775 DE STEFANO, Peter-Instructor, Health Education Lab 7331 Ticonderoga Place 🔒 Anchorage, Alaska 99502 DILTS, Ruth I. Director New Mexico Board of Nursing 505 Marguette NW. Albuquerque, New Mexico 87102 505/842-3026

DONNELLY, Jeán W. Instructor, Health Occupations Howard Vocational-Technical Center Ellicott City, 'Howard County, Maryland 21043 ERDOISA, Gigi L.\* Instructor-Coordinator, Health **Occupations** Education 1300 Kimberly Road Twin Falls, Idaho 83301 208/733-9554, X-294 GILDSETH, Wayne M: Associate Director South Dakota Core Curriculum Project 216 East Clark. Vermillion, South Dakota 57065 605/624-4446 GILLESPIE, Wilma B. Professor of Nursing/Vice/President Health Occupations Education, American Vocational Association Brevard Community College Cocoa, Florida 32922 305/692-1111 GLOVER, Bohita M. Instructor, Medical Office Assistant 3420 South Memorial Tulsa, Oklahoma 74145 918/627-4955 GRIFFITH, James D. Health Occupations Instructor San Diego City<sup>3</sup> Schools Health Occupation Program 4100 Normal Street, Room 2 09` San Diego, California 92103 714/298-Á681, X-443° HALL/ Sue D. Department Chairman, Allied Health 20/ Dawn Allan Drive irants Pass, Oregon 97526 03/479-1322 HAMER, Clyde C. Assistant State Supervisor, Health Occupations Education State Department of Vocational-4100 Lincoln Boulevard Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73105 405/521-3305

/00 ‱ ≫ HARRISON, Nancy D. Coordinator, School of Practical Nursing Box H Wayne, Oklahoma 73095 405/449-3391

HATFIELD, Gladys E. Health Occupations Department Chairman \*4389 Satter Drive NE Salem, Oregon 97303 503/585-7900

HILL, Joy E. Associate Curriculum Specialist, Health Occupations Room 151, Taylor Education Building University of Kentucky Lexington, Kentucky 40502 606/258-2850 HOEKSEMA, Paul D. Coordinator, Allied Health

Teacher Education School of Education Fertis State College Big Rapids, Michigan 49307 616(796-9971, X-558

HUNIE, Mary Program Content Analysis, Health Occupations Indiana Vocational Technical College P.D. Box 1763 Indianapolis, Indiana 46206 317/297-3210

JAMISON, Patricia State Supervisor, Health Occupations Education State Department Vocational-Technical Education 4100 Lincoln Boulevard Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73105 405/521-3305

JOHNSON, Dora A. Program Specialist, Health Occupations Education \* University of Northern Colorado McKee 318 Greeley, Colorado 80639 351-2072

JUNGE, Catherine Consultant, Health Occupations Education Texas Education Agency Box 758 Denton, Texas 76201 KEELING, Linda Assistant Professor 4 Health Science Institute College of Education Texas Woman's University Denton, Texas 76201 817/382-4913 KRYGER, Lois K. Dental Training Advisor Division of Dentistry, BHRD 9000 Ro¢kville Pike Bethesda, Maryland 20014 301/496-3136 LANTZ, Patricia L. Director, Health, Home Economics and Human Services Clackamas Community College 19600 South Molalla Avenue Oregon City, Oregon 97045 503/656-2631, X-264 LARSON, Julie C. Consultant, Health Occupations Division of Vocational and Technical Education 1035 Outer Park Drive Springfield, Illinois 62706 217/525-4877 LOVE, David C.

Director of Radiological Sciences Board of Directors, Chairman New Jersey Council of Radiologic Technology Educators Director of Radiological Sciences Passaic County Community College Allied Health Center 170 Paterson Street Paterson, New Jersey 07505 201/279-5000, X-32

MAC -DONALD, Marcelline ), Nursing Instructor 16630 SW Wright Beaverton, Oregon 97005 • MACK, Fred D. Assistant Professor Southern Illinois University Education Office DPT Stop 229 Scott Air Force Base, Illinois 62225 618/256-3327

MACULIEWICZ, Judith Health Occupations Education Instructor Stevens High School Claremont, New Hampshire 03743 542-9562

MARCOM, Elbert M. Director, Health, Occupations, Education Texas Education Agency 201 East Eleventh Street Austin, Texas 78701 512/475-4796 or 475-2294

MASSEY, Eileen Ç. Coordinator—Medical Office Assistant Program Lane Community College 389 Brookside Drive Eugene, Oregon 97405 503/747-4501, X-266

MATTHEWS, Eloise Supervisor, Health Occupations Education 207 Cordelf Hull Building Division of Vocational-Technical Education Program Planning and Evaluation Nashville, Tennessee 37219

615/741-1931

Director, Governor's Commission to Study Nursing in Iowa Oakdale Campus The University of Iowa Iowa City, Iowa 57270 319/353-6967 MILLER, Ethel G. Curriculum Specialist, Health '

Occupations Broward County Schools 527 SW 10th Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33312 305/522-6387

MUCCIARONE, Joan M. Instructor, Health Occupations Atlantic Co. Vocational-Technical Surrogate Building Mays Landing, New Jersey 08330 609/345-0438 OKANO, Keijo G. 🧸 Director, Health Occupations, <sup>,</sup> Education · Department of Education Gapitol Building -Cheyenne, Wyoming 82002. 307/777-7411 . OVERSTREET, Leroy Director, Allied Health Education 100 North University Drive Central State University Edmond, Oklahoma 78034 405/341-2980 PATTISON, Joyce 🔨 Education Coordinator CLA School St. Vincent Infirmary Markham and University Little Rock, Arkansas 72205 501/661-3774 PETERS, H. Irene Consultant, Health Occupations Education : Division of Vocational-Technical Education 1105 Loudon Roade. Concord, New Hampshire 03301 603/271-2662 . PIERCE, William M. President-Owner 7201 Comanche Avenue - Oklaboma - City, - Oklahoma .70132. PITTMAN, Mildred M. Education Professions Development Act Awardee; student at Oklahoma State University. Route 4, Box 32 Choctaw, Oklahoma 73020 405/763-2736 PRANGE, Mary Associate Coordinator of Health Occupations Northeast Wisconsin Technical Institute 2740 West Mason Green Bay, Wisconsin 54302



RAYNOR, Nancy L. Chief Consultant of Health Occupations Education , 554 Education Building Raleigh, North Carolina 2761 × 919/829-7970

REDFORD, Teanette Associate Professor, Health Occupations Education Teacher Education School of Education University of Alabama Birmingham, Alabama 35486

RODRIGUEZ, Inga R. Director, Health Occupations Department of Education P O Box 759 Hato Rey, Euerto Rico 00919 765-9505

ROGERS, Helen V. Curriculum Specialist State Department of Vocational Technical Education Curriculum and Instructional Materials Center 1515 West 6 Stillwater, Oklahoma 74074

ROSENBARGER, Maxine Associate Professor, 'Occupational Education Technology Building Southern Illinois University Cardiondale, Illinois 62901 618/536-2381

RUFF, Rita M. Coordinator, Regional Operations Kansas Regional Medical Program 4125 Rainbow Kansas City, Kansas 66103

SANIOS, William F. Program Officer, United States Office of Education Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Region VI 1114 Commerce Street Dallas, Texas 75202 214/749-2341 or 749-2405

SAUNDERS, F. Glee Program Specialist United States Office of Education, Bureau of Adult Education / Room 5122 Regional Operations Bureau 3 Washington, District of Columbia 20202 202/245-9814 SCHLOMER, Camilla R. Consultant, Health Occupations Education Wisconsin Board of Vocational. Technical and Adult Education 4802 · Sheboygan Avenue' HFSOB Seventh Floor Madison, Wisconsin 53702 SEIBERT, Mary Lee Director, Bachelor of Science Program in Health Occupations Education Indiana University Medical Center Allied Health Building, Room 228 1100 West Michigan Street Indianapolis, Indiana 46202 317/264-8602 SHEPHERD, Norma A. Health Occupations' Instructor 4525 SW 165 Beaverton, Oregon 97005 SMITH, Betty Jean Supervisor, Health Occupations Education Department of Education B-237 1900 Washington Street, East Charleston, West Virginia 25311 304/348-2389 SMITH, Vivian B. Adjunct\_Associate Professor Allied Health Education N University of Oklahoma College of Health and Allied Health ) Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73190 STARRETT, Marcia R.

Director of Nurses
 Western Nevada Community College
 4815 Echo Avenue
 Reno, Nevada 89506
 702/972-0701

103.93

WALKER, Sandrá <sup>°</sup>K. TALKINGTON, Donna R. Research Assistant Health Occupations Director Southern Illinois University, Grants Pass High School School of Medicine 522 North East Ölive Route 1, Box 161 Grants Pass, Oregon 97526 Carbondale, Illinois 62901 503/479-9382 618/457-4882 WEISS, Susan •THOMAS, Marian Director of Information Association of Schools of "Allied -State<sup>\*</sup> Supervisor, Health Occupations Education Health Professions Division of Vocational Technical One Dupont Circle, NW, Suite 300 Education x Washington, District of Columbia State Department of Education 20036 Sinte Fe, New Mexico 87501 202/293-3422 THOMAS, Marilyn M. WILLIAMS, Romona P. Director of Nursing Education Health Career Coordinator Fort Scott Community Junior Jefferson High School 🔨 College • 2906 Spring Road 2108 South Horton . Roanoke, Virginia 24015 Fort Scott, Kansas 66701 · 703/774-6568 316/223-2700 WITTMAN, Karl THOMPKINS, Patricia A. Associate Supervisor Supervising Director, Health Bureau of Health Occupations+Education Occupations Education New York State Department of Education Division of Career Development 99 Washington Avenue Programs Albany, New York 12210 District of Columbia Public 518/474-1711 Schools 770 Kenyon Street NW WRIGHT, Robert E. Washington, District of Columbia Nursing Editor -20010 W: B. Saunders Company 202 291-3709 West Washington Square-Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19106 TRACY; /Keith Supervisor and Specialist, Health YOUNG, La Verne<sup>s</sup>M. Occupations Education Coordinator, Allied Health Occupations 1400 University Club Building Laramie County Community. College 136 East South Temple 1400 East College Drive Salt Lake City, Utah 84111 Chevenne, Wyoming 82001 . 801 328-8371 307/634-5853 ·